

UBC

Towards increasing fisheries' contribution to food security

Part II: The potentials of 25 fishing countries

12000

THE PEW CHARITABLE TRUSTS

Towards increasing fisheries' contribution to food security

Part 2: The potentials of 25 fishing countries

By

Kristin Kleisner, Marta Coll, Villy Christensen, Liza Boonzaier,

Ashley McCrea Strub, Dirk Zeller, and Daniel Pauly

A Report of the *Sea Around Us* Project submitted to Oceana and the Bloomberg and Rockefeller Foundations

> Original version: November 30th, 2012 Reprinted with correctiosn: April 1st, 2013

Executive summary

This report reviews the status of fisheries in 25 countries: Argentina, Belize, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Denmark, Iceland, India, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, Morocco, Norway, Peru, the Philippines, Russia, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Turkey, the U.K., the U.S., and Vietnam.

The abundance and coverage of marine protected areas (MPAs) is reviewed, with the conclusion that most countries have not sufficiently protected the biodiversity and fisheries resources occurring in their EEZ waters.

The status of the twelve species, which in each of these countries, contribute most to the catch is assessed using a recently-developed stock-assessment method that has minimum data requirements. The results suggest that some of the countries are experiencing strong exploitation and that reduction in fishing effort would allow key species to increase their biomass, and thus their sustainable levels of yield. Additionally, for 15 of these countries, the stock assessment results are compared with well-documented ecosystem models. For all the countries examined here, both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that overall catches could be increased by approximately 35 % given fishing at single-species F_{MSY} . However, if one considers biodiversity or rebuilding criteria for exploited species, the approximate increase in catch would be lower.

There is general agreement between the two types of analyses performed here, in that both suggest that overall catch could be increased, sometimes considerably, by managing the major species in the catch. Obviously, the results differ by country, given existing management regimes and data quality, but the results are clear regarding the possibility of catch increases. In the majority of countries, the single-species analyses could be validated using the ecosystem models. These models, given their sophistication, provided other relevant information, notably on the biodiversity losses that increased catches would incur. Obviously, such trade-off analyses are tentative, and would have to be refined, were they to provide the basis for policy elaborations in a given country.

Contents

Executive summary	1
List of tables	3
List of figures	8
Introduction	13
Materials and Methods	15
Fisheries catch data	15
Biomass and MSY estimates	16
Ecopath with Ecosim models	17
Marine Protected Areas	19
Results	21
Argentina	21
Belize	
Brazil	26
Canada	28
Chile	34
China	38
Denmark	43
Iceland	46
India	48
Indonesia	51
Japan	55
Malaysia	58
Mexico	63
Morocco	67
Norway	70
Peru	
Philippines	//
Russia	80
South Korea	80 89
Spain	
Turkev	
United Kingdom	
United States	102
Vietnam	114
Comparison of catch-based and ecosystem model results	118
Marine protection features by country	119
Discussion	124
Acknowledgements	125
Deferences	126
	120

List of Tables

Table 1. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Argentine catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 2. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Belize catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 3. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Brazil catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 4. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Canadian Arctic catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.
Table 5. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Canadian Atlantic catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 6. Catch rate from the historical exploitation period from the Canadian Atlantic ecosystem (1: <i>baseline</i>) and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 7. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Canadian Pacific catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.
Table 8. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period from the Canadian Pacific ecosystem (1: <i>baseline</i>) and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations. 33
Table 9. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Chilean catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 10. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Chinese catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 11. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the Chinese ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 12. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Danish catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species. along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Table	13. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the Danish ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table	14. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Icelandic catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table	15. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Indian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table	16. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Indonesian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table	17. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the eastern Indonesian ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table	18. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the western Indonesian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table	19. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Japanese catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table	20. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the eastern Malaysian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table	21. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the eastern Malaysian ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table	22. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the western Malaysian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table	23. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Mexican Gulf of Mexico catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table	24. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Mexican Pacific catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table	25. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the Mexican Pacific ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations

Table 26. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Moroccan catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.
Table 27. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the Moroccan ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 28. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Norwegian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 29. Catch rate (t·km-2·year-1) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the Norwegianecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent thecomparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 30. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Peruvian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 31. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the Peruvian ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 32. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Philippine catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 33. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Russia Barents Sea catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 34. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the Russian Barents Sea ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 35. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Russia Black Sea catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 36. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Russia Pacific catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 37. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the South African catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 38. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the South African ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations

Table 39. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the South Korean catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 40. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Spanish Atlantic catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 41. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Spanish Mediterranean catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 42. Catch rate (t-km-2-year-1) from the historical exploitation period (1; <i>baseline</i>) from the SpanishMediterranean ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSYrepresent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations95
Table 43. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Turkish Black Sea catch.Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted bycatch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting thespecified criteria are presented
Table 44. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Turkish Mediterranean catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 45. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the U.K. catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented99
Table 46. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the U.K. ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 47. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Argentine catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented. 104
Table 48. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the U.S. Alaskan ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 49. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the U.S. East Coast catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented. 106
Table 50. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the U.S. East Coast ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 51. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the U.S. Gulf of Mexico catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented

Table 52. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the U.S. Gulf of Mexico ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations. 109
Table 53. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the U.S. Hawaiian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 54. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the U.S. Hawaiian ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 55. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the U.S. west coast catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 56. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the U.S. West coast ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 57. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to Vietnamese catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented
Table 58. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the Vietnamese ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations
Table 59. Comparative results of catch:MSY ratios from the catch-based models, and ecosystem models illustrating the overall averages for the total number of taxa available for each countries. Weighted averages from the catch-based models are presented in parentheses. The overall average is only calculated from the regions where both methods could be applied (bold)
Table 60. Summary statistics for marine protected area (MPA) numbers and coverage. 123

List of Figures

Figure 1. An example of the biomass trajectories for two different species: (a) one with stable/increasing biomass from the late 1960s and (b) one with decreasing biomass from the early 1990s. For (b), and for all taxa with decreasing biomass in the later years, 2000-2006 is the time period over which the catch is averaged for the catch:MSY ratios, whereas for (a), the entire period of stability/increase is used. In both instances, the years of stability/increase or decline are estimated from the end of the time series, and depletion trajectories that collapse, in this case depletion levels from 30-50% are not used to determine the averaging period
Figure 2. Map of Argentina showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland. The Argentine EEZ is part of the Patagonian Shelf LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Cuidad de Buenos Aires, Río Negro, Chubut, Santa Cruz, and Tierra del Fuego, 1-5 respectively21
Figure 3. Map of Belize showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Belizian EEZ is part of the Gulf of Mexico LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Corozal, Belize, Stann Creek, and Toledo, 1-4 respectively
Figure 4. Map of Brazil, the EEZ adjacent to the mainland, maritime states, and the EEZ of Trinidade and Martin Vaz Islands. The Brazilian EEZ is part of three LMEs: the North Brazil Shelf, the East Brazil Shelf, and the South Brazil Shelf. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Amapá, Pará, Maranhão, Piauí, Ceará, Rio Grande do Norte, Paraíba, Pernambuco, Alagoas, Sergipe, Bahia, Espirito Santo, Rio de Janeiro, São Paulo, Paraná, Santa Catarina, and Rio Grande do Sul, 1-17 respectively
Figure 5. Map of Canada showing the 200 nm EEZ and all maritime states. The Canadian EEZ is part of six LMEs: clockwise from the west, the west coast of Canada falls within the Gulf of Alaska LME; Arctic Canada is within the Beaufort Sea LME, the Arctic Ocean LME, and the Hudson Bay LME; and eastern Canada falls within the Newfoundland-Labrador Shelf LME and the Scotian Shelf LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Yukon, British Columbia, Northwest Territories, Manitoba, Nunavut, Ontario, Quebec, Newfoundland and Labrador, New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island, and Nova Scotia, 1-11 respectively. The areas covered by ecological models are highlighted in red
Figure 6. a) Predicted total catches (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹), and b) average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch/sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years for the Canadian Atlantic ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the <i>baseline</i> , the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively32
Figure 7. a) Predicted total catches (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years for the Canadian Pacific ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the <i>baseline</i> , the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively.
Figure 8. Map of Chile showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime regions, and the EEZs of the Desventuradas, Juan Fernandez and Ambrosia, and Easter Islands. (The shaded area indicates an area also claimed by Peru). Numbers correspond to maritime regions: Arica, Tarapaca, Antofagasta, Atacama, Coquimbo, Valaparaiso, Libertador, Maule, Biobio, Araucania, Los Rios, Los Lagos, Aisen, and Magallanes, respectively, 1-14 respectively
Figure 9. Map of China showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and disputed regions (cross-hatch). The Chinese EEZ is part of three LMEs: the Yellow Sea LME, the East China Sea LME, and the South China Sea LME, from north to south. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Liaoning, Hebel, Tianjin, Shandong, Jiangsu, Shanghai, Zhejiang, Fujian, Guangdong, Guangxi, and Hainan, 1-11 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red
Figure 10. a) Predicted total catches (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years for the Chinese ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the <i>baseline</i> , the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively42
Figure 11. Map of Denmark showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Danish EEZ is part of the North Sea LME to the west and the Baltic Sea LME to the east. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Nordjylland, Midtjylland, Syddanmark, Hovedstaden, and Sjaaelland, 1-5 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red

- Figure 12. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Danish ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively....45
- Figure 14. Map of India showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime States and Union Territories, and the territorial EEZ of the islands of Andaman and Nicobar. The Indian EEZ is part of two LMEs: the Arabian Sea LME to the west and the Bay of Bengal LME to the east. Numbers correspond to maritime States: Gujarat, Maharashtra, Goa, Karnataka, Kerala, Tamil Nadu, Andhra Pradesh, Orissa, and West Bengal, 1-9 respectively.
- Figure 15. Map of Indonesia showing the 200 nm EEZ and all maritime states. The Indonesian EEZ is part of two LMEs: the Bay of Bengal LME and the Indonesian Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Aceh, Sumatra Utara, Riau, Sumatra Barat, Jambi, Sumatera Selatan, Bengkulu, Lampung, Jakarta Raya, Banten, Jawa Barat, Jawa Tengah, Yogyakarta, Jawa Timur, Bali, Nusa Tenggara Barat, Nusa Tengarra Timur, Kepulauan Riau, Bangka- Belitung, Kalimantan Barat, Kalimantan Tengah, Kalimantan Selatan, Sulawesi Selatan, Sulawesi Tenggara, Sulawesi Tehgah, Gorontalo, Sulawesi Utara, Maluku Utara, Maluku, Irian Jaya Barat, and Papua, 1-33 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red.
- Figure 17. Map of Japan showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and disputed regions (cross-hatch). The more remote Japanese Pacific islands and their EEZs are not shown. The Japanese EEZ is part of five LMEs: the Oyashio Current LME and the Sea of Okhotsk in the north, the Sea of Japan/East Sea in the central west, the Kuroshio Current LME in the central east, and the East China Sea LME in the south. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Hokkaidō, Tōhoku, Kantō, Chūbu, Kansai, Chūgoku, Shikoku, and Kyūshū, 1-8 respectively.

- Figure 21. Map of Mexico showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Mexican EEZ is part of three LMEs: the Gulf of California LME and the Pacific Central-American Coastal EEZ in the west and the Gulf of Mexico EEZ in the east. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Baja California, Baja California Sur, Sonora, Sinaloa, Nayarit, Jalisco, Colima, Michoácan, Guerrero, Oaxaca, Chiapas, Quintana Roo, Yucátan, Campeche, Tabasco, Veracruz, and Tamaulipas, 1-17, respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red.
- Figure 22. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Mexican Pacific ecosystem,

relative to the historical period value), under the <i>baseline</i> , the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively
Figure 23. Map of Morocco showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Moroccan EEZ is part of the Mediterranean Sea LME and the Canary Current LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Oriental, Taza, Tanger, Gharb, Rabat, Chaouia, Grand Casablanca, Doukkala, Marrakech, Souss, Guelmim, and Laâyoune, 1-12 respectively. The area covered by ecological models includes the entire EEZ of Morocco
Figure 24. a) Predicted total catches (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Moroccan ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the <i>baseline</i> , the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively.
Figure 25. Map of Norway showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, including the EEZ of the Svalbard Islands (1), all maritime states, and regions (cross-hatch) that were disputed with Russia until 2011. The Norwegian EEZ is part of the Barents Sea LME, Norwegian Sea LME, and the North Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Svalbard, Finnmark, Troms, Nordland, Nord-Trøndelag, Sør-Trøndelag, Møre og Romsdal, Sogn og Fjordane, Hordaland, Rogaland, Vest-Agder, Aust-Agder, Telemark, Vestfold, and Åstfold, 1-12 respectively. The area covered by ecological models includes the entire EEZ of Norway.
Figure 26. a) Predicted total catches (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Norwegian ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the <i>baseline</i> , the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively.
Figure 27. Map of Peru showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and disputed region (cross-hatch). The Peruvian EEZ is part of the Humboldt Current LME. Numbers correspond to maritime provinces: Tumbes, Piura, Lambayeque, La Libertad, Ancash, Lima Province, Lima, Ica, Arequipa, Moquegua, and Tacna, 1-11 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red74
Figure 28. a) Predicted total catches (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Peruvian ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the baseline, the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively.
Figure 29. Map of the Philippines showing the 200 nm EEZ. The Philippine EEZ is part of the Sulu-Celebes Sea LME. Shaded area indicates part of the EEZ disputed by other countries
Figure 30. Map of the Russian Barents Sea EEZ showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and regions disputed prior to 2011 (cross-hatch). The EEZ dispute has been resolved between Russia and Norway in 2011. The Brazilian EEZ falls completely within the Barents Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Murmansk, Karelia, Arkhangel'sk, and Nenets, 1-4 respectively. The area covered by ecological models includes the entire EEZ of Russia in the Barents Sea
Figure 31. Map of the Russian Black Sea EEZ showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Russian Black Sea EEZ falls completely within the Black Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Rostov and Krasnodar, 1-2 respectively
Figure 32. Map of the Russian Pacific EEZ showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and disputed region (cross-hatch). The Russian Pacific EEZ is part of four LMEs: the West Bering Sea LME, the Sea of Okhotsk LME, the Oyashio Current LME, and the Sea of Japan/East Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Chukchi Autonomous Okrug, Kamchatka, Maga Buryatdan, Khabarovsk, and Sakhalin, 1-5 respectively
Figure 33. a) Predicted total catches (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Russian Barents Sea ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the <i>baseline</i> , the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively

Figure 34. Map of South Africa showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The South African EEZ is part of the Benguela Current LME in the west and the Agulhas Current LME in the east. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Northern Cape, Western Cape, Eastern Cape, and KwaZulu- Natal, 1-4 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red
Figure 35. a) Predicted total catches (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the South African ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the <i>baseline</i> , the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively
Figure 36. Map of South Korea showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and disputed regions. The South Korean EEZ is part of the Yellow Sea LME and the Sea of Japan/East Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Inch'on-gwangyoksi, Gyeonggi-do, Chungcheongnam-do, Jeollabuk-do, Gwangju, Gyeongsangnam-do, Ulsan, Daegu, and Gangwon-do, 1-9 respectively
Figure 37. Map of Spain showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Spanish EEZ is part of the Iberian Coastal LME and the Mediterranean Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: País Vasco, Cantabria, Principado de Asturias, Galicia, Andalucía, Región de Murcia, Comunidad Valenciana, Cataluña, and Islas Baleares, 1-8 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red
Figure 38. a) Predicted total catches (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Spanish Mediterranean ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the <i>baseline</i> , the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively
Figure 39. Map of Turkey showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime state. The Turkish EEZ is part of the Black Sea LME and the Mediterranean LME. Numbers correspond to maritime regions: Marmara, Aegean, Black Sea, Mediterranean, and Southeastern Anatolia, 1-5 respectively
Figure 40. Map of the U.K. showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The U.K. EEZ is part of the North Sea LME and the Celtic-Biscay Shelf LME. Numbers correspond to maritime regions: Scotland, Northern Ireland, Northeast, Northwest, Yorkshire and Humberside, Wales, West Midlands, East Midlands, Southwest, Southeast, and Eastern, 1-11 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red
Figure 41. a) Predicted total catches (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the U.K. ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the <i>baseline</i> , the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively101
Figure 42. Map of the U.S. East Coast and Gulf of Mexico showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The U.S. East Coast is part of the Northeast U.S. Continental Shelf LME and the Southeast U.S. Continental Shelf LME. The U.S. Gulf of Mexico falls within the Gulf of Mexico LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Texas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, Florida, Georgia, South Carolina, North Carolina, Virginia, Maryland, Delaware, New Jersey, New York, Connecticut, Rhode Island, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, and Maine, 1-18 respectively. The area covered by the ecological model is highlighted in red
Figure 43. Map of the U.S. West Coast, Alaska and Hawaii, showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The U.S. West Coast falls within the California Current LME. Alaska is part of four LMEs: the East Bering Sea LME, the Chukchi Sea LME, the Beaufort Sea LME, and the Gulf of Alaska LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states (or geographic entities for Hawaii): Alaska, Washington, Oregon, California, Hawaii Main Islands, and Hawaii Northwest Islands, 1-6 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red
Figure 44. a) Predicted total catches (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the U.S. Alaskan, relative to the historical period value), under the <i>baseline</i> , the <i>allFmsy</i> and <i>optimization</i> simulations, respectively105

- Figure 45. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the U.S. East coast, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.......107

Introduction¹

The global fisheries crisis has been illustrated by numerous examples: catches are declining worldwide in spite of increasing fishing effort (Anticamara *et al.* 2011; Watson *et al.* 2012); fisheries that would otherwise not be profitable are kept afloat by government subsidies (Sumaila *et al.* 2010a; Sumaila *et al.* 2010b); and the state of stocks – except for a few areas with prudent management – is abysmal (Jackson *et al.* 2001; Coll *et al.* 2008a; Costello *et al.* 2012). This occurs in the face of an increasing world population, more than ever in need of the protein that seafood can provide (Garcia and Rosenberg 2010; Srinivasan *et al.* 2010; LeManach *et al.* 2012; Sumaila *et al.* 2012). There are now over one billion people that rely on marine resources for livelihoods (Teh and Sumaila 2013).

Fisheries overexploitation also manifests itself in the form of a marine biodiversity crisis, with an increasing number of species of large fishes, seabirds and marine mammals registered on the IUCN Red List of Endangered Species (IUCN 2011). Additionally, research has illustrated that the rate of marine biodiversity decline has not been reduced in the last decade (Butchart *et al.* 2010; Veitch *et al.* 2012).

It is common, in the world of marine fisheries and biodiversity, to frame approaches that attempt to mitigate and overcome this fisheries crisis in the form of a zero-sum game, where increased fisheries yields are seen as incompatible with maintaining marine biodiversity. This view is best exemplified by the notion, spread by Japanese officials, that 'whales eat our fish' (Tamura and Ohsumi 1999, 2000), and that, hence, large-scale culling (i.e., eradication) of whales and other marine mammals would make immense quantities of fish available for commercial fisheries. However, this zero-sum view is not only wrong as an approach to increasing fisheries yields (see e.g., Kaschner and Pauly 2005; Gerber *et al.* 2009; Morissette *et al.* 2012), but reflects a deeper problem: an erroneous framing of the issues at hand.

We can look at this framing issue by comparing the situation in the ocean to the situation on land. For example, in countries such as Brazil, which is known for both its productivity and biodiversity, we may find either a productive soya field *or* a diverse tropical forest – we can't have both. On the contrary, in the aquatic realm, if the mostly depleted stocks were allowed to rebuild, they would produce more in terms of fisheries yield and contribute to increased biodiversity in the marine ecosystems in question (see e.g., Tremblay-Boyer et al. 2011). That we have the potential, in the sea, for a win-win situation was stressed, e.g., in the keynote address of the 4th World Fisheries Congress held in 2004 (Pauly 2008). Unfortunately, this is counterintuitive to those with a mindset shaped by the conservation debates on land, and also to fisheries managers who still believe that increasing fishing effort in order to 'out-fish' the other guys is the way to go. But, the win-win situation is a fact that logically follows from the basic principles of both fisheries science and marine conservation science (Hilborn and Walters 1992; Odum and Barrett 2005): in situations where stocks have been (or are being) overfished, allowing stocks to rebuild will, after a transition period, lead to potentially higher marine productivity and, and if managed well, sustainable catches. Additionally, the rebuilt biomass will also accommodate a wider array of top predators, among them many species that are now considered threatened (Worm and Myers 2003; Sibert et al. 2006; Ainley and Blight 2008), which at the same time contribute to maintaining the productivity of the ocean (e.g., Nicol et al. 2010; Pershing et al. 2010).

In this report, we will document the potential for catch increases in 25 key fishing countries. The level of management in these countries varies, with some currently lacking strong fisheries management systems, and the control and surveillance that is required for enforcement of quotas and regulations (Pitcher *et al.* 2006; Mora *et al.* 2009). We will estimate this potential using a variety of methods, including an assessment-type approach that relies on a time series of landings to estimate a reference point, *Maximum Sustainable Yield (MSY)*, and biomass time series.

¹ This Introduction and some parts of the Material and Methods sections are modified from Part I of the report, i.e., Pauly *et al.* (2012b).

Also, as indicated in Part I of this report (Pauly *et al.* 2012b), here we use ecosystem-modeling techniques to quantify the potential sustainable catch increases while explicitly taking into account the ecosystem context in which fisheries are embedded. Well-documented and previously published and available *Ecopath with Ecosim* models (Pauly *et al.* 2000; Christensen and Walters 2004), representing the country examined here separately or jointly will be used for this purpose.

Finally, we also present indicators that describe the level of protection currently and potentially afforded to the marine species of each of the countries covered here.

Materials and Methods

Fisheries catch data

Currently, global reported landings data represent the basic data available for assessing a fishery. Landings data from 1950 to 2006, as reported to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and other sources by country, are spatialized by the *Sea Around Us* Project (Watson *et al.* 2004). The process of spatialization relies on information on the mapped distributions of all commercially exploited species reported in fisheries statistics and information on fishing access agreements, which determine which countries are permitted to operate in other countries' EEZ waters.

Landings refer to fish caught and kept, and differ from 'catch' data, which include both the fish which are kept and those that are discarded, and may include landings that are unreported. Therefore, the basic input to the analysis presented here are catch data, recently criticized as inadequate to deal with issues of fisheries status and stock assessments (Branch *et al.* 2011; Daan *et al.* 2011), but which are indeed the key to any fisheries research (Froese *et al.* 2012; Kleisner *et al.* 2012).

There are three kinds of catch data:

- a) Locally precise catch data, often collected by researchers, and used to answer questions pertaining to local fisheries (such data are not considered here);
- b) Official national data, assembled and published by national governments, and also submitted to the FAO, where they are combined with the data from other countries to become the only available set of international 'FAO statistics'; and
- c) 'Reconstructed' catch statistics, which include the *total* catch and discards from *all* fisheries, including those that are usually ignored in official statistics.

Presently (November, 2012), the *Sea Around Us* Project and its global collaborators, are engaged in completing catch reconstructions for all maritime countries and territories of the world, including those countries presented here. These catch reconstructions have highlighted that in many cases there is severe underreporting, or more rarely, over-reporting of catches (Watson and Pauly 2001). Unfortunately, at the present time, these reconstructions are not available for the majority of the countries presented here and therefore we urge caution when interpreting present results as catches may in reality be higher than those used in these analyses.

The rationale for reconstructions stems from a need to have a better quantification of what is removed from marine systems and thus get better estimates of fishing mortality (Pauly 1998; Zeller and Pauly 2007). Currently, the catch data that are available on a global basis are the 'FAO statistics' referred to in (b) above. However, there are typically three components of catch data: (i) nominal landings, (ii) discarded by-catch, and (iii) unreported catch, which is typically catch from small-scale fisheries and illegal catches (Pauly and Zeller 2003). Catches of type (i), i.e., nominal landings, are typically all that is reported to FAO, although there may be temporal and taxonomic gaps in these data. Additionally, landings from small-scale artisanal and subsistence fisheries are generally underreported to FAO by member countries, particularly among developing countries. The catch reconstruction approach (detailed in Zeller *et al.* 2007) attempts to complement the FAO landings data that have been spatialized by the *Sea Around Us* Project (Watson *et al.* 2004) with more inclusive catch statistics. These data can provide a more complete picture of the total fish biomass that is extracted from marine systems.

Biomass and MSY estimates

The majority of commercially exploited species have never been formally assessed and there are no traditional estimates of *Maximum Sustainable Yield* (*MSY*) for these species. Determining *MSY* typically requires, at minimum, time series information on historical removals (e.g., catch and discard), information on trends in abundance (e.g., catch per unit of effort or CPUE), and a model that describes the underlying production function (e.g., a surplus-production model; Schaefer 1954). Parameters for the model, the carrying capacity of the stock (k), and the maximum rate of population increase (r), are normally estimated by fitting the model to the relative abundance data. While landings data are available for most species (but with several problems as mentioned above), abundance estimates are more difficult to obtain. However, a recent method developed by Martell and Froese (2012) enables preliminary stock assessments to be performed without a time series of fishing effort being available. While the method is new, it rests on a sound foundation of population dynamics principles, explained in the following paragraphs.

The method of Martell and Froese (2012) requires a time series of annual catches, extracted from a population (*B*). This population has an initial abundance (B_0), which can be treated as a proxy for carrying capacity *k*. If B_0 was reduced by successive catches, this would logically result in a decline in abundance, (partly) offset by population growth. If the initial value of B_0 was small and/or its growth rate *r* was low², the population would have crashed early, and we would not have the time series of catches that we do have. Conversely, if the initial value of B_0 was very large and/or its growth rate was very high, the catches would not have been able to noticeably reduce the population, and, with time, the population would approach its carrying capacity³. Thus, the novelty of this method rests on the finding that, if one has a relatively long time series of annual catches and is willing to assume that the population has not collapsed or exceeded carrying capacity, it is possible to identify a relatively narrow range of carrying capacity *k* (and consequently initial population size, B_0) and population growth rate *r* compatible with the available catch time series. From these 'viable' *r-k* pairs, *MSY* can then be calculated for each species of interest and an associated biomass time series developed based on an assumed level of depletion.

For each country presented here, we compute the MSY and we use the geometric mean r and k values from the distribution of viable *r*-*k* pairs to compute biomass time series for all of the taxa available in the catch data at the species or genus level for which there are 20 or more vears of catch data at depletion levels of 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 35, 40, 45, and 50%. We use the biomass trajectories at each depletion level that do not crash and determine whether each of these biomass trajectories are decreasing or are stable or increasing. We assume that biomass trajectories that are stable or increasing are indicative of years when the biomass was in equilibrium. Years of stable or increasing biomass were selected by calculating the derivative of the biomass trajectory and selecting the years from the end of this time series that had a derivative > -0.1*mean. The consecutive years from the end of the time series that met this condition were selected as the years over which the average catch was calculated. Therefore, the number of years of catch that were averaged differed for each country and species. When the biomass trajectories for a given country-species combination was decreasing, we used the average catch over the most recent seven years. We present the ratio of this average to the MSY for the top 12 species that represent the bulk of the reported landings data. Tables are presented for each country (or region within a country, e.g., Pacific Canada), which provide the catch, MSY, and catch: MSY ratios for the top 12 taxa, the averages for the top 12 taxa and all taxa evaluated (straight average and average weighted by the total catch), with an indication of the number of taxa evaluated for each region. These averages are used to obtain an idea of the potential for increased yields for the fisheries given optimal management and conservation. While we present both weighted and un-weighted averages for the catch-MSY ratios, we discuss only the weighted average results as we consider

² The growth rate, i.e., the rate of instantaneous population growth, is defined as the rate at which a population increases in size if there are no density-dependent forces regulating the population.

 $^{^{3}}$ In Part I of this report, the word 'exceed' was erroneously used instead of the correct 'approach'.

them more robust. This approach was inspired by the fisheries Food Provision model recently designed for the 'Ocean Health Index' (Halpern *et al.* 2012), which compares estimates of *multispecies MSY (mMSY)* derived for all fished stocks in a country or region to the current level of total landings in 2006 (the latest year for which the *Sea Around Us* Project has spatialized the FAO reported landings).



Figure 1. An example of the biomass trajectories for two different species: (a) one with stable/increasing biomass from the late 1960s and (b) one with decreasing biomass from the early 1990s. For (b), and for all taxa with decreasing biomass in the later years, 2000-2006 is the time period over which the catch is averaged for the catch:MSY ratios, whereas for (a), the entire period of stability/increase is used. In both instances, the years of stability/increase or decline are estimated from the end of the time series, and depletion trajectories that collapse, in this case depletion levels from 30-50% are not used to determine the averaging period.

Ecopath with Ecosim models

Since target and non-target species in marine ecosystems interact by establishing complex, but mainly trophic relationships, fishing and human activities have direct and indirect impacts whose analysis is notoriously challenging. Marine ecosystems are also influenced by environmental fluctuations and variability (Cury *et al.* 2008; Link *et al.* 2010). Thus, the ability to understand how human activities, environmental factors and ecological components interact, and eventually how the services and products provided to humans are affected, including the potential sustainable catch that can be extracted from marine ecosystems, is an issue that is of growing importance. The need to consider natural changes and human activities when analyzing and managing marine resources requires the adaptation of an integrated view of these systems, which should make it possible to consider not only the dynamics of target species, but also non-target organisms, trophic relationships and flows, and environmental factors. New methodological tools have been developed to take these complexities into account, in particular ecological modeling tools (Walters *et al.* 1997; Christensen and Walters 2004; Plagányi 2007; Fulton 2010).

Currently, the *Ecopath with Ecosim* approach (EwE; Polovina 1984; Pauly *et al.* 2000; Christensen and Walters 2004; www.ecopath.org) is applied worldwide for building ecological models of aquatic ecosystems. Some scientists have questioned the potential of EwE models

(Longhurst 2006). However, despite this, they are widely used (e.g., Palomares *et al.* 2009). In addition, the Institute for European Environmental Policy concluded that, among the available models of marine ecosystems, EwE is the most suitable for the development of scenarios for exploring future trends of marine biodiversity and changes in ecosystem services (Sukhdev 2008).

The software package EwE (Christensen *et al.* 2005) can be used to build food-web models by describing the ecosystem by means of functional groups, each representing a species, a sub-group of a species (e.g., juveniles) or a group of species that have functional and ecological similarities (Christian and Luczkovich 1999). The functional groups can be set to represent consumers, primary producers as well as non-living groups (e.g., detritus).

In this study, we used the *Ecopath* model routine of EwE, which is the mass-balance routine that allows the creation of 'snapshot' models of food webs (Christensen and Pauly 1992; Christensen and Pauly 1993), and the *Ecosim* time dynamic modeling routine (Walters *et al.* 1997; Walters *et al.* 2000). When available, we used previously well-documented and published EwE models that had been fitted to time series of data to quantify the potential sustainable catch by country or regional country groupings. The fitted models were chosen because they had been shown to be able to hind-cast historical ecosystem trajectories reasonably well. We estimated potential sustainable catch while simulating fishing at sustainable levels, taking into account the ecosystem context where fisheries operate (such as the productivity regime and ecosystem structure). In fact, the models available for Denmark, Indonesia, Peru, South Africa, Spain and the U.K. explicitly incorporated environmental time series. We then compared these sustainable catch estimates to historical catch trajectories.

For several countries, one model partially or fully covering the EEZ was available, while for others we had several models available, so we chose the most suitable one. References to the original model chosen for our analysis are indicated in the results section, by country. No modeling results are presented for countries that do not have published models which partially or fully overlap with their EEZ.

Modeling simulations were developed using the following three modeling approaches:

- (1) First, the historical exploitation trajectory was analyzed using each fitted EwE model with historical time series and default configuration of parameters (Walters *et al.* 2005). These runs provided the baseline results to which the other two simulations were compared. We refer to this simulation as the '*baseline*' simulation;
- (2) Then, the 'MSY Equilibrium' routine in EwE was run to find single-species *Fmsy* (Walters *et al.* 2005). We used the 'full compensation assessment', which enables a full ecosystem-scale dynamic response effect in all species including ecosystem interactions. Thus, while calculating the *Fmsy* values, we also took ecosystem dynamics into account. After we estimated single-species *Fmsy*, we ran a long-term simulation with the *F* value for each exploited species set to the *Fmsy* values. Results at the end of this simulation represent predicted equilibrium values under the all-species *Fmsy* policy (which should not be confused with a maximization of multispecies MSY, Walters *et al.* 2005). We refer to this simulation as the '*allFmsy*' simulation;
- (3) As a final step, the 'Fisheries Policy Search' routine in EwE was used to formally optimize the search in each model to find the fishing policy that would maximize a particular objective function for management (Christensen and Walters 2004). In our case, we optimized our search to achieve maximum total catch, but under two major sustainability constraints: (i) the maintenance of biodiversity, and (ii) the avoidance of species being depleted. Therefore, while searching for the fishing fleet configuration that would maximize total catch, we constrained our search to F values that would avoid the loss of biodiversity and the depletion of individual groups. This enabled us to prevent, for example, scenarios where the optimization resulted in the depletion of large predatory organisms in return for increased catches of smaller and more productive organisms.

To constrain the search while maintaining biodiversity, we used the 'biomass biodiversity' option in the 'Fisheries Policy Search' routine, and to avoid depletion of species, we used the 'mandated rebuilding' option (Christensen and Walters 2004). For the mandated rebuilding option, we additionally set up a threshold of 25% of baseline biomass (thus: 75% depletion) as our maximum limit reference point under which we did not allow any of the species or groups in the models to fall. This level of depletion was chosen to as compromise between the 'rare species' definition, which was set to be at 10% of baseline biomass, and the 'depleted species', which was set at 50% of baseline biomass in previous studies (Pandolfi *et al.* 2003; Lotze *et al.* 2006). Furthermore, to avoid the optimization search from obtaining the highest catch from intensely exploiting species that are typically lightly exploited due to the fact that they are of low value (such as benthopelagic fish or benthic invertebrates with marginal value), we constrained the *F* values to be a maximum of twice the *Fmsy* values obtained under strategy (2), under the *allFmsy* simulations. In our results, we refer to this simulation as the '*optimization*' simulation.

We analyzed the results from the 3 modeling simulations comparing the catch resulting from the historical exploitation regime with that from the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations. We also compared the relative average mean fishing mortality of all exploited species in the ecosystem as the sum of all the catch over the sum of all the biomass for the historical exploitation period where the ecosystem model had been fitted.

Marine Protected Areas

To better understand the level of marine protection within the EEZs of the 25 countries analyzed, information regarding the Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) established by each of these countries was analyzed.

The *Sea Around Us* Project maintains a global database of MPAs (see individual country pages at <u>www.seaaroundus.org</u>) from which data for this report were gathered. This database includes information describing MPA size, location, year of establishment, as well as governance and management. To ensure that this information is current and accurate for each country, this database is continually updated using data compiled from peer-reviewed and grey literature, including government documents and websites. For certain countries assessed here, the information is not current to 2012, but represents the data as collated and analyzed by Wood *et al.* (2008), or a partially updated version. The two exceptions are China and Japan. For China, aggregated MPA data were taken from Qiu *et al.* (2009). The number of MPAs in Japan was drawn from Yagi *et al.* (2010), who generated a comprehensive dataset of Japanese MPAs, including difficult-to-obtain information on local, self-imposed MPA agreements among members of fishery cooperative associations. Yagi *et al.* (2010) report that an estimate of coverage was not possible given the lack of information available on the area of individual sites and their overlap.

In most countries, MPAs are predominately located adjacent to the coast. Therefore, it was necessary to include MPAs designated within the territorial waters extending up to 12 nm from the shoreline, in addition to MPAs situated offshore within the EEZ waters, which are generally defined as extending from the outer limit of territorial waters of a country out to a maximum distance of 200 nm from shore. For simplicity, we treat territorial waters as part of a country's EEZ in the present context.

Recently, countries have begun establishing MPAs in the waters surrounding islands separated from the mainland, thus meeting protection targets while avoiding potential conflicts with local stakeholders. While this is indeed a positive conservation action, we excluded these MPAs from this analysis because they do not offer protection to the marine resources within the main EEZs. However, we make reference, in some cases, to MPAs created within the EEZs of offshore territories to provide context for the current and potential future state of MPA development in each country. This serves, in some cases, to illustrate the difference between MPA coverage in the main EEZ versus the EEZs of island territories.

For each country, the total area encompassed by all MPAs was computed. However, not every 'MPA' is entirely 'marine', as the boundaries of some MPAs may encompass both land and sea. To determine the proportion of the EEZ that is protected, it was necessary to estimate the marine portion of each MPA. When available documentation for an MPA only indicates total area, we estimate the marine area using the median fraction of marine area relative to total area for those MPAs for which this quantity was known in that country. Sites designated under the UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization) World Heritage Convention and Ramsar Convention were excluded from this report because of the high level of overlap of such sites with nationally designated protected areas (Wood *et al.* 2008). Additionally, MPAs for which there was no information on areal extent were excluded.

MPAs are established for a variety of reasons and provide differing levels of protection for the species and habitats that occur within their boundaries. Not all MPAs are created for the purpose of improving the sustainability of fisheries (Cullis-Suzuki and Pauly 2008, 2010); in fact, relatively few restrict or prohibit fishing activities. In addition to estimating the total area and marine area covered by MPAs in each country's EEZ, this study lists the area in which fishing is prohibited within MPA boundaries, i.e., the 'no-take' area. An assessment of coverage alone cannot provide a complete picture of protection; one needs to also consider effectiveness (Spalding *et al.* 2008). It is well acknowledged that many MPAs represent 'paper parks' – existing only on paper, but without any in-the-water implementation (Jameson *et al.* 2002; Alcala *et al.* 2008). As it is likely that many of the MPAs currently designated in the present countries' EEZs (and the rest of the world) are no more than paper parks, we also provide a brief discussion of the current level of MPA effectiveness.

Results

Argentina⁴

The Argentinean continental shelf extends for 769,400 km² within the total EEZ of 1,164,500 km² (Figure 2) It is the largest shelf in South America (Bisbal 1995). Estimates of net primary productivity are high (over 500 mgC·m⁻²·day⁻¹) around the mouth of the Rio de la Plata and the South-eastern Brazilian Bight, from Cape Frio to Cape Santa Marta Grande (Bisbal 1995). These biochemical conditions provide a favourable reproductive habitat for important fisheries in Argentina, which has some of the most productive marine ecosystems in the world (Bezzi *et al.* 2000).



Figure 2. Map of Argentina showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland. The Argentine EEZ is part of the Patagonian Shelf LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Cuidad de Buenos Aires, Río Negro, Chubut, Santa Cruz, and Tierra del Fuego, 1-5 respectively.

exploitation of fishing The resources for commercial purposes is estimated to have begun 1978 when in Japanese Argentinean, and Polish fleets started fishing activities mainly of squid and other previously unexploited demersal resources. Fishbase (www.fishbase.org) reports 334 species of marine finfishes. 119 deep-water species, 16 species of cephalopods, 4 species of crustaceans and 50 marine mammals from the ecosystem, but only 37 of them are commercially important and support the multispecies, multisector fisheries. In particular, four commercially important fisheries have been identified in the country: the Argentine hake (Merluccius hubbsi), mainly exploited off the coast of Uruguay and near the basin of the Rio de la Plata, Argentine shortfin squid (*Illex argentinus*), Southern blue whiting (Micromesistius australis) and

Patagonian squid (*Logilo gahi*). Total landings in the EEZ increased from 170,153 t in 1970 to 1,373,000 t in 2006, with a significant increase in the landings of distant water fishing fleets (mainly from South Korea, Taiwan, Japan and China but also from Germany, Italy, Portugal and Spain; Villasante *et al.* in prep).

Geopolitically, two fisheries areas can be identified: the EEZ and the Argentine-Uruguayan Common Fisheries Zone. The management of shared fish stocks is also a critical problem for the country, namely because of the distant-water fleet's activity in the area beyond the 200-mile limit of the EEZ and the Malvinas/Falkland Islands (Villasante *et al.* in prep). The legal basis for the Argentinean Fishery System is provided by the Federal Fishery Regime, established by Law N^o

⁴ This introduction was provided by Dr. S. Villasante (University of Santiago de Compostela, Galicia), who is the lead author of the catch reconstruction for Argentina that will be completed in 2013.

24922, enacted in late 1997, that is aimed to satisfy a maximum development of fishing activities at sea with a rational use of living resources.

Since 1999, the Federal Fisheries Council sets an annual Total Allowable Catch (TAC), which takes into account the MSY determined by scientists from the National Institute for Fisheries Research and Development (INIDEP; Villasante 2012). However, the increase of illegal, unreported and unregulated (IUU) catches, the lack of transparency of fisheries management, and the insufficient implementation of conservation strategies to protect fish stocks have had negative biological and socio-economic effects. For the region, Agnew et al. (2009) estimated that the economic loss from IUU fishing in 2003 was between \$205-606 million.

As result, the underreporting of total removals in Argentina is extremely high. Indeed, reconstructed catches are, on average, 1.9 times higher than official statistics for the 1950-2010 period because of the still high level of discards and IUU catches (Villasante et al. in prep). At present, several marine resources of Argentina are fully exploited or overexploited, including the Argentinean hake, which supports one of the most important demersal fisheries in Latin America and is the most important species for the fisheries sector in the country (Österblom and Villasante in press). Other factors affecting key species such as the Argentinean hake are ineffective control and enforcement, the liberalization and opening of the fishing grounds to foreign fleets through joint ventures and the Argentina-European Union fisheries agreement (1993-1997), which resulted in the continued overexploitation of the fishery (Irusta et al. 2001). The recorded landings for this species exceeded the allocated TAC by 87% in 1999 and 93% in 2000. Consequently, the biomass of the Argentinean hake is at critical levels, resulting in high socioeconomic losses for the national industry (Fundación Vida Silvestre 2008). There has also been an increase in discards of juveniles, which represented between 11% and 24% of total landings during the period 1990-1997 (Dato et al. 2006). In economic terms, this represents annual losses of \$11-77 million (Villasante 2012).

Catch-MSY method for Argentine stocks

For Argentina, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 10 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 6 % when considering all 44 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 1). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of ecosystem effects, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and				
weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the				
taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.				
Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY	
Argentine hake	345,785	308,693	1.12	

Table 1. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Argentine

catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and				
weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the				
taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.				
Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY	
Argentine hake	345,785	308,693	1.12	
Argentine shortfin squid	146,928	168,151	0.87	
Southern blue whiting	42105.73	75.147	0.56	

Patagonian grenadier	106,116	70,349	1.51
Argentine anchoita	30,176	25,826	1.17
Argentine red shrimp	36,656	30,339	1.21
Patagonean scallop	52,442	40,318	1.30
Chub mackerel	5,830	19,734	0.30
Narrownose smooth-hound	8,542	6,529	1.31
Pink cusk-eel	15,776	14,634	1.08
Sea bass	4,534	8,203	0.55
South American striped weakfish	11,811	15,062	0.78
Average of top 12 taxa (weighted)			0.98 (0.90)
Average of 44 taxa (weighted)			0.63 (0.94)

Belize⁵

Belize is located on the east coast of Central America between 18° and 15°N and 88° and 89°W, with a land area of around 22,600 km² and an EEZ of 35,000 km² (Figure 3). Adjacent to Belize are Mexico to the north, Guatemala to the west and south and the Caribbean Sea to the east. The coastline is flanked by the second longest barrier reef in the world (Heyman and Kjerfve 2001), beyond which offshore areas drop off to between 300 and 600 fathoms depth. There are several reef areas located offshore, outside of the barrier reef.



Figure 3. Map of Belize showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Belizian EEZ is part of the Gulf of Mexico LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Corozal, Belize, Stann Creek, and Toledo, 1-4 respectively.

Belize was a British colony from 1862 until gaining partial independence in 1964 and full independence in 1981, and is now part of the British Commonwealth of Nations and a member of the United Nations (Shusterich 1984). The ethnic composition of the Belizean population consists mainly of Mestizo and Creole, representing approximately 75 % of the population, with the remaining 25 % consisting of Mava. Garifuna and other ethnicities. A recent census indicated that just under half of the population lives in urban centers, which is a decrease from earlier decades (Tietze et al. 2006). Belize has the lowest population density of the Central American countries and one of the lowest population densities in the world, with approximately inhabitants.km^{-2,} whereas 9 Guatemala 95 has inhabitants.km⁻² and Honduras 49 inhabitants.km-2 has (Heyman and Kjerfve 2001).

The commercial fishing industry of Belize has traditionally focused on lobster (*Panulurus argus*) and conch (*Strombus gigas*), with the commercial lobster fishery starting in the 1920s (Harborne *et al.* 2000). The establishment of fishing cooperatives in the 1960s greatly improved the sale and marketing of these products for export. Prior to the establishment of the cooperatives, fishing was mainly conducted for subsistence purposes (Craig 1966; Shusterich 1984). The cooperatives, however, quickly gained favor and became the major channel for moving fisheries products, mostly to foreign markets. Finfish fisheries have predominantly supplied the local market, although in recent years, export of snapper (Lutjanidae) and grouper (Serranidae) have become more prevalent. A small shrimp trawl fishery also existed, starting in the mid-1960s, with only a few artisanal trawlers and minimal expansion in the subsequent decades (Shusterich 1984). All trawl fishing was banned in Belize in late 2010, bringing this fishery to an end. Sharks, although not consumed locally, are caught for export using mainly gillnets, and supply meat and fins to Guatemala, Honduras, Mexico and Asia (Graham 2007). It is likely that Belize will enact legislation banning the use of gillnets in the near future, thus substantially limiting shark catches.

⁵ This introduction is adapted from the Belize catch reconstruction (Zeller *et al.* 2011b)

The establishment of fishing cooperatives in the 1960s brought about some significant changes to the fishing industry. Most importantly, it allowed fishers to establish a lucrative export market and command a high price for items such as lobster, conch and finfish (Price 1987). The cooperatives started in the north and expanded throughout the country. More recently, there are five main cooperatives (National, Northern, Placencia, San Pedro and Rio Grande), the National and Northern cooperatives being the largest both in numbers of fishers and catch. However, only 50 % of licensed fishers belong to one of the five main cooperatives and there are many unlicensed fishers operating in Southern Belize (Anon. 2008).

In recent decades, Belize has become a popular tourist destination with over 250,000 tourists visiting the country annually (Anon. 2010a). The development of the tourism industry was, in part, linked with overfishing, which caused fishers to seek alternate economic activities. Another reason for this shift is the struggle of fishers to make a living due to high fuel costs and lack of capital to maintain equipment and vessels (Anon. 2008). In the popular tourist areas some of the hotels are actually owned by lobster fishers who used their capital from fishing to start tourism businesses (Price 1987). Tourism began in the 1980s, and by the 1990s, the industry was well established. Tourists come to partake in a variety of marine related activities such as diving and sport fishing. During their stay in Belize, tourists commonly enjoy the local cuisine, with a particular taste for Caribbean lobster. This has put further pressure on the marine ecosystem in recent decades (Gillett 2003).

A survey conducted in the early 1940s by British scientist Ernest Thompson, estimated artisanal and subsistence catches to be approximately three million pounds (1360 t) and one million pounds (454 t), respectively (Thompson 1944). He further stated that marine fisheries exports were minimal at that time. Prior to improvements in transportation and processing infrastructure that allowed for the expansion of commercial production (i.e., lobster and conch fisheries expansion in 1960s), fishing was mainly for subsistence and domestic purposes (Craig 1966).

Due to a combination of low population density and high reef productivity, it is not surprising that neighboring countries enter Belizean waters to fish. Some of these fishers have special permits to fish in Belize (A. Matura-Shepherd, pers. comm.), while others fish illegally (Heyman 1996). Depleted fish resources in Honduras and Guatemala have driven fishers to illegally exploit the waters of Belize, which has historically had less pressure on its marine resources (Heyman and Kjerfve 2001). The demand for fish products in Guatemala and Honduras increases every year during the Lenten Season, during which Catholics abstain from eating meat (Heyman 1996). During this time, salted fish (e.g., shark, mackerel, jack and snook) are illegally transported from Belize to Guatemala and Honduras. Other forms of illegal catch from both foreign and local fishers are the harvest of undersized and out of season lobster and conch (Price 1987; Arce *et al.* 1997; Perez 2009).

Catch-MSY method for Belizean stocks

For Belize, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 5 % when considering the top 12 landed species given optimal management of all exploited species, but the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation (Table 2).

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Round sardinella	7,693	6,799	1.13
Caribbean spiny lobster	506	703	0.72
Blue crab	703	576	1.22
Common snook	635	666	0.95
King mackerel	824	578	1.42
Red grouper	693	304	2.28
Flathead mullet	759	689	1.10
Atlantic thread herring	437	386	1.13
Common octopus	606	499	1.22
American cupped oyster	235	204	1.15
Northern red snapper	279	186	1.50
Yellowfin tuna	14	123	0.11
Average of top 12 (weighted)			1.16 (0.95)
Average of 40 taxa (weighted)			1.07 (1.01)

Table 2. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Belize catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Brazil⁶

The Brazilian EEZ spans the northeast and central eastern coast of South America from approximately 5° N, at the border with French Guyana, to about 33° S, at the border with Uruguay (Figure 4). There are 17 maritime states in Brazil. In northern Brazil, the states are Amapá and Pará (Figure 4, 1-2). There are nine states in northeast Brazil: Maranhão, Piauí, Ceará, Rio Grande do Norte, Paraíba, Pernambuco, Alagoas, Sergipe, and Bahia (Figure 4, 3-11). In



Figure 4. Map of Brazil, the EEZ adjacent to the mainland, maritime states, and the EEZ of Trinidade and Martin Vaz Islands. The Brazilian EEZ is part of three LMEs: the North Brazil Shelf, the East Brazil Shelf, and the South Brazil Shelf. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Amapá, Pará, Maranhão, Piauí, Ceará, Rio Grande do Norte, Paraíba, Pernambuco, Alagoas, Sergipe, Bahia, Espirito Santo, Rio de Janeiro, São Paulo, Paraná, Santa Catarina, and Rio Grande do Sul, 1-17 respectively.

southeast Brazil, the maritime states include Espirito Santo, Rio de Janeiro, and São Paulo (Figure 4, 12-14). Finally, in the south, we find the states of Paraná, Santa Catarina, and Rio Grande do Sul (Figure 4, 15-17). The Brazilian EEZ encompasses three LMEs, the North Brazil Shelf (in part), the East Brazil Shelf, and the South Brazil Shelf. Also, the EEZ of Brazil includes a few oceanic islands, Trinidade and Martin Vaz Islands, which are located 1,200 km off the coast, but we refer only to the mainland component Brazilian fisheries for the analyses presented here.

Within the Brazilian EEZ, there is a wide range of ecosystem types resulting in differences between the fisheries exploiting the diverse array of marine resources. In the southern states of Brazil, these fisheries tend to concentrate on fewer temperate species, notably the much diminished, but once very abundant Brazilian sardine (Sardinella brasiliensis)7. Conversely, in the tropical northern states of Brazil, the fisheries exploit a diverse array of tropical species, most of which have not been assessed as to their status (Freire et al. 2007).

One of the key issues plaguing Brazilian fisheries is the fact that there are many national and state

fisheries agencies, which may collaborate in varying degrees, but have not settled on a standardized list of common names for the fish whose catches they report. This results in national catch statistics that are even more unreliable than catch statistics in biodiverse tropical/subtropical countries usually are (Freire and Pauly 2003, 2005).

⁶ This introduction is adapted from Pauly *et al.* (2012b).

⁷ The scientific name of this species has changed a few times in the last decades. We stick here to the original name, which seems to be the 'right' one anyway.

To address this issue of taxonomic inaccuracy and the other problems associated with reported landings data mentioned above (e.g., missing data, erroneous reporting, estimation of discarding, etc.), a reconstruction of Brazilian catches is underway. Currently, however, the best available data remain the FAO reported landings that have been spatialized by the *Sea Around Us* Project. Therefore, the analyses and indicators presented here must be viewed with caution and be used only tentatively to estimate the status of Brazilian fisheries.

Moreover, while there are numerous publications on Brazilian marine biodiversity, there is, in Brazil a scarcity of fish stock assessment. The only exception to this may be the Brazilian sardine (*Sardinella brasiliensis*), which has received a lot of attention because of the strong fluctuations of its biomass and catches (Cergole *et al.* 2002), and also because this stock occurs in the south of the country, off the coast of São Paulo state, where living standards are higher than along the more northern shores of Brazil, with consequent effects for fisheries research.

Because of this socio-economic gradient, the fisheries of north and northeastern Brazil are understudied, which is aggravated by the large number of exploited species, as occur in other tropical regions of the world. In recent years, however, this situation is slowly being resolved through an improvement of catch statistics (Freire 2003), including the nomenclatural problems associated with these statistics (Freire and Pauly 2003, 2005). This has enabled detecting the occurrence of the 'fishing down' phenomenon in northeastern Brazil (Freire and Pauly 2010), and constructing ecosystem models (Freire *et al.* 2008), on whose basis it became possible to identify elements of what could become an ecosystem-based management plan for the fisheries of northeastern Brazil (Freire *et al.* 2007).

Catch-MSY method for Brazilian stocks

For Brazil, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 60 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 49 % when considering all 41 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 3). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 3. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Brazil catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Brazilian sardinella	41,436	192,539	0.22
Whitemouth croaker	39,376	42,384	0.93
Argentine hake	3,315	11,776	0.28
Atlantic seabob	13,017	12,189	1.07
Chola guitarfish	1,029	9,875	0.10
Chub mackerel	4,448	13,688	0.32
Argentine croaker	11,409	11,594	0.98
Brazilian menhaden	13,929	15,594	0.89
Caribbean spiny lobster	6,745	7,321	0.92
Southern red snapper	6,671	5,225	1.28
Bluefish	1,563	3,968	0.39
Dana's swimming crab	1,737	3,018	0.58
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.66 (0.40)
Average of 41 taxa (weighted)			0.80 (0.51)

Canada⁸

Constituting 41 % of the North American continental area, Canada spans a diverse territory from the north Pacific and Alaska to the west to the North Atlantic in the east and from the Arctic Ocean in the north to the northern border of the U.S. The country extends from 141°W in the west to 52°37′W in the east, and from 41°41′N in the south to the North Pole in the north, and covers a total of 9,984,670 km², including a marine EEZ of 2,755,564 km² and a continental shelf area of 2,363,381 km², and covering six LMES (Figure 5). Commercial fisheries occur in the Pacific and Atlantic, while fishing activities in the Arctic are limited to subsistence fishing.



Figure 5. Map of Canada showing the 200 nm EEZ and all maritime states. The Canadian EEZ is part of six LMEs: clockwise from the west, the west coast of Canada falls within the Gulf of Alaska LME; Arctic Canada is within the Beaufort Sea LME, the Arctic Ocean LME, and the Hudson Bay LME; and eastern Canada falls within the Newfoundland-Labrador Shelf LME and the Scotian Shelf LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Yukon, British Columbia, Northwest Manitoba, Territories. Nunavut, Ontario, Quebec. Newfoundland and Labrador, New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island, and Nova Scotia, 1-11 respectively. The areas covered by ecological models are highlighted in red.

The Pacific coast of Canada is part of the Gulf of Alaska With significant system. upwelling associated with the Alaska Current generating zones with cold, nutrient-rich waters, the region supports a number of commercially important fisheries for crab (Cancer *magister*), shrimp (*Pandalus* borealis, P. jordani, P. danae, P. hypsinotus, P. goniurus, P. platyceros, and Pandalalopsis (Chlamys scallops dispar), hastata, C. rubida), walleye pollock (Theragra Pacific cod chalcogramma). (Gadus macrocephalus), rockfishes (Sebastes spp.), sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka), pink salmon (Oncorhynchus gorbuscha) and halibut (Hippoglossus stenolepis). In addition, the Pacific herring (*Clupea pallasii*) fishery is an important pelagic fishery in the Pacific, including the herring roe fishery targeting export markets in Asia.

Some stocks, such as Pacific halibut and petrale sole (*Eopsetta jordani*) have been

showing signs of increased abundance, and rockfish stocks depleted during the 1980s and 1990s are now managed under recovery plans. However, offshore Pacific hake (*Merluccius productus*), Pacific cod (*Gadus macrocephalus*) and sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) stocks are in decline. Pacific herring stocks are down all along the coast. Shellfish stocks are generally in good condition except for abalone. Pacific salmon returns in recent years have been quite depressed, with historically low returns in 2009. Many possible causes have been suggested, including reduced survival and deteriorating conditions of the freshwater environment due to climate change.

On the Atlantic coast, The Newfoundland–Labrador shelf extends from Labrador to the Grand Banks in the south. The ocean environment is influenced by several factors, including the Labrador Current, cross-shelf exchange with warmer continental slope water and bottom

⁸ This introduction was provided by Dr. L. Morissette (St. Lawrence Global Observatory, Rimouski), who is the lead author of one of the catch reconstructions for Canada that will be completed in 2013.

topography and large seasonal and inter-annual variations, particularly in ice cover. The Gulf of St. Lawrence forms one of the most important estuarine shelves in the world. It is a stratified semi-enclosed sea connected to the North Atlantic Ocean through the Cabot Strait to the southeast and the Strait of Belle-Isle to the northeast. The bathymetry of the Gulf is dominated by the Laurentian Channel, which divides the Gulf into two very distinct systems: the deep northern Gulf, characterized by a number of deep channels with depths greater than 200 m, and the southern Gulf represented by a shallow shelf, the Magdalen Shallows, with depths mostly less than 100 m. The eastern Scotian Shelf is a broad continental shelf made up of a number of shallow offshore banks and deeper inner basins. It extends from the Laurentian Channel in the northeast to a line from Halifax south to the shelf break in the southwest. The physical environment of the eastern Scotian Shelf is governed by two primary factors: its location, near the meeting place of major currents of the Northwest Atlantic, the Labrador Current and the shelf current which brings cool fresh water from the Gulf of St. Lawrence; and its complex topography.

The eastern Canadian waters, and principally the Newfoundland-Labrador Shelf, were home to the one of the most important fisheries in the world, the Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) fishery. The Grand Banks, the continental shelf east of Newfoundland, has been fished since the 1400s by fleets from many fishing nations of Europe, and by the 1600s from North America. The Atlantic cod fishery was the basis of economic activities in Newfoundland before the stock underwent a well-documented collapse in the late 1980s to early 1990s, ending with the moratorium on commercial fishing in 1992, imposed on a number of stock management areas by the Canadian government in order to promote recovery of the depleted populations. The Scotian Shelf ecosystem supported rich and diverse bottom fish communities including cod, haddock (Melanogrammus aeglefinus), pollock (Pollachius virens), silver hake (Merluccius bilinearis), halibut (Hippoglossus hippoglossus), white hake (Urophycis tenuis) and turbot (Scophthalmus maximus). The system, however, experienced a major shift in environmental conditions, particular a major cooling of the bottom waters in the mid-1980s. The system has since undergone major structural changes in the fish community, with a decline in groundfish populations, while small pelagic species and invertebrate species have increased. The Gulf of St. Lawrence also has a history of high disturbances due to heavy exploitation by the commercial fishing industry, the most recent being a steep decline in Atlantic cod abundance in the late 1980s and early 1990s.

During the period that the moratorium was in place, a modest improvement in mature cod abundance was observed in Canadian Atlantic waters. Since the re-opening of directed cod fisheries in the two ecosystems, mature cod biomass has remained roughly constant. Since the collapse of the Atlantic cod fishery, the composition of the marine fisheries landings in Canada are composed of shrimp (*Pandalus* spp.) and crabs (30 %), small pelagic species (27 %), bottomfishes (25 %) and shellfishes and other invertebrates (13 %). Salmon, though small in terms of the share of the total catch, constitutes an important fishery in the Pacific. The Atlantic fisheries account for over 80 % of the total catch, with the Pacific accounting for the remaining 20 %. Fisheries in the Arctic are conducted strictly on a subsistence basis and no catches are reported (Booth and Watts 2007; Zeller *et al.* 2011a).

Scientific and management advice is mainly implemented by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans of Canada (DFO), but also by provincial entities such as the Ministry of Agriculture (Provincial aquaculture and commercial fisheries program) in the Pacific area, the Departments of Fisheries and Aquaculture in Newfoundland, Nova Scotia, the Department of Agriculture, Aquaculture and Fisheries of New Brunswick, and the *Ministère Agriculture Pêcheries et Alimentation* of Québec. In addition, Canada collaborates in several international organizations, such as the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), the North Atlantic Fisheries Organization (NAFO), the Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission (IATTC), the International Commission for the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (ICCAT), the North Atlantic Salmon Conservation Organization (NASCO), the North Pacific Salmon Conservation Organization (NPAFC), and the Western and Central Pacific Fisheries Commission (WCPFC).

Catch-MSY method for Canadian (Arctic) stocks

For the Canadian Arctic, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 54 % when considering the top 10 landed species, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 4). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 4. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Canadian Arctic catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Charr	842.98	1,667.17	0.51
Atlantic salmon	34.00	160.82	0.21
Fourhorn sculpin	2.45	8.80	0.28
Greenland halibut	3.55	11.06	0.32
Dolly varden	0.83	2.95	0.28
Northern prawn	10.02	8.24	1.22
Arctic cisco	0.07	0.21	0.33
Saffron cod	0.03	0.16	0.19
Polar cod	0.12	0.10	1.16
Sardine cisco	0.01	0.01	0.92
Average of top 12 (weighted)			
Average of 10 taxa (weighted)			0.54 (0.46)

Catch-MSY method for Canadian (Atlantic) stocks

For the Canadian Atlantic, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 57 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 51 % when considering all 70 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 5).

Table 5. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Canadian Atlantic catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Atlantic cod	258,785	725,419	0.36
Atlantic herring	199,855	246,070	0.81
Silver hake	18,251	76,689	0.24
American sea scallop	77,806	80,299	0.97
Capelin	21,978	76,310	0.29
Haddock	16,048	94,206	0.17
American lobster	50,749	46,056	1.10
American plaice	4,454	30,917	0.14
Northern prawn	121,027	94,235	1.28
Queen crab	92,934	76,749	1.21
Saithe	9,560	30,705	0.31
Atlantic mackerel	50,309	42,340	1.19
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.67 (0.43)
Average of 70 taxa (weighted)			0.81 (0.49)

Model results for Canadian (Atlantic) ecosystems

We used the Gulf of Saint Lawrence model (Morissette *et al.* 2006) as a representation of Canadian Atlantic ecosystems. The original model covers 103,812 km² of the Canadian EEZ. The study area was the northern Gulf of St. Lawrence (Northwest Atlantic Fisheries Organization divisions 4RS) between 50° and 46° N and 68° W and 56° W (Figure 5). The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1985 to 2009.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy*, both in terms of most targeted species and in terms of all catch (Table 6, Figure 6a). Under the *optimization* simulations, the overall catch is also slightly higher. The average fishing mortality from 1985 to 2009 is higher in the *allFmsy* simulations with respect to the historical trajectory and similar between the historical exploitation period and the *optimization* simulation (Figure 6b).

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 41-54 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, the catch could only be increased by 3 % when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass.

	C	atch (t·km-2·	Catch:MSY		
Exploited species/groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Large cod	0.0200	0.8700	0.680	0.020	0.030
Small cod	0.0040	0.0050	0.001	0.80	3.410
Large Greenland halibut	0.0001	0.0300	0.030	0.002	0.002
American plaice	0.0900	0.0500	0.020	1.800	3.660
Flounders	0.0400	0.0400	0.010	1.200	4.190
Redfish	1.0100	0.4400	0.330	2.300	3.010
Large demersals	0.0600	0.0002	0.020	>100.000	3.500
Capelin	0.0600	0.1600	0.030	0.400	2.170
Large pelagics	0.0050	0.0010	0.002	3.700	2.810
Planktiv. small pelagics	0.2700	0.2300	0.240	1.200	1.120
Shrimp	0.1200	0.3400	0.090	0.300	1.370
Large crustaceans	0.0800	0.1000	0.050	0.800	1.690
Molluscs	0.0800	0.1700	0.040	0.500	2.080
Total catch (sp table)	1.8300	2.4300	1.550	0.750	1.180
Total catch*	1.5200	2.5700	1.570	0.590	0.970

Table 6. Catch rate from the historical exploitation period from the Canadian Atlantic ecosystem (1: *baseline*) and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 19

Fisheries for food security



Figure 6. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch/sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years for the Canadian Atlantic ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Catch-MSY method for Canadian (Pacific) stocks

For the Canadian Pacific, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 62 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 56% when considering all 36 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 7).

for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.					
Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY		
Alaska Pollack	27,621	104,229	0.26		
Pacific herring	16,784	50,077	0.34		
North Pacific hake	65,354	56,451	1.16		
Pacific cod	8,322	18,068	0.46		
Pink salmon	9,037	21,334	0.42		
Pacific ocean perch	5,686	9,016	0.63		
Yellowfin sole	2,750	18,286	0.15		
Chum salmon	3,757	13,781	0.27		
Sablefish	4,350	6,403	0.68		
Sockeye salmon	1,667	13,934	0.12		
Arrowtooth flounder	5,643	5,533	1.02		
Coho salmon	235	7,038	0.03		
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.46 (0.38)		
Average of 36 taxa (weighted)			0.53 (0.44)		

Table 7. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Canadian Pacific catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with overall straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Model results for Canadian (Pacific) ecosystems

We used the British Columbia Shelf model (Preikshot 2007) as a representation of Canadian Pacific ecosystems. It covers 150,000 km² and is located between 54° and 48°N and 134°W and 122° W (Figure 5). The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1950 to 2002.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under both *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, both in terms of most targeted species and in terms of all catch (Table 8, Figure 7a). The average fishing mortality from 1950 to 2002 is similar in the *optimization* simulations with respect to the historical trajectory and larger for the *allFmsy* simulation (Figure 7b).

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 49-56 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, the catch could only be increased by 11 % when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass.

Exploited	С	atch (t·km ⁻² ·	Catch:MSY		
species/groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Pacific cod juveniles	0.001	0.004	0.001	0.3	1.6
Pacific cod adults	0.010	0.080	0.030	0.1	0.4
Sablefish juveniles	0.003	0.001	0.010	1.9	0.5
Sablefish adults	0.020	0.005	0.020	5.4	1.6
Pollock juveniles	0.001	0.010	0.002	0.2	0.9
Pollock adults	0.060	0.030	0.010	2.0	8.3
Herring adults	0.620	1.010	0.920	0.6	0.7
Chum	0.200	0.230	0.160	0.9	1.3
Sockeye	0.090	0.110	0.090	0.8	1.0
Coho	0.060	0.100	0.060	0.6	1.1
Pacific ocean perch	0.010	0.030	0.020	0.5	0.6
Pacific hake	2.73E-14	0.240	0.210	0.0	0.0
Rock sole	0.003	0.010	0.003	0.4	1.1
Flatfish other	0.040	0.140	0.020	0.3	2.0
Total catch (sp table)	1.130	1.990	1.530	0.57	0.74
Total catch*	1.940	3.770	2.170	0.51	0.89

Table 8. Catch rate (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period from the Canadian Pacific ecosystem (1: *baseline*) and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 33



Figure 7. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years for the Canadian Pacific ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.
Chile⁹

The Republic of Chile is located in South America. The narrow, elongated shape of Chilehas resulted in a population with strong ties to the sea (Figure 8). Indeed, although nationally, fishing accounts for only 0.4 % of the GDP, dwarfed by mining, Chile's overall landings in 2010 were the



Figure 8. Map of Chile showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime regions, and the EEZs of the Desventuradas, Juan Fernandez and Ambrosia, and Easter Islands. (The shaded area indicates an area also claimed by Peru). Numbers correspond to maritime regions: Arica, Tarapaca, Antofagasta, Atacama, Coquimbo, Valaparaiso, Libertador, Maule, Biobio, Araucania, Los Rios, Los Lagos, Aisen, and Magallanes, respectively, 1-14 respectively.

seventh largest in the world (OEDC 2012). In addition to the mainland EEZ, which encompasses approximately 2,009,000 km², Chile holds several oceanic islands: the **Desventuradas Islands (EEZ** area: 449,800 km²) 850 km from the Chilean coast, the Juan Fernandez, Felix and Ambrosio Islands (EEZ area: 502,500 km²) 890 km west of Chile, and Easter Island (EEZ area: 720,400 km²), which is known as the most remote inhabited island, and is located over 3,500 km from Chile in the central south Pacific. For this report, the Chile's oceanic islands are not considered, except with reference to their MPAs.

Mainland Chile is divided into 15 administrative 'regions'. all but one of which border the coast, and each with its own governor. The northern regions include Arica, Tarapaca, Antofagasta, Atacama, Coquimbo, and Valaparaiso (Figure 8, 1-6). while the southern states include Libertador, Maule, Biobio. Araucania. Los Rios. Los Lagos, Aisen, and Magallanes (Figure 8, 7-14).

In terms of biology and biodiversity, marine scientists consider Chile's EEZ as consisting of four main regions: the north, central, southern and austral zones, each characterized by specific environmental and biological conditions (Peña-Torres 1997).

The mainland EEZ component largely overlaps with the southern half of the Humboldt Current LME. The Eastern Boundary Humboldt Current (EBHC) is recognized as one of the largest and most productive marine ecosystems in the world (Mann and Lazier 1991), and is highly variable due to El Niño events. The EBHC is a classical eastern boundary zone (Parrish *et al.* 1983; Werner *et al.* 2008), where strong coastal winds drive water northward and off the coast, which results in upwelling of deeper nutrient-rich waters and allows for an extraordinarily strong primary production (Carr and Kearns 2003). The large amount of plankton in this region allows, in turn,

⁹ This introduction is adapted from Pauly *et al.* (2012b).

for a high abundance of zooplankton, which eventually translates to fish and other vertebrates, i.e., seabirds and marine mammals.

Thus Chile, similar to Peru, which occupies the northern part of the Humboldt Current LME, is one of the richest countries in the world in terms of marine fisheries resources. The high fish catches that this allows, however, are concentrated on a few species, notably forage fish, sardine and anchovy, as well as chub and horse mackerel – most of which are fed to reduction plants, i.e., turned into fishmeal and related products¹⁰. Pelagic species represent 85 % of the total catch, with anchovies and South American pilchards comprising 65 % of the total catch. Demersal species account for only 3.6 % of the total catch and include species such as Pacific hake and Patagonian grenadier. These species are of higher value and are exported as frozen or chilled seafood products (Hugo Arancibia, Universidad de Concepcion, Chile, pers. comm.). Overall, an average of 4.76 million t-year⁻¹ were landed in the last decade. While artisanal fisheries have increased their catch, the catch of the industrial fisheries have declined, such that overall landings have decreased by an estimated 17 % in the last decade (SONAPESCA 2008; CENDEC 2010).

Fisheries in Chile consist of large-scale industrial fisheries and small-scale artisanal fisheries. Industrial fisheries operate vessels greater than 18 m in length, and correspondingly, small-scale (or artisanal) fisheries refer to landings from vessels under 18 meters in length and with a hold capacity not exceeding 80 m³. Both industrial and artisanal fishers must be registered with the National Registry of Industrial Fisheries (NRIF) and National Registry of Artisanal Fisheries (NRAF), respectively.

In terms of volume, the main Chilean industrial fishing activities are related to pelagic resources, both in the north and central part of the country. In the northern regions, anchovy account for most of the landings, followed by jack mackerel and American mackerel (OEDC 2009). The largest quantities of mackerel and sardine are caught in central and southern Chile. Up to 80 % percent of the industrial landings are used by the local fishmeal industry to produce premium fishmeal and fish oil directed to salmon aquaculture, while the rest is exported chilled or frozen. In 1994, landings reached a historic record of 7.5 million tonnes and declined since, particularly since 2004, and reaching 3.55 million tonnes in 2010.

A relatively recent development is that Inca scad (*Trachurus murphyi*) and chub mackerel (*Scomber japonicus*) are also caught in increasing quantities outside of the Chilean EEZ, which has required the deployment of large vessels with adequate autonomy and refrigeration capacities. The rest of the industrial fleet is composed of several factory vessels, which are allowed to fish only in the Austral zone and in international waters, and which target South Pacific hake, conger eels and 'Chilean seabass' (=Patagonian toothfish, *Dissostichus eleginoides*) for local consumption and export (OEDC 2012; Hugo Arancibia, pers. comm.).

Artisanal fisheries are widely practiced along the Chilean coastline, with participation having substantially increased in the past 10 years. Today these fisheries contribute to almost half (46 %) of the fish and crustacean landings in the country. Artisanal fisheries land their products in coastal villages ('*caletas*') or at wharfs, most of the latter located in rural areas where most livelihoods depend directly on fishing (CENDEC 2010). Historically, artisanal fisheries have targeted shell-fish such as 'Chilean abalone' or '*loco*' (*Concholepas concholepas*, a snail species), mussels, and demersal fish (Gelcich *et al.* 2005). Most of the artisanal landings are used for local consumption since most of the *caletas* lack freezing capacity. The remaining portion of the artisanal landings are directly sold to seafood exporters.

Artisanal fishers are required to register with the NRAF in the particular area where they reside and can only operate in that area. They are allocated exclusive rights to 5 nm from the coastline. The most southern regions are also allowed to fish in 'interior marine waters', i.e., as waters out to 12 nm, but industrial fisheries are not. Artisanal fishers are typically allocated free access to these zones, but once the stock is considered 'fully exploited', access can be limited (OEDC 2009).

¹⁰ As required by a large (and problem-ridden) salmon-farming industry, not covered here.

As a result of the overexploitation of benthic resource such as Chilean abalone or *loco*, an areabased cooperative system was introduced after the fishery was officially closed in 1989. This new form of management was established in 1997 and established the Management Areas for the Exploitation of Benthic Resources (MAERB). Through this policy, the Undersecretary of Fisheries (SUBPESCA) gives formal property rights to certain natural resources in defined geographical areas of the seabed to registered syndicates. This includes the right to exclude non-members from exploiting that area of the seabed (Gelcich *et al.* 2005). After this measure was established, the stocks recovered, and now provide steady income for some 50,000 artisanal fishers (Anon. 2012). This policy model is now a global example of successful property rights management in fisheries.

However, the current fishery and aquaculture legislation ('*Ley General de acuicultura y pesca*) expires at the end of 2012 and the government has yet to decide on a more permanent solution. Moreover, as artisanal fisheries have grown in importance, the government is realizing the need to regulate the artisanal fleet. As an initial step, an official distinction is being made between medium-sized boats (those between 12 and 18 meters in length) and boats that are less than 12 meters long. The medium-sized boats represent only 10 % of the artisanal fleet, but account for 90 % of its catch. Other measures include the mandatory installation of satellite transponders in the vessels at the owner's expense (<u>http://www.businesschile.cl/en/news/cover-story/fishing-chile-race-against-time</u>).

The new laws will create scientific committees which will intervene in the decision making process of quota allocations of the marine resources. The inclusion of scientific committees in the decision making process of quota allocation was part of a proposal given by *Oceana* to the Ministry of Economy in 2010. *Oceana* also proposed a new mechanism for quota allocation: (1) scientific recommendations must be respected when quotas are allocated; (2) the setting of global quotas must not be influenced by any fishing actors; (3) there must be transparency in the decision making process, and (4) scientific committees must include participants such as universities, NGOs and any competent organization that could enhance the knowledge about the stocks and the overall biology of the resource being assessed¹¹. This proposal represents a major step forward for Chilean fisheries.

There have been several other successful policy and environmental campaigns in Chile over the past decade in which *Oceana* played a key role. In July 2001, a national ban on shark-finning was implemented. A multi-year campaign to raise the awareness about the overfishing of jack mackerel resulted in a considerable quota reduction in October 2010. Also, several marine reserves were established, including the world's fourth largest marine reserve around Salas y Gomez Islands in the Pacific and a reserve in Northern Chile to protect endangered Humboldt penguins, which was established in an area where a power plant was to be built.

¹¹ www.pescaaldia.cl/entrevistas/?doc=458.

Catch-MSY method for Chilean stocks

For Chile, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 32 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 30% when considering all 48 taxa, given fishing at single-species F_{MSY} (Table 9). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Anchoveta	1,350,734	1,430,434	0.94
South American pilchard	67,995	1,176,783	0.06
Inca scad	484,698	455,661	1.06
Araucanian herring	347,430	363,157	0.96
Patagonian grenadier	88,314	97,444	0.91
Chub mackerel	257,976	197,302	1.31
South Pacific hake	27,616	44,806	0.62
Chilean sea urchin	36,196	40,522	0.89
Taca clam	15,809	23,260	0.68
Southern hake	27,102	3,2417	0.84
Cholga mussel	6,400	10,806	0.59
Southern blue whiting	26,780	25,017	1.07
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.83 (0.68)
Average of 48 taxa (weighted)			0.71 (0.70)

Table 9. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Chilean catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

China¹²

The Chinese EEZ, which is the 15th largest in the world at 2,285,872.49 km², spans across three LMEs, the Yellow Sea and the East China Sea, both highly productive ecosystems, and the South China Sea, a moderately productive ecosystem (Figure 9). China has areas of disputed claims in the East China Sea over the Senkaku/Diaoyu Islands (with Japan and Taiwan) and the Socotra Rock (with the Republic of Korea) and in the South China Sea over the Spratly Islands (with Taiwan, Vietnam, Malaysia, Brunei and the Philippines), the Paracel Islands (with Taiwan and



Figure 9. Map of China showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and disputed regions (cross-hatch). The Chinese EEZ is part of three LMEs: the Yellow Sea LME, the East China Sea LME, and the South China Sea LME, from north to south. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Liaoning, Hebel, Tianjin, Shandong, Jiangsu, Shanghai, Zhejiang, Fujian, Guangdong, Guangxi, and Hainan, 1-11 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red.

Vietnam), the Pratas Islands (with Taiwan), the Macclesfield Bank (with Taiwan and the Philippines), and the Scarborough Shoals (with Taiwan and the Philippines). A large section of the South China Sea is thus disputed, making management of the fisheries in the area politically charged and difficult.

The Yellow Sea contains 10 major estuaries, including the Yangtze and Huanghe Rivers, which provide nutrient-rich waters to the ecosystem. The region is the largest shallow continental shelf in the world with an average depth of less than 50 m, supporting welldeveloped multi-species fisheries with about 100 species of fish, squid and that crustaceans are commercially fished. The ecosystem has been exploited by fishing vessels from China, Korea and Japan for centuries, targeting stocks such as Pacific saury (Cololabis saira), chub mackerel (Scomber japonicus), largehead hairtail (*Trichiurus lepturus*), Japanese anchovy (*Éngraulis japonicus*), yellow croaker (Larimichthys polvactis) and Japanese flying squid (Todarodes pacificus).

Further south, the East China Sea is a vast, semi-enclosed ecosystem, bordered by the Ryukyu Islands and the Taiwan Strait. It is a highly productive region with shallow coastal waters providing spawning and nursery grounds for many

¹² This introduction was assembled from material in Pang and Pauly (2001) and Pauly *et al.* (2012a).

species of pelagic fish, including some stocks of tunas and swordfishes. About 200 species of finfishes and invertebrates are commercially exploited in the region.

The South China Sea has relatively shallow coastal waters (less than 200 m) with the South China Sea Basin and Palawan Through running through the middle at depth over 1,000 m. Over 100 rivers drain into the region and primary productivity is governed by river run-off and seasonal monsoons. Productivity of the South China Sea is also sensitive to the El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO), which drives rainfall patterns in the region. Main target species include large pelagics such as tuna, billfish and sharks, and a large array of demersal fish and invertebrates, especially penaeid shrimp. The landings are dominated by small coastal pelagic fishes such as herring, sardine and anchovy.

The Chinese marine capture fisheries experienced considerable growth since the founding of the People's Republic of China, in 1949 (here referred to as 'China', and excluding Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau). However, this growth was irregular, due to a series of political crises, and the ensuing recoveries. The major steps in this uneven development are: (a) Postwar Recovery (1949-1952); (b) First 5-Year Plan (1953-1957); (c) Second 5-Year Plan/Great Leap Forward (1958-1962); (d) Three-Year Re-Adjustment Period (1963-1966); (e) Cultural Revolution and Aftermath (1966-1978); and (f) Return to normalcy and growth (1978-present). However, the official Chinese fisheries statistics, as submitted to FAO, reflect the changes and upheavals that went along with these events only imperfectly, if at all.

Few records are available from the Postwar Recovery Period. Overall landings for this period appeared to have increased rapidly, starting from a base of about 0.6 million t in 1950 and reaching one million t in 1952, most of it caught by non-motorized coastal vessels (Sarhage and Lundbeck 1992). The growth momentum established during the postwar recovery period continued through the First 5-Year Plan, nominal landings increasing to about 1.7 million t in 1955. However, Sarhage and Lundbeck (1992, p. 214) note that, "early statistics were rather inaccurate," suggesting, "it is possible that the catches before 1958 were higher than indicated." Be it as it may, the established trends of increases in fishing effort and landings did not continue in the following period: what was to be the Second 5-Year Plan turned into the Great Leap Forward, itself ending in a catastrophic decline of production in literally all sectors of the Chinese economy, leading to widespread famines accentuated by a series of droughts and other calamities (Hunter and Sexton 1999). Official statistics from this period reflect this as stagnating landings, continuing during the subsequent Three-Year Re-adjustment Period (see e.g., Fig. 113 in Sarhage and Lundbeck 1992). Throughout the 1960s, nominal landings remained around 2 million t and Chinese fishers targeted relatively large and valuable demersal and benthopelagic species, such as large and small yellow croakers, flounder and other flatfish, pollock and cuttlefish. Nominal fisheries catches did increase during the Cultural Revolution and its aftermath, but rather slowly. This is not a surprise, given the turmoil prevailing during the Cultural Revolution (Hunter and Sexton 1999; Lippit 2000), also known as "ten years of disasters." Indeed, various fisheries were closed during this period, to prevent victims of the Cultural Revolution, and/or even disillusioned fish workers, to use fishing vessels to leave the country.

By the late 1970s, the economically important species targeted during the previous period had been largely depleted (see below for the example of large yellow croaker), and species such as filefishes, and herring, which had been spurned earlier, became the target of directed fisheries, and contributing increasingly to total landings.

However, overall economic growth started to pick up as successive reforms were launched, the first of these, promulgated in 1978, being devoted to the agricultural and fisheries sectors (Blecher 2000). In its first stage (1978-1984), this reform abolished the People's Commune system that had been in place since 1958, and replaced it with a 'household contract responsibility' system that linked remuneration to output. However, nominal landings grew only 1.2 %, from 3.5 million t in 1976 to 3.9 million t in 1985.

Indeed, this period bracketed a net decline in nominal catches, from about 1978 to the early

1980s. A government report of 1979 on the state of the country's fisheries pointed out that the expansion of bottom trawling and stake nets had depleted the resources, and induced the collapse of several species. That same report called for a stabilization of overall fishing effort at current levels, the replacement of trawling by gillnetting and other fixed gear, etc. Given the manifest decline of China's own coastal resources, this report also suggested distant water fishing as outlet for its excess fishing capacity, and as source of fish. The conservation measures proposed in that report were not implemented, but the expansion into distant water fishing was (Mathew 1999).

By the end of the 20th century, China had become a major distant-water fishing nation. However, at first, China was lacking the specialized vessels required for distant-water fishing, and the infrastructure required for supplying such vessels. Thus, initially, China simply 'exported' its coastal fleet, mainly consisting of bottom trawlers, to the waters of foreign countries it could operate in (Pang and Pauly 2001)

At the onset of the 21st century, however, Chinese distant-water fisheries had changed, with specialized 'catcher' vessels (bottom trawlers still, but also purse seiners, squid jiggers, longliners, etc.) linked to motherships delivering their catch to strategically located freezer facilities, and supplying local, international and domestic markets. These are all remarkable achievements in technology, logistics, and business, mirroring other sectors of the Chinese economic expansion into the rest of Asia (Gaulier *et al.* 2007), Africa (Zafar 2007; Beuret *et al.* 2008), Latin America (Ferchen 2012) and Oceania (Wesley-Smith 2007).

Unfortunately, what did not improve in the transition to the 21st century – occasionally seen as the start of an age of transparency (Sifry 2011) – is the tendency toward secrecy in fisheries data, and the near complete disregard for public accountability of the use of public fisheries resources. Thus, there are no publically accessible databases of access agreements between China (or Chinese companies) and the countries in the Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) where Chinese fishing vessels operate, unlike the European Union (EU), which provides in its law database¹³ all texts related to fishing access agreements with other countries, even if the agreements themselves are often questionable (Kaczynski and Fluharty 2002; Kalaidjian 2010). Therefore, the activities and catches of the Chinese distant-water fleets are almost completely undocumented and unreported, often spanning the entire gamut of activities implied by the 'IUU' acronym (Bray 2000).

A related problem is posed by the Chinese fisheries statistics. The factors which cause China to massively over-report the catch of its domestic marine fisheries (Watson and Pauly 2001) were discussed in Pang and Pauly (2001), and essentially are a perverse result of a planned centralized economy that rewards individuals for appearing to fulfill the plan (thus providing a powerful incentive for over-reporting production), combined with the absence of an independent statistical system.

¹³ <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu</u>

Catch-MSY method for Chinese stocks

For China, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 24 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 17 % when considering all 91 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 10).

Table 10. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Chinese catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with straight and weighted averages by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Largehead hairtail	939,776	1,006,021	0.93
Akiami paste shrimp	675,109	569,968	1.18
Japanese anchovy	656,347	804,683	0.82
Chub mackerel	174,563	207,103	0.84
Large yellow croaker	65,790	155,966	0.42
Gazami crab	300,363	254,501	1.18
South American pilchard	74,789	171,853	0.44
Southern rough shrimp	320,440	250,980	1.28
Alaska Pollack	2,867	58,672	0.05
Daggertooth pike conger	284,238	178,454	1.59
Yellow croaker	191,270	173,943	1.10
Flathead mullet	59,923	70,663	0.85
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.89 (0.76)
Average of 91 taxa (weighted)			0.57 (0.83)

Model results for Chinese ecosystems

We used the northern shelf of the South China Sea model (Cheung 2007a) as a representation of Chinese marine ecosystems. The original model covers 150,000 km² of the EEZ, including the continental shelf (i.e., areas less than 200 m depth) between 106°53'-119°48' E to 17°10'-25°52' N (Figure 9), and it had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1973 to 1988.

The *baseline* simulation results show higher catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under *allFmsy* simulation, both in terms of most targeted species and in terms of all catch (Table 11., Figure 10a). The average fishing mortality from 1973 to 1988 is higher in the historical exploitation regime than in both *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations (Figure 10b).

For China, we note a divergence between the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses, as the catch could not be increased when we account for fishing at F_{MSY} or optimal management, which includes fishing at F_{MSY} , biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass. Several explanations for this divergence exist, including the extremely low taxonomic resolution of Chinese fisheries statistics and the fact that the time periods of analysis for the catch-based and the ecosystem model are quite different. Also, the domestic catch of China is known to be grossly over-reported (Watson and Pauly 2001).

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)		Catch:M	ISY	
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Shrimps	0.470	0.17	0.07	2.7	6.7
Crabs	1.680	0.05	0.02	31.9	82.4
Threadfin bream (nemipterids)	0.100	0.22	0.10	0.5	1.0
Lizard fish (synodontids)	0.020	0.23	0.15	0.1	0.1
Juvenile hairtail (trichiurids)	0.010	0.01	0.01	0.3	0.7
Adult hairtail (trichiurids)	0.001	0.04	0.03	0.0	0.0
Croakers (< 30cm)	0.040	0.07	0.03	0.7	1.4
Juvenile large croakers	0.010	0.02	0.02	0.5	0.6
Croakers (> 30 cm)	1.96E-06	0.05	0.07	0.0	0.0
Demersal fish (< 30 cm)	0.520	0.39	0.18	1.3	2.9
Juvenile demersal fish (> 30 cm)	0.040	0.05	0.03	0.9	1.3
Adult demersal fish (> 30 cm)	6.26E-06	0.09	0.10	0.0	0.0
Benthopelagic fish	0.270	0.14	0.06	1.9	4.4
Pelagic fish (< 30cm)	0.180	0.99	0.33	0.2	0.5
Juvenile large pelagic fish	0.050	0.02	0.02	1.9	3.1
Pelagic fish (>30 cm)	0.010	0.06	0.05	0.1	0.1
Total catch (sp table)	3.390	2.60	1.26	1.30	2.69
Total catch*	4.250	3.08	1.50	1.38	2.83

Table 11. Catch rate (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the Chinese ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 34



Figure 10. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years for the Chinese ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Denmark¹⁴

Denmark is located on the boundary of the Baltic and North Seas (Figure 11). Jutland, the main peninsula of Denmark, extends northward dividing the Skagerrak from the Kattegat, which connects to the Baltic Sea through the Danish Sound and Belts. The Danish archipelago is comprised of many islands, with the most easterly being Bornholm, some 180 km southeast of Copenhagen. Denmark has a total land area of approximately 43,000 km² and a population of about 5.4 million. Historically, Denmark controlled Greenland, Iceland, and the Faroe Islands, but ties between Iceland and Denmark were severed during WWII, and both the Faroe Islands and Greenland have since gained home rule. Denmark joined the European Union (EU) in 1973 and has a strong market economy.



Figure 11. Map of Denmark showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Danish EEZ is part of the North Sea LME to the west and the Baltic Sea LME to the east. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Nordjylland, Midtjylland, Syddanmark, Hovedstaden, and Sjaaelland, 1-5 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red.

Though fisheries contribute only 0.5 % of the GDP, they have been integral to the livelihoods of communities in north and west Jutland, and the island of Bornholm (Anon. 2007b). Detailed records of cod (Gadus morhua). salmon (Salmo salar). and herring (Clupea harengus) landings in Bornholm date as far back as the late 1800s (Bager et al. 2007). The Baltic Sea is the third most important fishing area for Denmark after the North Sea and the Skagerrak (Anon.

2007b). In 2006, Denmark's catches in the Baltic Sea amounted to approximately 12 % of the country's catches (Anon. 2007a).

Denmark's fisheries in the Baltic Sea can be divided into four categories: 1) the industrial sector for fishmeal and fish oil; 2) the commercial pelagic fishery for human consumption; 3) the commercial demersal fishery for human consumption; and 4) the marine recreational fishery (Anon. 2007b). Since the 1950s, the three main species targeted by Denmark in the Baltic Sea, according to the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES), have been sprat (*Sprattus sprattus*), cod, and herring.

Denmark has become the predominant industrial reduction fishing nation in the EU, producing the most fishmeal from both domestically caught and imported fish (Anon. 2007b). Nearly all that is produced is exported, and in the last decade Denmark's allocated quotas (of the Baltic's Total Allowable Catches [TACs]) have been reduced, further increasing reliance on imported fish for industrial reduction purposes. In the Baltic, the Danish fleet consists mostly of gillnetters, trawlers, and multi-purpose vessels. In 2006, the number of fishing vessels with homeports in the Baltic numbered approximately 1,400 (Anon. 2007a). Vessels operating in the industrial reduction fisheries for fishmeal/oil (targeting herring and sprat) as well as pelagics for human consumption (targeting herring and mackerel), are based mostly out of ports in North and West Jutland. Vessels targeting demersal species have traditionally operated out of ports in Bornholm

¹⁴ This introduction is adapted from the Danish catch reconstruction (Bale *et al.* 2010; Zeller *et al.* 2011c).

and currently target cod, whiting (*Merlangius merlangius*), haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*), hake (*Meluccius merluccius*), saithe (*Pollachius virens*), sole (*Solea solea*), plaice (*Pleuronectes platessus*), and flounder (*Platichthys flesus*), as well as lobster (*Homarus gammarus*) and prawns (Palaemon serratus; Anon. 2004). Prior to the 1970s, the majority of bycatch in the cod fishery was plaice; however in the 1980s, plaice stocks collapsed and other flatfish species including dab (*Limanda limanda*), flounder, turbot and brill (*Scopthalmus rhombus*) became the predominant bycatch from both trawl and gillnet fisheries targeting cod (ICES 1986, 1992).

Catch-MSY method for Danish stocks

For Denmark, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 43 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 38 % when considering all 65 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 12).

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Atlantic herring	92,517	138,583	0.67
European sprat	200,915	162,702	1.23
Atlantic cod	48,407	89,894	0.54
Blue mussel	76,819	63,105	1.22
European plaice	30,044	45,394	0.66
Norway pout	6,905	48,461	0.14
Atlantic mackerel	3,307	91,901	0.04
Whiting	2,056	38,178	0.05
Blue whiting	5,986	27,490	0.22
Haddock	5,700	24,832	0.23
Atlantic horse mackerel	2,342	16,012	0.15
Saithe	3,212	13,459	0.24
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.45 (0.57)
Average of 65 taxa (weighted)			0.75 (0.62)

Table 12. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Danish catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species. along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Model results for Danish ecosystems

We used the Baltic Sea model (Harvey *et al.* 2003) as a representation of Danish marine ecosystems. The Baltic Sea covers an area of 377,000 km² between 53° N and 66° N and 20° E and 26° E (Figure 7). The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1974 to 2000.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and optimization simulations (Table 13, Figure 12a). On the contrary, the average fishing mortality from 1974 to 2000 is higher in the historical exploitation regime than in both *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations (Figure 12b).

Table 13. Catch rate (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the Danish ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch	:MSY
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1 / 2	1/3
Juvenile sprat	3.57E-05	1.21E-16	3.42E-08	>100.0	>100.0
Juvenile herring	0.4300	0.25	0.200	1.7	2.1
Juvenile cod	0.0100	7.03E-13	0.003	>100.0	3.8
Adult sprat	0.0001	4.12E-11	1.49E-05	>100.0	9.4
Adult herring	5.11E-11	0.06	1.36E-05	7.92E-10	3.77E-06
Adult cod	0.3300	1.26	0.790	0.3	0.4
Salmon	1.30E-20	9.13E-21	1.11E-20	1.4	1.2
Total catch (sp table)	0.7700	1.57	0.990	0.5	0.8
Total catch*	0.7700	1.57	0.990	0.5	0.8

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 7



Figure 12. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Danish ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 38-51 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, the catch could only be increased by 22 % when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass.

Iceland¹⁵

Iceland is the second largest island in Europe (103,000 km²), located just under the Arctic Circle, stretching from the uninhabited volcanic island of Surtsey at 63°17N to the equally uninhabited island of Kolbeinsey at 67°08N (Figure 13). The closest neighbor is Greenland, 287 km away. The Icelandic EEZ borders Greenland in the west, Jan Mayen (Norway) in the north and the Faroe Islands (Denmark) in the east. Iceland is at the crossroad of two main oceanic ridges, which heavily influence the waters around Iceland by diverting ocean currents. The most important is the Scotland-Greenland ridge that separates cold deep Arctic waters from the warmer Atlantic waters. The total size of the EEZ is 758,000 km² and the continental shelf less than 500 m deep is 212,000 km².



Figure 13. Map of Iceland showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Icelandic EEZ is solely contained within the Iceland Shelf LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Vestfirðir, Vesturland, Höfuðborgarsvæði utan Reykjavíkur, Suðurnes, Norðurland vestra, Suðurland, Norðurland eystra, and Austurland, 1-8 respectively.

The productivity of Icelandic waters is moderately high, influenced both by temperature driven merging of sunlit surface waters with nutrient rich deep waters and the mixing of the cold and warm currents. The ocean major spawning grounds for most demersal stocks are in the warmer waters off southern the and western coasts. Most of them spawn in early spring, when the larvae are able to utilize the spring phytoand bloom. zooplankton while they drift to nursery areas. Although

many species live around Iceland, the ecosystem is dominated by rather few, but very abundant species. About 25 species are of commercial importance, but again only a handful dominate the catches. Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) has, until lately, provided more than half of the export earnings for Icelandic marine products.

The main groundfish fishing season was formally in the spring when large schools of cod and other gadoids migrated during the spawning season to shallower waters along the southwest coast. A large part of the catch was therefore fished during a very short period with gillnets. This has changed lately as the fisheries are now spread much more evenly over the year. Although the gillnet fishery has declined, longline fisheries have increased. Other important fishing areas are the northwest and southeast, where sharp boundaries between cool and warm currents create a great productivity. These are the most important feeding grounds for several large commercial stocks, most notably cod, saithe (*Pollachius virens*) and redfish (*Sebastes* spp.). The presence of commercially important species declines as one moves north. However, northern prawn (*Pandalus borealis*), capelin (*Mallotus villosus*) and Greenland halibut (*Reinhardtius hippoglossoides*) are fished in the far northern waters.

¹⁵ This introduction is adapted from the Icelandic catch reconstruction (Valtýsson 2001).

The highest catches come from a few pelagic species, which are characterized by strong fluctuations in stock size and migration routes. Herring (*Clupea harengus*) was caught in the highest volume until the 1960s when the stock collapsed. After the collapse, capelin was targeted, having been previously unfished. This fishery rapidly grew to around 1 million t annually, in some years surpassing the catch of all other species combined. Oceanic redfish (*Sebastes mentella*), blue whiting (*Micromesistius poutassou*), and Atlantic mackerel (*Scomber scombrus*) are newly developed pelagic fisheries.

The current distant water fleets fishing in Icelandic waters are based on reciprocal fishing rights (groundfish, redfish), shared stocks (capelin, herring, blue whiting and redfish) or lack of fishing knowledge, e.g., in the case of tuna. Except for the groundfish fisheries, these all occur at the fringes of the Icelandic EEZ; redfish in the southwest, tuna in the south, herring in the east and capelin in the north (Valtýsson 1998).

Catch-MSY method for Icelandic stocks

For Iceland, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 29 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 26 % when considering all 44 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 14). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 14. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Icelandic
catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species along with averages, straight
and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa,
e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Capelin	594,517	695,282	0.86
Atlantic cod	261,824	407,623	0.64
Atlantic herring	188,996	491,154	0.38
Blue whiting	356,468	225,823	1.58
Saithe	65,340	81,282	0.80
Haddock	78,360	85,075	0.92
Ocean perch	44,748	44,175	1.01
Deepwater redfish	24,979	12,706	1.97
Greenland halibut	12,789	16,491	0.78
Northern prawn	3,780	28,802	0.13
Wolf-fish	15,190	13,632	1.11
Ling	5,895	9,023	0.65
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.90 (0.71)
Average of 44 taxa (weighted)			0.71 (0.74)

India¹⁶

The Republic of India is located in South Asia and shares land borders with Pakistan on the west, China, Nepal, and Bhutan to the northeast, and Burma and Bangladesh to the east (Figure 14). India is the second most populous country in the world, with approximately 1.2 billion people (2011 census), representing 17.5 % of the total world population¹⁷. India covers a total land area of about 3.3 million km², with 28 States and 7 Union Territories, the latter under the direct authority of the central government (Arora and Grover 1996; Bhathal 2005). The west coast of India has 5 maritime States: Gujarat, Maharashtra, Goa, Karnataka, Kerala (Figure 14, 1-5) and two Union



Figure 14. Map of India showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime States and Union Territories, and the territorial EEZ of the islands of Andaman and Nicobar. The Indian EEZ is part of two LMEs: the Arabian Sea LME to the west and the Bay of Bengal LME to the east. Numbers correspond to maritime States: Gujarat, Maharashtra, Goa, Karnataka, Kerala, Tamil Nadu, Andhra Pradesh, Orissa, and West Bengal, 1-9 respectively.

Territories. Daman and Diu. and Lakshadweep. The east coast of India has 4 maritime States: Tamil Nadu. Andhra Pradesh. Orissa, and West Bengal (Figure 14. 6-9). The Union Territories include Pondicherry and Andaman and Nicobar Islands. The marine waters of India encompass LMEs, two the Arabian Sea along the west coast and the Bay of Bengal along the east coast. India's EEZ covers a total area of 1.63 million km² (including the Lakshadweep Islands on the west coast). Off the east coast. the EEZ of the Andaman and Nicobar Islands, covers a total area of 660,000 km² (www.seaaroundus. org) and represents

about 30 % of the total Indian EEZ. For the purposes of this study, we concentrate only on the fisheries of the mainland EZZ and do not evaluate the fisheries of Andaman and Nicobar Islands (but see Bhathal and Pauly 2008). As with most developing countries with vast coastlines, the rich resources of the surrounding ocean play an important role in the economy, diet, and culture of the Indian people.

The Indian Ocean is the warmest ocean in the world, resulting, via a strong, semi-permanent stratification, in low primary productivity in most regions. Despite this low productivity, the marine fishing sector in India has shown steady growth since India's independence in 1947. India

¹⁶ This introduction was adapted from Pauly *et al.* (2012b).

¹⁷ http://www.censusindia.gov.in/2011-prov-results/data_files/india/Final_PPT_2011_chapter3.pdf

declared its EEZ in 1976, and divided the EEZ into three regions: territorial waters, which extends out to 12 nm, the contiguous zone, which extends out to 24 nm, and the continental shelf, which extends out to 200 nm (Bhathal 2005). The west coast of India, also known as the 'Malabar coast', has a broader continental shelf and a relatively high primary production, and supports over 75 % of India's total fish landings (Bhathal 2005). The east coast of India, also known as 'Coromandel coast', has a much narrower shelf and primary and secondary production in the Bay of Bengal is much lower than the Arabian Sea. Still, there are nearly 4,000 fishing villages and 2,000 traditional landing centers along this coast (FAO 2004).

The waters off India host a wide diversity of marine resources targeted by artisanal fishers, some operating with century-old methods, and by large-scale industrial fishing operations which are disrupting coastal communities and their way of life, notably through intense competition for the same resources. In general, marine resources in India are targeted by four groups, operating various types of fishing vessels and gears: (1) artisanal fishers operating non-mechanized vessels, (2) artisanal fishers operating vessels with outboard motors (less than 50 hp) in inshore waters, (3) industrial fishers using vessels with inboard motors, and (4) industrial deep-sea vessels. Overall, there are approximately 1.45 million fishers in India and the bulk of marine fish landed (68 %) is taken by artisanal mechanized vessels (Funge-Smith *et al.* 2005). Trawling has emerged as the dominant gear for demersal resources and accounts for 50 % of the total Indian catch.

Valuable species such as Indian oil sardine (*Sardinella longiceps*), penaeid and non-penaeid shrimp, Indian mackerel (*Rastrelliger kanagurta*), Bombay duck (*Harpadon nehereus*), and croakers (*Micropogonias* spp.) are the preferred targets, although various types of commercial finfish are often caught as bycatch (Gordon 1991). Among the multitude of species contributing to the catch, one species, the Indian oil sardine (*Sardinella longiceps*) contributes the majority of the yields, although they fluctuate strongly (Longhurst and Pauly 1987).

The marine fisheries in India are regulated both by the Central and State Governments. Offshore fishing within the EEZ by domestic and foreign fleets is managed by the Central Government; however, there is no comprehensive fisheries legislation for fisheries within the EEZ (Bhathal 2005; Rajagopalan 2011). Fisheries within the 12 nm territorial waters fall under the jurisdiction of the States, which are responsible for managing and collecting official fisheries statistics under the *Marine Fishing Regulation Act* (MFRA; Bhathal 2005; Rajagopalan 2011). Along with the State governments, the Central Marine Fisheries Research Institute (CMFRI) estimates the annual fish landings by State and compiles the data for the entire country¹⁸. National catch statistics prior to 1994 were obtained through a rigorous stratified sampling procedure; however, since the mid-1990s, changes to the sampling program have caused the deterioration of India's marine production statistics (Bhathal and Pauly 2008).

India regularly reports commercial landings from the artisanal sector. However, industrial landings have historically been unreported. Bhathal (2005) estimated total catch by industrial vessels from 1972-2000, since the first commercial trawlers arrived in Indian waters and began operation in 1972 (Devaraj 1996). Industrial and mechanized vessel discards were also estimated, as they are rarely reported (Bhathal and Pauly 2008). However, these estimates were considered to be conservative compared to previous reports on bycatch and discards in India (Gordon 1991; Davies *et al.* 2009; Dineshbabu *et al.* 2010). Furthermore, it is likely that all bycatch was retained prior to 1970, as even low-value species had a market, resulting in negligible discarding during that time (Bhathal 2005).

An estimate of fishery extractions, including illegal and unreported catches from India can be found in Ganapathiraju (2012). Estimates of illegal fishing by Indian and foreign vessels, discards by industrial trawlers, subsistence fishing, and underreporting by the artisanal sector, such as bait fish, dry fish landings and harvest of molluscs, were sampled during a 2008 field study. Ganapathiraju (2012) conducted interviews with fishers from the small-scale and mechanized sector in 9 out of 10 coastal states, including the Andaman and Nicobar Islands. In addition to the

¹⁸ <u>http://www.cmfri.org.in/</u>

reported catch of about 3.1 million tonnes, Ganapathiraju's findings suggested that at least 1.5 million tonnes went unreported in 2008. The highest unreported catch (~1.2 million tonnes) was contributed by industrial discards. Subsistence fishing, which are generally missing from the catch statistics (Zeller *et al.* 2007), was estimated at 149,000 t·year-1 and underreported catch within the artisanal sector was estimated at 105,000 t·year-1 (details in Ganapathiraju 2012).

Through the 1970s, the non-mechanized sector fished primarily with hooks and lines, gillnets, seines, bag nets and traps, from catamarans, canoes and plank built boats. These vessels were gradually modified through the 1980s to hold outboard engines of 5-9 hp, in order to travel farther. Major endeavours were made to increase mechanization during the 1970s and 1980s, prompting the development of an industrial motorized fleets consisted of small trawlers, pair trawlers, purse seiners and gillnetters that could accommodate small inboard engines and fish down to 50 m. Additionally, chartered and joint venture deep-sea trawlers, tuna long-liners, and multi-purpose vessels that have the capacity to target both prawns and fish, were introduced in 1972 and now make up the bulk of the industrial fleet (Devaraj 1996).

This push for modernization of the vessels in India stemmed from a desire to promote the evolution of fishery into a more industrial activity (Rao and Murty 1993; Bhathal 2005). The resulting geographic expansion into deeper waters was the main reason for the growth and maintenance of Indian fisheries catches (Figure 8). However, this expansion must be accounted for when evaluating the health and productivity of Indian fisheries, as true trends in the status of fisheries (e.g., changes in mean trophic level and changes in mean size of fishes) may be masked when catch data is not disaggregated spatially. Overall, the push to expand has been fuelled mainly by the perception by Indian policy makers that the demersal fisheries could be expanded greatly by operating in deeper waters. However, the low oxygen levels in deeper water layers, especially on the West Coast (Banse 1959), constrain the expansion into deeper waters. Therefore, the new subsidized trawlers added to the Indian fleets since the 1980s tend to compete with small-scale fishers operating inshore. This, indeed, is one of the reasons why the conflict between small- and large-scale fisheries is most pronounced in India.

Catch-MSY method for Indian stocks

For India, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 20 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 16 % when considering all 40 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 15). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 15. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Indian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Indian oil sardine	321,734	316,160	1.02
Bombay duck	193,642	206,042	0.94
Indian mackerel	68,707	169,749	0.40
Silver pomfret	63,589	55,862	1.14
Giant tiger prawn	215,116	152,021	1.42
Narrow-barred Spanish mackerel	39,223	36,195	1.08
Torpedo scad	59,746	50,966	1.17
Black pomfret	30,133	29,887	1.01
Dorab wolf-herring	26,305	22,831	1.15
False trevally	10,618	27,252	0.39
Indo-Pacific king mackerel	15,220	16,249	0.94
Kawakawa	29,204	30,279	0.96
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.97 (0.80)
Average of 40 taxa (weighted)			1.00 (0.84)

Indonesia¹⁹

Indonesia is a large archipelagic country straddling the equator in southeast Asia, ranging from 95° to 141° E (Figure 15), and largely encompasses the Indonesian Sea LME (www.searoundus.org/lme/38.aspx). Indonesia can be conveniently divided into two different parts, i.e., Western and Eastern Indonesia, with the former comprising most of its shelf (1,155,000 km² vs. 655,000 km²) and the overwhelming bulk of its population and markets (Pauly 1989). Western Indonesia has a smaller EEZ (2,464,000 km²) than Eastern Indonesia (3,617,000 km²), but given its larger shelf, it has more demersal fisheries, whose early development is reviewed in Pauly and Martosubroto (1996) and Butcher (2004).

According to the FAO, there were approximately 750,000 fishing boats in 2004, a major increase since the mid-1990s. The majority of boats are fishing around North Java, followed by Maluku-Papua, South Sulawesi, North Sulawesi, Bali-Nusatenggara, and East Sumatra. Most of the motorized boats fish around North Java, while non-powered boats dominate around the Maluku-



Figure 15. Map of Indonesia showing the 200 nm EEZ and all maritime states. The Indonesian EEZ is part of two LMEs: the Bay of Bengal LME and the Indonesian Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Aceh, Sumatra Utara, Riau, Sumatra Barat, Jambi, Sumatera Selatan, Bengkulu, Lampung, Jakarta Raya, Banten, Jawa Barat, Jawa Tengah, Yogyakarta, Jawa Timur, Bali, Nusa Tenggara Barat, Nusa Tengarra Timur, Kepulauan Riau, Bangka- Belitung, Kalimantan Barat, Kalimantan Tengah, Kalimantan Selatan, Sulawesi Tenggara, Sulawesi Barat, Sulawesi Selatan, Sulawesi Tenggara, Sulawesi Tehgah, Gorontalo, Sulawesi Utara, Maluku Utara, Maluku, Irian Jaya Barat, and Papua, 1-33 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red. Papua area.

western Indonesia, In the majority of marine resources, including large pelagics. mackerels, sardinellas, groupers, and crustaceans, have been heavily exploited. Conversely, many of the resources in the east still being 'developed'. are Generally, marine resources are supposed to be managed through fishing quotas based on the total allowable catch (TAC), themselves based on estimates of 'potential yield'.

One important feature of Western Indonesian fisheries development is the 1980 trawling ban, whose impact was studied by Buchary (1999) and being which. while partly led circumvented, to the development of a large industrial fishery for small pelagic fishes, especially in the Java Sea.

Eastern Indonesia is part of the Coral Triangle, and indeed, may

be viewed as its very core. Much of the waters of Eastern Indonesia are in deep, relatively unproductive basins (Dalzell and Pauly 1989). The main fisheries are for tuna, which, together with shrimp trawling in the easternmost province of Papua, represent the bulk of Indonesian industrial fishing. There is a significant amount of illegal fishing, mainly for tuna, by distant water fleets from Thailand, Taiwan, China and the Philippines.

The catch of Indonesia is presently under reconstruction by the *Sea Around Us* Project and will be available in early 2013.

¹⁹ This introduction was provided by Ms. V. Budimartono and Dr. D. Pauly (both: Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia), the lead researchers for the Indonesian catch reconstruction.

Catch-MSY method for eastern Indonesian stocks

For eastern Indonesia, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 19 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 8% when considering all 46 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 16).

Table 16. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Indonesian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Short mackerel	156,473	167,234	0.94
Goldstripe sardinella	86,542	93,942	0.92
Skipjack tuna	104,653	88,853	1.18
Yellowstripe scad	79,059	80,434	0.98
Bali sardinella	42,873	50,164	0.85
Narrow-barred Spanish mackerel	64,654	55,038	1.17
Banana prawn	28,712	29,762	0.96
Yellowfin tuna	42,851	29,606	1.45
Longtail tuna	31,604	34,948	0.90
Indian scad	27,423	25,807	1.06
Kawakawa	34,100	28,035	1.22
Barramundi	17,155	16,021	1.07
Average of top 12 (weighted)			1.06 (0.81)
Average of 46 taxa (weighted)			1.01 (0.92)

Model results for eastern Indonesian ecosystems

We used the Raja Ampat archipelago model (Ainsworth *et al.* 2008; Bailey and Pitcher 2008) as a representation of Indonesian marine ecosystems. The model covers an area of 450,000 km² and describes the region from 129° 12' E and 0° 12' N to 131° 30' E and 2° 42' S off the west coast of New Guinea in the Indonesian province of Papua (Figure 15). The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1990 to 2005.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations (Table 17., Figure 16a). The average fishing mortality is also higher in both *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations than in the historical exploitation regime (Figure 16b).

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 8-36 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, the catch could only be increased by 19 % when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass. We note that, in this case, the results from the ecological model provide more optimistic results than the catch-based method, which we attribute to the fact that the ecosystem model was applied to a small, protected area where fishing is light.

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)		Catch:M	ISY	
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Adult groupers	0.080	0.19	0.0600	0.4	1.4
Adult snappers	0.110	0.08	0.0400	1.3	2.9
Adult Napoleon wrasse	0.030	0.03	0.0020	0.7	11.2
Skipjack tuna	0.780	1.03	0.8700	0.8	0.9
Other tuna	0.130	0.15	0.1000	0.8	1.3
Mackerel	0.160	0.13	0.0900	1.3	1.9
Billfish	0.020	0.01	0.0100	1.3	1.8
Adult coral trout	0.003	0.01	0.0100	0.3	0.3
Adult large sharks	0.060	0.10	0.0020	0.6	26.8
Adult small sharks	0.010	0.01	0.0001	1.0	60.8
Adult rays	0.010	0.04	0.0300	0.3	0.5
Adult large pelagic	0.060	0.03	0.0300	1.7	1.8
Adult medium pelagic	0.020	0.01	0.0100	1.9	2.0
Adult small pelagic	0.140	0.05	0.0600	2.6	2.5
Adult large reef associated	0.240	0.72	0.5000	0.3	0.5
Adult med. reef associated	0.220	0.62	0.5700	0.3	0.4
Adult large demersal	0.080	0.04	0.0300	2.2	3.1
Adult large planktivores	0.080	0.50	0.4800	0.2	0.2
Adult anchovy	0.850	1.69	1.5600	0.5	0.5
Adult deepwater fish	0.100	0.06	0.0500	1.6	2.0
Penaeid shrimps	1.090	1.88E-17	2.97E-21	>100	>100
Total catch (sp table)	4.280	5.52	4.5100	0.78	0.95
Total catch*	6.070	9.51	7.4600	0.64	0.81

Table 17. Catch rate (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the eastern Indonesian ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 75



Figure 16 a) Predicted total catches ($t \cdot km^{-2} \cdot year^{-1}$), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years for the eastern Indonesian ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Catch-MSY method for western Indonesian stocks

For western Indonesia, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 34 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 13 % when considering all 45 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 18). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 18. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the western
Indonesian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with
averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages
for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Banana prawn	73,747	74,177	0.99
Goldstripe sardinella	81,045	88,158	0.92
Bali sardinella	56,729	64,163	0.88
Short mackerel	48,445	52,298	0.93
Yellowstripe scad	64,746	64,342	1.01
Barramundi	47,891	44,524	1.08
Blood cockle	50,382	39,747	1.27
Narrow-barred Spanish mackerel	53,710	46,045	1.17
Skipjack tuna	41,914	36,267	1.16
Giant tiger prawn	22,653	22,147	1.02
Silver pomfret	30,742	26,764	1.15
Black pomfret	32,251	31,864	1.01
Average of top 12 (weighted)			1.05 (0.66)
Average of 45 taxa (weighted)			1.00 (0.87)

Japan²⁰

Japan's EEZ covers over 4.4 million km² and is the 7th largest in the world. It extends north-south along the main islands and the Ryukyu Archipelago, and into the Pacific around the Ogasawara (Bonin) and Daito Island groups (Figure 17). The EEZ occupies five Large Marine Ecosystems (LMEs), with the Oyashio and Kuroshio systems to the east, Sea of Okhotsk to the north, Sea of Japan to the northwest and the East China Sea to the west. Japan has disputed EEZ claims in the East China Sea over Senkaku/Diaoyu Islands (with China and Taiwan), in the Sea of Japan over Takeshima/Dokdo (with the Republic of Korea) and in the Sea of Okhotsk over the Kuril Islands (with Russia).



Figure 17. Map of Japan showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and disputed regions (cross-hatch). The more remote Japanese Pacific islands and their EEZs are not shown. The Japanese EEZ is part of five LMEs: the Oyashio Current LME and the Sea of Okhotsk in the north, the Sea of Japan/East Sea in the central west, the Kuroshio Current LME in the central east, and the East China Sea LME in the south. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Hokkaidō, Tōhoku, Kantō, Chūbu, Kansai, Chūgoku, Shikoku, and Kyūshū, 1-8 respectively.

The confluent zone between the warm Kuroshio Current flowing northeast along the southern coast of the main islands and the cold Oyashio Current flowing southward along the east coast of the main islands is one of the most productive fishing grounds in the world. The region serves as an important spawning and nursery ground for many important pelagic fishes such as herring, horse mackerel, mackerel and saury, as well as many species of tunas. Commercially important stocks include salmon, Ålaska pollock chalcogramma), (Theragra invertebrates such as crab, shrimp and sea urchins in northern Japan, and small pelagics (e.g. Pacific sardine, Sardinops sagax) and coastal demersal species (e.g. yellowtail) in the south.

Until recently, Japan had been the largest fishing nation in the world. However, marine fisheries landings in Japan have been decreasing since

1986, most notably due to the collapse of the Pacific sardine stock (*Sardinops sagax*; likely due to the combination of an environmental regime shift and overfishing) and a reduction in the catches of Alaska pollock following the phasing out of foreign access to U.S. East Bering Sea fishing grounds. By the early 1990s, China replaced Japan as the largest fishing nation in the world. The high cost of fishing and an aging population of fishers also contributed to the decline of the Japanese fisheries. Distant-water and high seas fisheries, for example, have been reduced to primarily tuna fisheries.

In 2008, Japan's fishing fleet consisted of 185,000 vessels, although almost half of these vessels were un-motorized and used primary for coastal aquaculture operations, and over 90 % of the motorized fleet consisted of vessels less than 50 GRT in size. The total number of fishing vessels

²⁰ This introduction was provided by Dr. Wilf Swartz (Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia), the lead author of catch reconstruction for Japan, currently being completed.

has been declining from 410,000 in 1980, 325,000 in 2002 to the current level, less than half of the fleet in 1980. Like the number of fishing vessels, the number of fishers has also been declining, from 478,000 in 1978 to 222,000 in 2008. Nearly 50 % of Japanese fishers are 60 years old and older, and with the lack of new entrants into fisheries, the decline and aging of the Japanese fisher population is likely to continue (JFA 2008).

Japan has reciprocal fishing access agreements with China (since 1975, with new agreements since 1997), the Republic of Korea (since 1965, with a new agreement in 1998) and the USSR/Russia (since 1984). The agreements with China and the Republic of Korea are designed to address the issues of reaffirmation of maritime rights; establishment of reciprocal fishing access (arrangements had also existed prior to the EEZ regimes); and creation of cooperative management regimes for their shared fisheries stocks. The agreement with Russia is primarily to secure Japanese fishing access to the Sea of Okhotsk, with Japan providing financial compensation to acquire quotas considerably larger than those allocated to Russian vessels. All three agreements established Joint Fishery Committees (JFCs), and although each JFC has somewhat different scope and authority, they all have several common functions, such as research on the status of the fisheries, consultation with fishing industry interests, and recommendations to fisheries management authorities on access to fishing zones. The major work of each JFC is to determine, each year, how many fishing vessels from each country to permit in these joint resource management areas, based on the TAC established for target species. Operations by other foreign vessels in the Japanese EEZ are prohibited (JFA 2012).

The agreements between governments permitting Japan's fishing vessels access to fishing in foreign waters are as follows (as of 2008): Australia (since 1979), Canada (since 1978), France (since 1979), Kiribati (since 1978), Marshall Islands (since 1981), Morocco (since 1985), Solomon Islands (since 1978), Senegal (since 1992), and Tuvalu (since 1986). No quota is currently allocated to Japanese vessels under the Australian and Canadian agreements and the French agreement is in reference to fishing access in the French territories in the Pacific. In addition, there are private sector-based agreements permitting Japan's fishing vessels to fish in foreign waters, which include Cape Verde, Côte d'Ivoire, Equatorial Guinea, Fiji, Gabon, Gambia, Guinea, Guinea Bissau, Madagascar, Mauritania, Mauritius, Micronesia, Mozambique, Nauru, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Sao Tome and Principe, Seychelles, Sierra Leone, St Helena and Tanzania. Most of the above agreements are related to tuna fisheries. Terms and conditions of the access agreements vary from country to country.

Japan manages its fisheries through fishing effort regulation such as limitations on the number of licenses issued and restrictions on fishing methods as well as output controls, i.e., the TAC system. Seven species of fish and invertebrates are currently subject to the TAC system, covering 1.2 million t (or about a third of the total catch) in 2011²¹

²¹ http://www.jafic.or.jp/tac/

Catch-MSY method for Japanese stocks

For Japan, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 60 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 56 % when considering all 80 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 19). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 19. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Japanese catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Chub mackerel	214,834	333,362	0.64
Japanese flying squid	141,540	200,354	0.71
Alaska Pollack	113,499	165,798	0.68
Japanese anchovy	192,726	234,633	0.82
Pacific saury	70,469	154,433	0.46
Japanese jack mackerel	70,166	101,061	0.69
Pacific herring	29,426	103,148	0.29
Round herring	34,096	57,318	0.59
Pink salmon	26,721	23,168	1.15
Skipjack tuna	36,214	42,598	0.85
Yesso scallop	68,707	68,025	1.01
Okhostk atka mackerel	21,508	17,158	1.25
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.76 (0.40)
Average of 80 taxa (weighted)			0.62 (0.44)

Malaysia²²

Malaysia is divided into two geographical regions: Peninsular Malaysia and East Malaysia. East Malaysia is separated from the Malaysian Peninsula by several hundred kilometers of the South China Sea, and includes the states of Sabah and Sarawak, situated on the island of Borneo (Figure 18). The east and west coasts of Peninsular Malaysia are very different (Figure 19). The east coast faces the South China Sea, and has a sandy bottom due to the presence of patchy coral reefs that occur along the coast. The coast consists of long sandy beaches, which are broken up intermittently by estuaries and mangroves. This coast is subject to severe weather during the northeast monsoon (November to March), during which no fishing, or a very limited amount, takes place. In contrast, the west coast, which is bordered by the Strait of Malacca, is less exposed. There are few sandy beaches; instead, the coast is characterized by extensive mangrove lined areas with shallow muddy waters less than 100 m deep (Kesteven 1949; Abu Talib *et al.* 2003b). Eight of Malaysia's thirteen states are located on the west coast.



Figure 18. Map of Peninsular Malaysia and East Malaysia. East Malaysia is separated from the Peninsular by several hundred kilometers of the South China Sea, and includes the states of Sabah and Sarawak, situated on the island of Borneo.

Sarawak's EEZ covers an area of about 160.000 km² in the South China Sea. Its continental shelf covers 125,000 km² and slopes to 200 m in depth (Garces et al. 2003). In the north, a 2,000deepwater 2.500 m trench stretches towards Sabah waters (Gambang et al. 2003). Mangrove swamps and mudflats, with stretches of sandy and exposed shoreline, characterize the inshore area. Fishing effort in Sarawak is concentrated in near shore muddy The fishing season in areas. Sarawak is determined by the northeast monsoon from November to February, during which conditions are usually too rough for most small-scale fishers to go fishing.

Sabah is a state of Malaysia, situated on the northeast corner of

Borneo. The state polices the territorial waters extending up to 12 nm, while the federal government has jurisdiction over the EEZ, measured as either 200 nm from shore or the midline between neighboring countries' landmasses. Sabah is bordered by the South China Sea in the west, the Sulu Sea to the northeast, and the Sulawesi Sea to the southeast. Mangroves and mudflats fringe the coastal zone, and many outlying islands are scattered offshore. Coral reefs are present in shallow waters throughout the state's coast, and are heavily exploited by Sabah's substantial population of subsistence and artisanal fishers.

Fisheries are an integral part of Malaysian society. They provide an affordable source of protein for up to two-thirds of Malaysia's population (Saharuddin 1995), and are crucial sources of income and employment in rural coastal fishing villages throughout the country, both historically and in present time (Firth 1966; Raduan *et al.* 2007). Uncontrolled expansion of commercial fishing from the mid-1960s through to the 1970s resulted in the overexploitation of Malaysia's inshore fisheries by the late 1970s (Omar *et al.* 1992; Saharuddin 1995; Abu Talib *et al.* 2003a). This was driven in part by the national government's production-oriented policies following

²² This introduction was provided by Dr. L. Teh (Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia), the lead author of the catch reconstruction for Malaysia presently being conducted.

national independence. Efforts to manage Malaysia's fisheries have been hampered by a lack of data on biological stocks, conflicting goals of government agencies involved in different aspects of fisheries, and lack of political support (Abdul Majid 1985; Yahaya 1988; Omar *et al.* 1992). Overcapacity in the fishing fleet is a key factor underlying the current degraded state of Malaysia's fisheries resources (Abdul Majid 1985; Mohd Taupek 2003). It is likely that this arose from historical and present levels of fishing that were, and still are, higher than accounted for by fisheries regulatory agencies.



Figure 19. Map of Peninsular Malaysia showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and disputed regions (cross-hatch). The Malaysian mainland EEZ is part of the Gulf of Thailand LME and the South China Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Perlis, Kedah, Pulau Pinang, Perak, Selagor, Negeri Sembilan, Melaka, Johor, Pahang, Trengganu, and Kelantan, 1-11 respectively. The area covered by the ecological model is not show due to the fact that it covers the Gulf of Thailand (north of the eastern Malaysian EEZ).

Malaysia's marine fisheries are primarily inshore (<30 nm from shore), and can be split into two sectors - 'traditional' (i.e., smallscale) and 'commercial'. The Malaysian Department of Fisheries (DoF) classifies trawl and purse seine as commercial gears, while traditional gears include drift/gill nets, hook and line, traps, fishing stakes, bag nets, lift nets, and barrier nets. Marine capture fisheries in Malaysia are multi-species, with over 100 species reported from the catch. Both pelagic and demersal species are targeted. Pelagics formed the mainstay of fisheries on both coasts of Peninsular Malaysia in the early period (Pathansali 1961; Firth 1966; Pong 1992), and continue contribute substantial to portions of marine landings (up to 40 % in 2010).

In Sarawak, demersal fishes make up the largest part of marine catches; pelagic fisheries are relatively small compared to those in Peninsular Malaysia due to the low numbers of purse seiners in operation (Gambang *et al.* 2003). Overall, shrimp is

the most important demersal species group because of their high economic value (Nuruddin and Urn 1994), and the majority of shrimp is caught off the west coast of Peninsular Malaysia. Until the introduction of trawlers, prawns and shrimps were caught with traditional gears such as trammel nets, push nets, and bag nets. Sabah's marine capture fisheries are exploited by the commercial and small-scale sectors, which accounted for approximately 65 % and 35 % of annual total fisheries landings in 2004, respectively.

Sabah's total catches were previously reconstructed (Teh *et al.* 2009). This work suggested that Sabah's marine catches were 2.5 times higher than national reported landings, likely due to a poor knowledge about existing sources of fishing pressure. From the mid 1990s until 2006, the number of small-scale fishers in Sabah may have been up to 3 times higher than the number of officially reported fishers. In addition, the presence of unlicensed trawl vessels also led to reported commercial landings being underestimated.

Catch-MSY method for eastern Malaysian stocks

For eastern Malaysia, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 19 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 11 % when considering all 34 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 20).

Table 20. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the easter	n
Malaysian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along wit	h
averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, average	ès
for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.	

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Indian scad	43,074	39,159	1.10
Yellowstripe scad	5,229	8,289	0.63
Torpedo scad	6,494	8,036	0.81
Kawakawa	2,996	4,687	0.64
Largehead hairtail	7,281	7,101	1.03
Blue swimming crab	5,661	4,821	1.17
Brown mussel	2,224	3,692	0.60
Indian mackerel	4,549	4,774	0.95
Longtail tuna	14,185	11,251	1.26
Mangrove red snapper	4,551	4,880	0.93
Daggertooth pike conger	3,683	2,401	1.53
Banana prawn	2,297	1,764	1.30
Average of top 12 (weighted)			1.00 (0.81)
Average of 34 taxa (weighted)			0.92 (0.89)

Model results for eastern Malaysian ecosystems

We used the Gulf of Thailand model (Vibunpant *et al.* 2003) as a proxy representation of Malaysian marine ecosystems, although the model covers an area that is located north to the EEZ of Malaysia (Figure 19). The study area is located between 6° to 13° 30' N latitudes and 99° to 104° E longitudes, covering an area of 304,000 km². The Gulf of Thailand is relatively shallow with a mean depth of about 58 m. The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1973 to 1993.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and optimization simulations when the main target species are taken into account (Table 21, Figure 20a). Total catch is also higher under the *allFmsy* simulation and slightly lower under the *optimization* simulation. The average fishing mortality from 1973 to 1993 is similar in the historical exploitation regime and *optimization* simulation and higher in the *allFmsy* results (Figure 20b).

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch:M	SY
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Rastrelliger species	0.220	0.230	0.110	0.9	1.9
Scomberomorus	0.003	3.96E-10	3.57E-11	>100	>100
Carangidae	0.040	0.030	0.020	1.6	2.9
Pomfret	0.010	3.98E-04	1.53E-05	13.0	>100
Small pelagics	0.200	0.380	0.120	0.5	1.6
False trevally	0.003	0.001	3.38E-04	4.7	9.3
Large piscivores	8.61E-07	0.010	0.020	0.0	0.0
Scianidae	0.003	0.050	0.040	0.1	0.1
Saurida species	0.040	0.030	0.030	1.1	1.1
Lutianidae	4.55E-07	0.010	0.010	0.0	0.0
Plectorhynchidae	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.4	0.5
Priacanthus species	0.030	0.050	0.030	0.6	1.0
Shrimps	0.310	0.250	0.230	1.3	1.4
Crab, Lobsters	0.190	0.490	0.150	0.4	1.3
Demersal piscivores	0.050	0.030	0.030	2.0	2.0
Shellfish	0.110	0.510	0.500	0.2	0.2
Coastal tuna	0.010	0.010	0.005	1.4	2.0
Sergestid shrimp	0.080	0.130	0.050	0.6	1.6
Total catch (sp table)	1.280	2.210	1.320	0.58	0.97
Total catch*	2.840	4.010	2.570	0.71	1.10

Table 21. Catch rate (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the eastern Malaysian ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 31







Figure 20. a) Predicted total catches ($t \cdot km^{-2} \cdot year^{-1}$), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the eastern Malaysian ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

b.

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 11-29 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, the catch could not be increased when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass.

Catch-MSY method for western Malaysian stocks

For western Malaysia, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 18 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 9 % when considering all 40 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 22). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 22. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the western Malaysian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Indian scad	34,060	28,181	1.21
Torpedo scad	11,081	10,850	1.02
Yellowstripe scad	2,926	6,383	0.46
Indian pellona	8,527	9,643	0.88
Largehead hairtail	6,739	5,627	1.20
Blue swimming crab	5,152	4,031	1.28
Chacunda gizzard shad	2,999	3,039	0.99
Daggertooth pike conger	2,412	2,283	1.06
Mangrove red snapper	985	1,750	0.56
Banana prawn	4,193	2,940	1.43
Black pomfret	1,896	2,708	0.70
Brown mussel	1,231	2,281	0.54
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.94 (0.82)
Average of 40 taxa (weighted)			0.86 (0.91)

Mexico²³

Mexico is a federal republic in North America bordered in the north by the U.S., in the south by Guatamala and Belize, in the east by the Gulf of Mexico and in the west by the Pacific Ocean (Figure 21). The land area of Mexico is nearly 2 million km² and its population is almost 115 million. The majority of the population lives along the extensive coastline. This has resulted in strong ties to the fisheries and marine resources.



Figure 21. Map of Mexico showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Mexican EEZ is part of three LMEs: the Gulf of California LME and the Pacific Central-American Coastal EEZ in the west and the Gulf of Mexico EEZ in the east. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Baja California, Baja California Sur, Sonora, Sinaloa, Nayarit, Jalisco, Colima, Michoácan, Guerrero, Oaxaca, Chiapas, Quintana Roo, Yucátan, Campeche, Tabasco, Veracruz, and Tamaulipas, 1-17, respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red.

Fisheries in Mexico, reflecting the political system, have historically been characterized by constant shifts in objectives and management schemes (OECD 2006). They have thus evolved from an overlooked sector, to a primary source of food and job creation, to a casualty of economic reform and now to a tug-ofwar between laissez-faire management on the one hand and ecological conservation priorities on the other (Espinoza-Tenorio et al. The participation 2011). and influence of scientists, academics and conservation organizations has also evolved towards broader а understanding of the socio-political and ecological context of Mexican fisheries, with increased training in and application of quantitative methods to assess fisheries' status (Hernández and Kempton 2003). Unfortunately, a lack of effective fisheries governance has resulted in highly uncertain fishery statistics, which often lack the quality that is required for their use within quantitative frameworks.

In general, the Mexican fishing industry is comprised of a very large artisanal sector (>100,000 registered vessels plus an unknown number of non-registered vessels) and a smaller (<5,000) industrial fleet of (mostly aging) trawlers, seiners and longliners. The most important fisheries by volume are small pelagics, particularly Pacific sardine (*Sardinops sagax*), though environmental changes have made for substantial fluctuations in landings (from ~ 100,000 t·year⁻¹ in the 1990s to over 500,000 t·year⁻¹ currently). The most valuable fishery continues to be for shrimp, with a current landed value of ~450 million USD (excluding aquaculture). Although these fisheries are usually at the forefront of management discussions, along with other valuable or large-volume fisheries such as tuna, lobster, squid and abalone, sub-tropical ecosystems along most of the Mexican coastline result in catch of many species in smaller amounts. It would be interesting to compare the social and economic value of these multi-species fisheries with that of the more prominent ones, which are usually destined for fishmeal and/or export.

In Mexico, the large fishing sector (>300,000 fishers), versatile boats and gear, a large coastline, corruption and a limited capacity for monitoring and enforcement result in significant illegal,

²³ This introduction was provided by A. Cisneros-Montemayor (Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia), the lead author of the catch reconstruction for Mexico.

unreported and unregulated catch (Rodríguez-Valencia and Cisneros-Mata 2006). Official statistics rely on the compulsory, but unenforced submission to the local fisheries office of catch logs by (legal) fishers or buyers. There is little validation of catch, and logs are often filled in on the spot by fishery officers based on the fishers' accounts from memory (Espinosa-Romero *et al.* 2012). A survey of Mexican fishery experts including scientists, officials, fishers and others, found that in some fisheries, 'irregular' fishing (unreported and illegal) currently represents 40-60 % of reported catch (Cisneros-Mata 2012). This estimate does not account for discards in shrimp trawls, which historically have had a 1:10 shrimp to bycatch ratio and are widely regarded as the single most important source of unreported bycatch (Vázquez et al. 2004).

Overall, the historic management of fisheries in Mexico has led to both ecological and economic waste of potentially valuable resources. On the other hand, fisheries have become an important source of direct and indirect employment along all coasts, making enforcement of regulations difficult both operationally and politically. Addressing sustainability issues will require full knowledge of the context in which fisheries and management have evolved in the country. Though developing, and particularly enforcing, new regulations will be difficult, there is an increasing number of people in Mexico, including within the fishing industry, who recognize the need for management reform, and will hopefully act to support it.

Catch-MSY method for Mexican (Gulf of Mexico) stocks

For the Gulf of Mexico, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 65 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 64 % when considering all 31 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 23). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of ecosystem effects, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
American cupped oyster	45,121	40,760	1.11
Blue crab	3,481	7,153	0.49
Common octopus	15,223	12,092	1.26
Common snook	5,640	4,595	1.23
Flathead mullet	1,478	4,581	0.32
King mackerel	7,035	4,517	1.56
Northern red snapper	927	2,452	0.38
Red grouper	38	3,732	0.01
Spanish mackerel	3,213	3,533	0.91
Spotted weakfish	1,600	3,121	0.51
Round sardinella	351	1,776	0.20
Yellowtail snapper	844	832	1.01
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.75 (0.35)
Average of 31 taxa (weighted)			0.65 (0.36)

Table 23. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Mexican Gulf of Mexico catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Catch-MSY method for Mexican (Pacific) stocks

For the Mexican Pacific, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 13 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 12 % when considering all 20 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 24).

Table 24. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Mexican Pacific catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Pacific sardine	551,165	493,872	1.12
Californian anchovy	4,635	92,316	0.05
Jumbo flying squid	40,281	23,225	1.73
Yellowfin tuna	15,222	13,974	1.09
Chub mackerel	6,109	10,678	0.57
Pacific calico scallop	3,998	6,638	0.60
Pacific sierra	7,562	7,181	1.05
Pacific bonito	157	8,020	0.02
Skipjack tuna	1,605	3,935	0.41
Yellow snapper	1,111	2,595	0.43
Totoaba	366	1,343	0.27
Bigeye tuna	31	1,606	0.02
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.61 (0.87)
Average of 20 taxa (weighted)			0.64 (0.88)

Model results for Mexican (Pacific) ecosystems

We used the Baja California Sur model (Cisneros-Montemayor 2007) as a representation of Mexican marine ecosystems (Figure 21). The study area is located between 33° N to 28° 30' N latitudes and 119° E to 111° E longitudes with an area of 286,740 km². The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1972 to 2007.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations (Table 25, Figure 22a). The average fishing mortality from 1972 to 2007 is lower in the historical exploitation regime than in the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations (Figure 22b).

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 12-20 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . Indeed, the ecosystem model suggests that the catch could actually be increased by 48 % under optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass. However, the fact that the ecosystem model produces these optimistic results may be attributed in part to the small area it covers.

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch:M	SY
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Large_sharks	0.010	0.010	0.010	0.7	1.2
Small_sharks	0.010	0.020	0.020	0.8	0.8
Marlin	0.030	0.050	0.040	0.6	0.8
Yellowfin_tuna	0.030	0.070	0.060	0.4	0.4
Dorado	0.010	0.010	0.004	0.8	2.7
Skipjack_tuna	0.020	0.020	0.010	0.9	2.9
Sailfish	0.020	0.050	0.030	0.4	0.7
Other_billfish	0.005	0.005	0.001	1.1	3.9
Small_scombrids	0.040	0.020	0.020	1.6	2.4
Misc_piscivores	0.010	0.010	0.005	1.6	2.5
Squids	0.840	0.520	0.350	1.6	2.4
Small_pelagics	0.770	1.460	2.910	0.5	0.3
Total catch (sp table)	1.800	2.250	3.440	0.80	0.52
Total catch*	1.800	2.250	3.440	0.80	0.52

Table 25. Catch rate $(t \cdot km^{-2} \cdot year^{-1})$ from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the Mexican Pacific ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 12



Figure 22. a) Predicted total catches ($t \cdot km^{-2} \cdot year^{-1}$), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Mexican Pacific ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Morocco²⁴

Morocco is located to the west of Algeria in northwest Africa, and it shares the Alboran Sea with Spain in the North (Figure 23). On the West African coast, Morocco (including the Western Sahara) range from Tangier (36° N) to Lagouira (20° N) on Cape Blanc, which is one of the richest fishing areas in the world, due to the sustained East central Atlantic upwelling (Porter 1997). Morocco proclaimed its EEZ in 1981. Morocco maintains Western Sahara under its administration since invading it in 1976, after Western Sahara became independent from Spain (Rojo-Diaz and Pitcher 2005). Morocco is located on the boundary between the Mediterranean Sea and the Atlantic Ocean, and experiences high productivity due to the flow of the Atlantic current into the Mediterranean Sea. Western Sahara is located south of Morocco, and is also bordered by Mauritania and Algeria. The Moroccan and Western Saharan EEZs are respectively 254,000 km² and 300,600 km², and together encompass the Canary Current Large Marine Ecosystem, within which high marine productivity supports some of the most valuable fishing operations in the world (Cruzado 1979; Pauly et al. 2008). The narrow shelf of Morocco offers good opportunities for pelagic fishing fleets, while a larger continental shelf along the Western Sahara, along with coastal upwelling, result in significant demersal and cephalopod resources for foreign fleets to exploit (Cruzado 1979; Pauly et al. 2008).



Figure 23. Map of Morocco showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Moroccan EEZ is part of the Mediterranean Sea LME and the Canary Current LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Oriental, Taza, Tanger, Gharb, Rabat, Chaouia, Grand Casablanca, Doukkala, Marrakech, Souss, Guelmim, and Laâyoune, 1-12 respectively. The area covered by ecological models includes the entire EEZ of Morocco.

The artisanal fishery is an informal sector in Morocco, and there are no data collection systems (Malouli Idrissi et al. 2001: ArtFiMed 2009). The domestic fisheries consist mostly of small wooden dories called pateras targeting mainly small fish and other valuable species. This category also includes hand collection of algae and mussels and shore-based fishing using lines (Baddyr and Guénette 2001). The large-scale fisheries include two types of activities: inshore or coastal fisheries initiated by Spanish and Portuguese fishers with 16 to 24 m wooden boats manufactured locally without catch preservation system, targeting pelagic species using purse seines, demersal species using long liners, bottom trawls and driftnets. and the off-shore industrial fishery which started in 1972. It consists almost exclusively of large freezer

trawlers fishing for several weeks at a time (Tudela 2000; Baddyr and Guénette 2001; Franquesa *et al.* 2001; Rojo-Diaz and Pitcher 2005; FAO 2011b). Fishing off Morocco and the Western Sahara has been a major activity since the 1930s, and the industry experienced tremendous growth during the 1980s (Rojo-Diaz and Pitcher 2005). However, heavy exploitation by both national and foreign vessels (Ariz 1985; Baddyr and Guénette 2001), a lack of monitoring and enforcement, and an interest in short-term profits from resource exploitation rather than long-term benefits (Kaczynski 1989) resulted in over-exploitation of important demersal stocks,

²⁴ This introduction was provided by Ms. D. Belhabib (Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia), the lead author for the Moroccan catch reconstruction presently being completed.

shifting stocks (Balguerías *et al.* 2000; Baddyr and Guénette 2001; Pitcher *et al.* 2002; Anon. 2005a) and increasing illegal unreported and unregulated fisheries (Anon. 2005b). Importantly, fisheries contribute to the livelihood of around 400,000 people in poor, rural areas, and represent 15 % of the total Moroccan exports (including from Western Saharan waters). Moreover, 20% of the Moroccan population suffers from protein deficit and live under the poverty line (Anon. 2005a).

Catch-MSY method for Moroccan stocks

For Morocco, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could not be increased when considering the top 12 landed species, or when considering all 67 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 26). However, a straight average of the catch:MSY ratios for all 67 taxa does indicate that a catch increase of approximately 40 % could be achieved.

Table 26. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Moroccan catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
European pilchard	573,982	512,669	1.12
Chub mackerel	44,785	34,143	1.31
European anchovy	7,322	15,556	0.47
European hake	7,951	5,115	1.55
Largehead hairtail	4,190	4,871	0.86
Bogue	4,676	4,130	1.13
Yellowfin tuna	406	1,626	0.25
Pouting	1,800	1,748	1.03
Skipjack tuna	1,084	1,659	0.65
Meagre	3,126	1,984	1.58
Atlantic bluefin tuna	1,088	1,191	0.91
European conger	1,824	931	1.96
Average of top 12 (weighted)			1.07 (1.06)
Average of 67 taxa (weighted)			0.59 (1.08)

Model results for Moroccan ecosystems

We used the North West Africa model (Morissette *et al.* 2010) as a representation of Moroccan marine ecosystems (Figure 23). The model includes latitudes from 8.5° to 35.97° N, and longitudes from 30° to 6.5° W, for a total area of 3.6 million km². The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1986 to 2007.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations (Table 27, Figure 24a). The average fishing mortality from 1986 to 2007 is lower under the historical exploitation than the other two simulations (Figure 24b).

We note a divergence between the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses, as the catch could be increased by 24 % when we account for fishing at F_{MSY} or 34 % with optimal management, which includes fishing at F_{MSY} , biodiversity, and criteria for rebuilding biomass. However, no increase would be possible under the catch-based evaluation. The more optimistic results from the ecosystem model may be due to the fact that it encompasses a large fraction of the North African shelf.

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch:M	ASY
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Large pelagics	0.0500	0.060	0.070	0.90	0.70
Mesopelagic predators	0.0001	0.003	0.005	0.03	0.02
Bathydemersal predators	0.0300	0.030	0.050	1.00	0.70
Sharks	0.0200	0.010	0.010	2.30	1.40
Rays	0.0100	0.005	0.005	2.50	2.40
Coastal tunas	0.0100	0.030	0.030	0.20	0.20
Coastal demersals	0.1700	0.220	0.310	0.80	0.50
Clupeids	0.8800	1.110	1.350	0.80	0.70
Other coastal pelagics	0.4300	0.720	0.620	0.60	0.70
Cephalopods	0.2100	0.170	0.230	1.30	0.90
Crustaceans	0.0100	0.040	0.060	0.30	0.20
Benthos	0.0100	0.010	0.020	0.60	0.30
Total catch (sp table)	1.8300	2.410	2.750	0.760	0.660
Total catch*	1.8300	2.410	2.750	0.760	0.660

Table 27. Catch rate $(t \cdot km^{-2} \cdot year^{-1})$ from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the Moroccan ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 12



Figure 24. a) Predicted total catches ($t \cdot km^{-2} \cdot year^{-1}$), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Moroccan ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.
Norway²⁵

The mainland of Norway is located in the north of the European continent between 58° and 71°N and between about 5° and 31°E, with a land area of around 323,800 km² and an EEZ of 819,600 km² (Figure 25). Additionally, the Svalbard Archipelago (with a land and sea area of 61,000 km² and 715,000 km², respectively) and the island of Jan Mayen (with a land and sea area of 377 km² and 288,800 km², respectively) belong to Norway. In the southern hemisphere, Norway also holds the Queen Maud Land in the Antarctic, Peter I Island, and Bouvet Island.



Figure 25. Map of Norway showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, including the EEZ of the Svalbard Islands (1), all maritime states, and regions (cross-hatch) that were disputed with Russia until 2011. The Norwegian EEZ is part of the Barents Sea LME, Norwegian Sea LME, and the North Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Svalbard, Finnmark, Troms, Nordland, Nord-Trøndelag, Sør-Trøndelag, Møre og Romsdal, Sogn og Fjordane, Hordaland, Rogaland, Vest-Agder, Aust-Agder, Telemark, Vestfold, and Ästfold, 1-12 respectively. The area covered by ecological models includes the entire EEZ of Norway.

fish species in Norwegian waters using the IUCN criteria and categories, with the intent of updating it regularly every 5 years. The 2010 Red List contains 17 marine fish species, representing 6 % of all marine fish species, in different Red List categories. Since 2006, 16 species have been removed from the Red List, mainly due to more knowledge and focus on conservation and protection of species and habitat.

The Norwegian sea occupies three shelf ecosystems: the Barents Sea (mean depth 230 m), the North Sea (94 m) and the Norwegian coast, and one deep ocean ecosystem: the Norwegian Sea (1,600 m). There are 431 municipalities, 280 of which are coastal. Norway hosts more than 5 million people. Fossil fuel and renewable marine resources are fundamental to the national with economy, seafood representing the third most important commodity.

Given the generally high human population along its shores and the long history and diversity of human impacts, the Norwegian EEZ altered has been throughout history, mainly due to the extensive oil and gas industry since the 1970s. At present, fishing impacts, as well as habitat loss and degradation, and pollution are the most important threats to diversity. However, no eradication of marine species has been seen in recent history (Kalas et al. 2010). In Norwegian waters in the northern hemisphere, 268 marine fish species are registered. of which 168 reproduce in these waters. Since 2006. Norway has produced and published a Red List for marine

²⁵ This introduction was provided by Dr. Kjell Nedreaas (Institute of Marine Research, Bergen), the lead author of the Norwegian catch reconstruction being conducted at present.

The total Norwegian landings of wild commercial fish, shellfish and seaweed was 2.4 million t in 2011, with a value of US\$ 2.7 million. The recreational fishery is estimated to be about 57,000 t, of which about 48,000 t is estimated to be caught by the domestic fleet and 7,000-9,000 t by a growing foreign tourist fishing industry (Moksness *et al.* 2011).

The number of active Norwegian fishing vessels of all sizes reached a peak of more than 40,000 vessels around 1960. Since the turn of the century, the total number of vessels has been reduced from 13,017 in 2000 to 6,248 in 2011. This implies a reduction of 52 % of fleet capacity. The main reason for the reduction in the number of vessels is the removal of inactive coastal vessels from the register and a vessel scrapping scheme. In 2011, the Norwegian commercial fishing fleet consisted of 5,635 vessels (90 %) less than 15 m in length, and 613 vessels (10 %) larger than 15 m. Also, the total number of fishers was reduced by about 36 % or 7,284 persons from 2000 to 2011.

There are four main types of gear used by groundfish vessels in the Norwegian commercial fisheries: trawl (37 %), gillnet (23 %), longline (17 %), and Danish seine (11 %). There is also an important seasonal, coastal purse seine fishery for young saithe (*Pollachius virens*; 8 %) and a jigging fishery (4 %) composed of smaller vessels that always deliver their catches to shoreside processing plants. In the pelagic fishery, purse seiners and pelagic trawlers catch about 89 % and 10 % of the total landings, respectively.

Discarding fish is illegal for most of the marine fish species. The main elements of the Norwegian discard policy are the defined minimum mesh size and minimum catch size of fish, the requirement to change fishing grounds if catching too many undersized fish, the temporary closure of fishing grounds (since 1984), bans on discard of commercial important species (since 1987; since 2008 extended to account for nearly all fish species), and the development of selective gear technology in the fishery, for deep-water shrimp since 1992 and in the fishery for demersal fish species since 1997. Despite the ban on discards, there is still some discarding that occurs. Unfortunately, information on discards is fragmented and incomplete. Norway is currently running a pilot project to better quantify the discards in several fisheries and establish cost-effective routines under a management regime where discarding is forbidden.

From 1985-2011, the spawning stocks of the main pelagic species have increased by a factor of 3 from about 6 million t to about 18 million t. Likewise, the spawning stocks of the main commercial demersal species have increased from less than 1 million t to 2.6 million t. Norwegian official landings increased from the 1950s to the mid-1960s then decreased. Since 1985, landings have steadily increased from about 1.7 million t to about 2.4 million t.

Important elements in the Norwegian management framework to prevent overfishing and to secure long-term sustainability have been developed during the last decades. These consist of limiting the access to the fisheries, ending subsidies, reducing overcapacity, distributing annual fishing opportunities within the industry including stakeholder participation, increasing international cooperation and agreements, improving exploitation pattern and discard policy, implementing harvest control rules (e.g., the *MSY* approach), enhancing monitoring, control and surveillance, and adopting an ecosystem approach, including an integrated Ocean Management Plan and a new (2008) Marine Living Resources Act (Gullestad *et al.* 2012).

Catch-MSY method for Norwegian stocks

For Norway, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 31 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 26% when considering all 74 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 28).

Table 28. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Norwegian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Atlantic herring	852,920	925,004	0.92
Atlantic cod	252,231	331,397	0.76
Saithe	206,035	222,333	0.93
Capelin	4,670	225,251	0.02
Norway pout	34,907	139,118	0.25
Atlantic mackerel	134,369	130,102	1.03
Haddock	61,953	92,127	0.67
Blue whiting	240,643	143,603	1.68
Whiting	5,801	23,844	0.24
European sprat	7,212	23,900	0.30
Tusk	9,482	14,075	0.67
Ling	9,960	12,815	0.78
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.69 (0.69)
Average of 74 taxa (weighted)			0.71 (0.74)

Model results for Norwegian ecosystems

We used the Norwegian Sea and Barents Sea model (Dommasnes *et al.* 2001) as a representation of Norwegian marine ecosystems (Figure 25). The model covers ICES areas I, IIa and IIb north to approximately 81° N, which includes the Barents Sea and the Norwegian Sea, to 11° W and to 63°-64° N. The total surface area is 3,116,000 km². The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1950 to 2007.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy*, and similar results to the *optimization* simulations (Figure 26a, Table 29). The average fishing mortality from 1950 to 2007 is lower under the historical exploitation than the other two simulations (Figure 26b).

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 26-30 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, the catch could not be increased when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass.

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch:MS	SY
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Cod 4+	0.2300	0.2600	0.2600	0.9	0.9
Haddock	0.0600	0.0600	0.0500	1.0	1.2
Saithe	0.0500	0.0600	0.0400	0.9	1.2
Blue whiting	0.0200	0.0700	0.0100	0.2	1.6
Mackerel	0.0300	0.0700	0.0300	0.5	1.3
Other pelagic fish	0.0100	0.0300	0.0100	0.3	1.2
Herring 4+	0.4600	0.5000	0.4800	0.9	1.0
Polar cod	0.0020	0.0100	0.0020	0.2	1.6
Capelin	0.0200	0.0300	0.0040	0.6	4.1
Redfish	0.0100	0.0200	0.0100	0.4	1.6
Squid	0.0001	0.0003	<0.0001	0.2	1.7
Prawns	0.0100	0.0500	0.0100	0.2	1.5
Krill	0.0010	0.0030	0.0004	0.2	1.6
Total catch (sp table)	0.9000	1.1700	0.8900	0.76	1.01
Total catch*	0.9300	1.3200	0.9100	0.70	1.02

Table 29. Catch rate $(t \cdot km^{-2} \cdot year^{-1})$ from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the Norwegian ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 17



Figure 26. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Norwegian ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Peru²⁶

Peru claims an exclusive economic zone of more than 906,000 km², some of it contested by Chile, its southern neighbor (Figure 27). Peru also shares the Humboldt Current with Chile, a large marine ecosystem characterized by intense upwelling and high productivity (see www.seaaroundus.org/lme/13.aspx, and contributions in Pauly *et al.* 1987; Werner *et al.* 2008).

Much of this productivity is, off Peru, shunted through immense schools of Peruvian anchoveta (*Engraulis ringens*), which, since the early 1950s, has been subjected to intense exploitation by the purse seine fishery. This peaked in the early 1970s with an annual (nominal) catch of 12 million t, but which was most probably higher, in the vicinity of 16-18 million t (Castillo and Mendo 1987).



Figure 27. Map of Peru showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and disputed region (cross-hatch). The Peruvian EEZ is part of the Humboldt Current LME. Numbers correspond to maritime provinces: Tumbes, Piura, Lambayeque, La Libertad, Ancash, Lima Province, Lima, Ica, Arequipa, Moquegua, and Tacna, 1-11 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red.

By present standards (Pikitch et al. 2012), this fishery, which overwhelmingly fed fishmeal plants, was not well-managed. This, combined with successive El Niño events. led to spectacular crashes of the anchoveta population, with subsequent collapse of the anchoveta-dependent seabird and marine mammal populations.

The anchoveta fishery is now subjected to quota management, which foresees that it ought to be closed when the anchoveta biomass reaches 4-5 million t. However, frenetic fishing for juvenile anchoveta, and their subsequent dumping to avoid fines is now affecting recruitment to the adult stock.

The other components of the Peruvian upwelling ecosystem, e.g., the pelagic bonito (*Sarda chiliensis*) and various coastal fishes, notably croakers (Family Sciaenidae), caught by the coastal artisanal fishery are not well studied, let alone managed, while the trawl fishery for hake (*Merlucius gayi peruanus*) has essentially collapsed.

Overall, it can be expected that the biomass of demersal nearshore fish would be enhanced by sound management, while re-establishing the abundance of anchoveta and associated pelagic resources (e.g., bonito) will require restraints on the fishery and favorable oceanographic conditions.

²⁶ This introduction was provided by Dr. D. Pauly (Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia).

Catch-MSY method for Peruvian stocks

For Peru, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 27 %, both when considering the top 12 landed species or all 21 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 30).

Table 30. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Peruvian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Anchoveta	7,370,235	8,721,099	0.85
Pacific sardine	61,570	1424,826	0.04
Inca scad	145,229	129,435	1.12
Chub mackerel	66,846	119,610	0.56
Peruvian hake	30,522	83,533	0.37
Eastern Pacific bonito	4,218	106,935	0.04
Jumbo flying squid	214,491	157,731	1.36
Pacific menhaden	7,163	25,635	0.28
Cholga mussel	9,989	8,580	1.16
Peruvian calico scallop	14,362	8,405	1.71
Peruvian banded croaker	1,523	6,284	0.24
Skipjack tuna	670	12,509	0.05
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.65 (0.73)
Average of 21 taxa (weighted)			0.66 (0.73)

Model results for Peruvian ecosystems

We used a combined version of previously available Peru models (Guénette *et al.* 2008) as a representation of Peruvian marine ecosystems (Figure 27). This model of the Peruvian ecosystem encompasses the coast of Peru between latitudes 4° and 14° S, out to an average of 40 nm offshore (Jarre *et al.* 1991) for a total area of 82,000 km², and corresponding to the main distribution area of the north-central stock of Peruvian anchovy. The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1950 to 2011.

The *baseline* simulation results show higher catch in the area under the *allFmsy* and the *optimization* simulations with respect to the historical exploitation regime (Table 31, Figure 28a). The average fishing mortality from 1950 to 2011 is similar under the historical exploitation and the *allFmsy* simulation, and lower under the optimization simulation (Figure 28b).

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 12-20 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, the catch could be increased by 48 % when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass. The more optimistic results may be attributed to the fact that the ecosystem model accounts for past climate variability in addition to trophic interactions.

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch:N	ЛSY
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Tuna	0.020	0.050	0.0100	0.300	1.100
Bonito	1.72E-05	1.31E-20	0.0200	>100	0.001
Pacific mackerel	0.050	0.120	0.0100	0.400	3.600
Jack mackerel	0.150	0.100	0.0001	1.500	>100
Anchoveta	2.020	3.110	5.6900	0.600	>100
Anchoveta, south	0.660	1.820	0.8000	0.400	0.800
Pelagic S	0.220	0.003	3.86E-05	82.400	>100
Pelagic ML	0.110	0.180	0.0100	0.600	10.500
Demersal M	0.040	0.100	0.0020	0.400	23.100
Flatfishes	0.002	0.010	0.0001	0.200	36.500
Megabenthos	0.001	0.220	0.0010	0.005	0.900
Scallops	3.02E-05	0.003	3.03E-05	0.011	1.000
Total catch (sp table)	3.260	5.700	6.5500	0.570	0.500
Total catch*	3.340	5.770	6.5700	0.580	0.510

Table 31. Catch rate $(t \cdot km^{-2} \cdot year^{-1})$ from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the Peruvian ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 17



Figure 28. a) Predicted total catches ($t \cdot km^{-2} \cdot year^{-1}$), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Peruvian ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the baseline, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Philippines27

The Philippines, consisting of over 7,000 islands of various sizes (Figure 29), encompasses most of the Sulu-Celebes Sea LME, a world hotspot of marine biodiversity (Randall 1998; Carpenter and Springer 2005; Hoeksema 2007; Carpenter *et al.* 2011). These islands cover a land area of 300,000 km², while the EEZ that might be claimed by the Philippines covers an area of 2.3 million km² (ADB 1993), including parts of the hotly contested Spratly Islands group,



Figure 29. Map of the Philippines showing the 200 nm EEZ. The Philippine EEZ is part of the Sulu-Celebes Sea LME. Shaded area indicates part of the EEZ disputed by other countries.

Scarborough Shoal, and Miangas Island (Bautista 2008)²⁸. About 12 % of this sea area consists of continental shelf (to 200 m depth), hosting coral reefs, mangrove and algal ecosystems, i.e., the habitats of a large number of valuable species supporting coastal fisheries. The Philippine islands are organized into 14 administrative regions covering 81 provinces (80 % coastal) and 1,514 municipalities (65 % coastal; see ADB 1993). Fisheries are administered locally, i.e., by the municipal governments, a form of micromanagement which renders implementation of fisheries rules and regulations rather difficult, and produces very variable results (see e.g., Fabinyi and Dalabajan 2011), although it allows flexibility, a theme to which we shall return.

In addition. due to the archipelagic nature of the Philippines, with monsoon seasons affecting its huge biodiversity, no single (or small group of) species dominates its fisheries catches. In fact, even abundant taxa. such as

'galunggong' (i.e., 'round scads', of the genus *Decapterus*) consist of different species and populations, caught in different parts of bays, gulfs and seas, depending on the season (Alix 1976). None of these, if optimized in terms of biomass and effort, would noticeably affects the total catch (Ronquillo 1975; Calvelo and Dalzell 1987).

Moreover, in the Philippines, which produces, publishes, and distributes annually immense amounts of extremely precise fisheries statistics (see BFAR 2012b) that are readily cited by various national and international NGOs, the *real* catch of the marine fisheries is essentially unknown. Commercial landing statistics were collected since 1954 by the Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources (BFAR) for ten fishery districts (Simpson 1979), based on monthly catch reports (by the operators of vessels >3 gross tonnes). It was determined that these landings were

²⁷ This introduction is adapted from Pauly *et al.* (2012b).

²⁸ This tortuous wording is based on the fact that the Philippines claim is not based on UNCLOS, as might be expected, but on the 1898 Treaty of Paris, which formalized the transfer of colonial territories from Spain to the United States (Bautista 2008).

'inadequate', and they were summarily 'corrected' by an expansion factor derived from monthly landings collected by enumerators from randomly sampled survey areas to estimate regional and national production values (PDNR 1976). Already then, underreporting of the catch and/or undervaluing of species caught by the few registered (and/or reporting) fishing vessels was a rampant form of tax evasion and as such, these statistics accounted for less than half of what was really caught (Simpson 1979). In some areas, underreporting may have been as much as 80 % of the actual catch (Storer 1967).

In addition, small-scale fisheries catches were estimated from only six municipal reports since 1951, which was later discontinued (FIDC 1979). The small-scale fisheries, called 'municipal fisheries' in the Philippines, are defined as using fixed gear or craft of less than 3 gross tonnes (Philippines 1933; Pauly 1982). Since the 1960s, the catch of municipal fisheries has been estimated from the *same* fixed ratio for the relationship between small-scale and industrial catches (FIDC 1979; see below). This ratio most likely originated from the projected increase of fisheries production to respond to domestic demand, i.e., 6-7 %, needed for self-sufficiency in fish by 1976, and thus, for surplus production by 1977 (PDNR 1976). Thus, it appears that even before the conjugal dictatorship of Ferdinand and Imelda Marcos, fisheries statistics were generated which showed politically convenient regular catch increases, a problem which has not been addressed since democracy was restored.

Lack of funds and repeated reorganizations of the government divisions handling fisheries prevented the establishment of a comprehensive fisheries data collection system that included the catch of small-scale and subsistence fishers (PDNR 1976; FIDC 1979). It took more than seven decades since the creation of the Division of Fisheries created by the Philippine Commission under the Department of the Interior in 1901 (BFAR 2012a) before a fisheries statistics data collection system could be put in place (Chakraborty 1976). This was implemented after several training workshops for enumerators organized by the South China Sea Fisheries Development and Coordinating Programme in the mid-1970s (Chakraborty and Wheeland 1976). The first of a series of annual fisheries statistics accounting for all sectors in the same detail as the commercial fisheries sector was published by BFAR only in 1977 (BFAR 2012b). Further changes in the governing institutions in the late 1980s transferred the responsibility of fisheries data collection from BFAR to the Bureau of Agricultural Statistics in 1988 (see BFAR 2012a). The continuous problems of funding data collection, which has beset this sector for decades, prevented regular/consistent data collection into the 2000s (see Itano and WIlliams 2009).

Municipal fishing operators, however, remained a problem, notably because of the 1935 Fish and Game Administrative Order (No. 2-2) limiting vessels more than 3 GT to operate outside municipal waters (see Philippines 1933). This led to the development of scaled-down industrial operations ('baby trawlers') which can be operated in the inshore waters, i.e., within 7 km of the coastline (amended to 15 km of the coastline in 1998 by the Philippine Fisheries Code; Philippines 1998), and in waters less than 12.8 m deep, which was traditionally reserved for artisanal fisheries (Tapiador 1978; Pauly and Smith 1983; Cruz-Trinidad 1997). Thus, the highly heterogeneous municipal sector, which is clearly suffering from dwindling resources, as indicated by a very small and declining daily catch rate of individual fishers (see Simpson 1979; Dalzell *et al.* 1987; Dickson 1987; Muñoz 1991; Sunderlin 1994; Shannon 2002; Stobutzki *et al.* 2006; Muallil *et al.* 2012), and an ever increasing number of fishers, i.e., the 'Malthusian overfishing' of Pauly (2006) is linked to the ever-increasing industrial fleet, which obtains an increasing share of their ill-assessed catches from (mostly illegal) fishing in the waters of their neighbours, especially in Malaysia (Sabah) and Eastern Indonesia (see Lewis 2004).

Catch-MSY method for Philippine stocks

For the Philippines, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 25 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 21% when considering all 39 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 32). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 32. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Philippine
catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages,
straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of
the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Indian mackerel	79,998	79,170	1.01
Short mackerel	37,096	37,674	0.98
Skipjack tuna	34,522	35,131	0.98
Bigeye scad	41,557	41,964	0.99
Kawakawa	19,949	31,651	0.63
Rainbow sardine	10,704	50,992	0.21
Blue swimming crab	33,148	29,501	1.12
Yellowfin tuna	20,971	19,799	1.06
Moonfish	14,145	14,390	0.98
Narrow-barred Spanish mackerel	5,360	12,534	0.43
Torpedo scad	19,353	16,952	1.14
Japanese anchovy	19,460	19,617	0.99
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.88 (0.75)
Average of 39 taxa (weighted)			0.84 (0.79)

Russia²⁹

Barents Sea

The Barents Sea was among the first areas of the world to be subjected to large-scale, industrial fishing. On average, commercial fishing in the Barents Sea corresponds to around 5 % of global reported catches, and Russian fisheries catch in the Barents Sea fishery accounts for approximately 39 % of the total Barents Sea reported landings (Spiridonov and Nikolaeva 2005). For our purposes, the Barents Sea region consists of the Barents Sea and the White Sea, and is bordered by the Norwegian Sea in the west, the Svalbard archipelago and Bear Island in the northwest, Franz-Josef Land in the northeast, and Novaya Zemlya and the Kara Sea in the east



Figure 30. Map of the Russian Barents Sea EEZ showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and regions disputed prior to 2011 (cross-hatch). The EEZ dispute has been resolved between Russia and Norway in 2011. The Brazilian EEZ falls completely within the Barents Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Murmansk, Karelia, Arkhangel'sk, and Nenets, 1-4 respectively. The area covered by ecological models includes the entire EEZ of Russia in the Barents Sea.

(Figure 30). It extends between the latitudes 82°-59° N and 15°-68° E longitude (Matishov et al. 2011). It covers approximately 1.5 million km² of surface area and has an average depth of 200 m (Spiridonov and Nikolaeva 2005; Matishov et al. 2011). The fish fauna is composed of 182 around species and subspecies, belonging to 59 families, of which 21 species and subspecies are commercially targeted by Russian fisheries (Karamushko 2008). A detailed description of the marine environment of the Barents Sea can be found in Hempel et al. Russian commercial (2012). fishing activities in the Barents Sea existed since the 15th century, but were primarily artisanal in nature. Two main fleets exist and operate in the **Barents** region, the Arkhangels'sk fleet and the Murmansk fleet. The first steam trawler in the Arkhangels'sk region was introduced in 1906 (Helin 1964). In 1916, the city of Murmansk was intentionally build by the Soviet Union to

serve as an industrial and fisheries center (Helin 1964). In 1927, the Russian Barents region fishing fleet consisted of 17 fishing vessels, in 1931 the first diesel-fuelled trawler was introduced, and by 1933 the fleet counted 60 fishing vessels (Matishov et al. 2004). The year 1950 is noted as the start of the trawling era in Russian fishing history, with the first large stern trawlers enabling fishing in more distant areas. From then on, the fishery was largely dominated by demersal trawl gear, with only very limited use of long lines, gill nets, purse seines, and Danish seine. In 1955, the number of trawlers in the Murmansk fleet alone reached 562 (Grekov and Pavlenko 2011). In 2005, the total Russian Federation fishing fleet (including fleets outside of the Barents region) had 2,977 vessels, of which 2,522 are capture vessels, 39 factory vessels, 369 freezer vessels, and 47 scientific and educational vessels (EUROFISH 2005). In 2007, the Russian Barents Sea

²⁹ This introduction was provided by Dr. B. Jovanovic (University of Munich), the lead for the Russian catch reconstruction, and by Dr. D. Pauly (Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia).

groundfish fishery is still mainly operated by demersal trawl (93 % of total catch), followed by longline (7 %), and hand line (0.07 %), while the pelagic fishery consist mainly of pelagic trawl (85 %) and purse seine (15 %).

Black Sea

The Black Sea is the largest landlocked basin in the world, bounded by Europe, Anatolia and the Caucasus (Figure 31). It is connected by the Bosphorus Strait to the Sea of Marmara, which further connects to the Aegean Sea and the Mediterranean by the Strait of the Dardanelles. The



Figure 31. Map of the Russian Black Sea EEZ showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Russian Black Sea EEZ falls completely within the Black Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Rostov and Krasnodar, 1-2 respectively.

Sea were poorly organized and managed, predominately being based on traditional fishing techniques. In 1931, the first seiner was introduced, and in 1950 the first trawler was added to the fleet, with the fishery by then already organized as a state corporation (Knudsen and Toje 2008). The fishing fleet included at least 65 medium size vessels (25-30 m) in 1980, at the peak of the Russian Black Sea fisheries (Knudsen and Toje 2008). During the period 1970-1990, the fish stocks in the Black Sea were adversely influenced by overfishing, eutrophication, and the bloom of

Black Sea is also connected to the Sea of Azov by the Strait of Kerch. The Black Sea has an area approximate of 420,000 km² and a maximum depth of 2,212 m (Ozsoy and Unluata 1997). Due to its low salinity (18-18.5 %) and the anoxic regime bellow 200 m, the Black Sea region is unique, with many otherwise ubiquitous marine taxa being absent (such as cephalopods) while other freshwater/brackish species tolerant of such conditions are endemic to the region (Lleonart 2008; Yankova 2011). A total of 184 fish species inhabit the Black Sea, of which dozens appear on the IUCN list as endangered species (Yankova 2011): the number of commercially targeted fish species is less than 10.

The Black Sea, together with the Azov Sea. has been а traditionally important fishing ground for the Russian Federation and former Soviet Union (Knudsen and Toje 2008), as its fishery supported thousands of families along its coast since the end of the Crimean War in 1856, when the defeated Ottoman empire signed the treaty in Paris agreeing to Russian commerce and activities in the Black Sea. Prior to 1931. Russian fisheries in the Black

the introduced ctenophore *Mnemiopsis leidi*. As a result, the once highly productive ecosystem with species at all trophic levels first shifted towards an ecosystem dominated by small pelagic fish species (with elimination of top predator species) in 1980, and later in 1989 to an ecosystem dominated by gelatinous zooplankton, signaling fisheries collapse (Shiganova 1998; Shiganova and Bulgakova 2000). The final blow to the Russian fishery in the Black Sea was delivered by the collapse of the Soviet Union, manifested by the immediate disruption of state subsidies for the maintenance and operation of vessels. These factors resulted in most of the vessels from the fleet disbanding; the fishery has not recovered since (Knudsen and Toje 2008).

Pacific

The Russian Pacific waters (Figure 32) are also known as the Russian Far East (RFE) and host the largest percentage of the Russian fleet (Johnson 2004). This fleet generates the largest catch of all the entities that emerged from the dismemberment of the USSR (Zeller and Rizzo 2007). The RFE comprises the large Okhotsk Sea, whose biology is summarized (in English) in Chaikina (2004),



Figure 32. Map of the Russian Pacific EEZ showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and disputed region (cross-hatch). The Russian Pacific EEZ is part of four LMEs: the West Bering Sea LME, the Sea of Okhotsk LME, the Oyashio Current LME, and the Sea of Japan/East Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Chukchi Autonomous Okrug, Kamchatka, Maga Buryatdan, Khabarovsk, and Sakhalin, 1-5 respectively.

the waters north of Vladivostok (which include Sakhalin Island), the Kamchatka Peninsula and to its northeast, the Bering Sea (Newell 2004).

The waters of the RFE may also be seen as encompassing North Siberia, especially the Chukchi and Laptev Seas, but their fisheries yields are negligible (Pauly and Swartz 2007; Zeller et al. 2011a) and they can be ignored here. In the 1980s, landings from the RFE peaked at 4.6 million t (of which much was Alaska pollock), but declined to about 2.3 million t in the mid-1990s (Johnson 2004). Since RFE that time, the has experienced a modest catch increase but the management of the fisheries is marred by weak enforcement and strong illegal fishing (see e.g., Johnson 2004; Dronova and Spiridonov 2009; Miranovsky 2012).

Catch-MSY method for Russian (Barents Sea) stocks

For the Russian Barents Sea, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 73 % when considering either the top 12 landed species or all 29 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 33).

Table 33. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Russia Barents Sea catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Capelin	33,124	632,897	0.05
Atlantic cod	143,155	28,7163	0.50
Haddock	43,019	69,337	0.62
Atlantic herring	2,003	107,640	0.02
Polar cod	14,037	50,419	0.28
Northern prawn	16,593	16,227	1.02
Saithe	6,332	8,055	0.79
European plaice	1,578	10,199	0.15
Wolf-fish	5,875	3,515	1.67
Navaga	742	2,850	0.26
Atlantic halibut	92	533	0.17
American plaice	1,305	972	1.34
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.57 (0.27)
Average of 29 taxa (weighted)			0.57 (0.27)

Model results for Russian (Barents Sea) ecosystems

We used the Norwegian Sea and Barents Sea model (Dommasnes *et al.* 2001) as a representation of Russian marine ecosystems in the Barents Sea (Figure 30). The model covers ICES areas I, IIa and IIb north to approximately 81° N, which includes the Barents Sea and the Norwegian Sea, to 11° W and to 63° -64° N. The total surface area is 3,116,000 km². The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1950 to 2007.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy*, and similar results to the *optimization* simulations (Table 34, Figure 33a). The average fishing mortality from 1950 to 2007 is lower under the historical exploitation than the other two simulations (Figure 33b).

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 30-73 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, the catch could not be increased when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass.

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)		Catch:M	SY	
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Cod 4+	0.2300	0.2600	0.260	0.9	0.9
Haddock	0.0600	0.0600	0.050	1.0	1.2
Saithe	0.0500	0.0600	0.040	0.9	1.2
Blue whiting	0.0200	0.0700	0.010	0.2	1.6
Mackerel	0.0300	0.0700	0.030	0.5	1.3
Oth pelag fish	0.0100	0.0300	0.010	0.3	1.2
Herring 4+	0.4600	0.5000	0.480	0.9	1.0
Polar cod	0.0020	0.0100	0.002	0.2	1.6
Capelin	0.0200	0.0300	0.004	0.6	4.1
Redfish	0.0100	0.0200	0.010	0.4	1.6
Squid	0.0001	0.0003	<0.001	0.2	1.7
Prawns	0.0100	0.0500	0.010	0.2	1.5
Krill	0.0010	0.0030	<0.001	0.2	1.6
Total catch (sp table)	0.9000	1.1700	0.890	0.76	1.01
Total catch*	0.9300	1.3200	0.910	0.70	1.02

Table 34. Catch rate (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the Russian Barents Sea ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 17



Figure 33. a) Predicted total catches ($t\cdot km^{-2}\cdot year^{-1}$), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Russian Barents Sea ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Catch-MSY method for Russian (Black Sea) stocks

For the Russian Black Sea, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 77 % when considering either the top 12 landed species or when considering all 25 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 35). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 35. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Russia Black Sea catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Black Sea sprat	4,328.2	22,938	0.19
European anchovy	1,931.6	25,985	0.07
European sprat	5,389.1	4,971	1.08
Atlantic bluefin tuna	1,348.4	1,093	1.23
Big-scale sand smelt	15.7	906	0.02
European pilchard	767.4	806	0.95
Pontic shad	8.1	571	0.01
Atlantic mackerel	910.8	582	1.56
Mediterranean mussel	0.3	270	0.00
Atlantic bonito	5.4	493	0.01
Whiting	13.3	75	0.18
Blue whiting	60.4	63	0.96
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.52 (0.23)
Average of 25 taxa (weighted)			0.74 (0.23)

Catch-MSY method for Russian (Pacific) stocks

For the Russian Pacific, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 39 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 37 % when considering all 55 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 36). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 36. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Russia Pacific catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Alaska pollack	1,189,150	2,031,096	0.59
Japanese flying squid	274,650	231,669	1.19
Pacific herring	173,896	202,678	0.86
Pacific saury	195,884	221,938	0.88
Pacific cod	116,966	96,732	1.21
Chub mackerel	143,129	154,236	0.93
Pink salmon	125,087	123,056	1.02
Chum salmon	130,921	112,877	1.16
Red king crab	5,433	25,428	0.21
Okhostk atka mackerel	47,533	43,925	1.08
Sockeye salmon	20,408	26,661	0.77
Sailfin sandfish	6,915	32,589	0.21
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.84 (0.61)
Average of 55 taxa (weighted)			0.76 (0.63)

South Africa³⁰

South Africa has a long coastline, spanning two large marine ecosystems, the Benguela Current LME and the Agulhas Current LME (Figure 34). The Benguela Current ecosystem in particular is one of the most productive ocean ecosystems in the world in terms of biomass production and fishery resources due to the upwelling of cold, nutrient rich water (Cochrane et al. 2009). A unique group of fishes exist in the waters off South Africa due to distinct oceanographic conditions and the variety of habitats (Van der Elst et al. 2005). Today, the fishing industry in South Africa provides employment and income for at least 27,000 people, contributing less than 1 % of the country's GDP (FAO 2011a). South Africa has the highest reported catches in Africa, but only ranked 30th on a global scale in the 1990s (Hersoug and Holm 2000). The fisheries overall GDP value for 2008 was estimated at approximately 322 million USD and the overall value of the recreational and commercial fishery is estimated at 400-500 million USD annually. The fisheries can separated into three sectors: commercial/industrial, recreational, be and subsistence/artisanal sectors, all targeting over 250 marine species (FAO 2011a).



Figure 34. Map of South Africa showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The South African EEZ is part of the Benguela Current LME in the west and the Agulhas Current LME in the east. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Northern Cape, Western Cape, Eastern Cape, and KwaZulu-Natal, 1-4 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red.

Apartheid left South Africa with a horrible legacy of unemployment and an extremely unequal distribution of resources. Marine resources were also distributed unequally between small-scale and wellestablished large-scale operators. Furthermore, there was а regional imbalance in the fishing industry with most industry confined to the Western Cape (Hersoug and Holm 2000).

The commercial fishing industry consists of several different fisheries. The most important fishery is the deepsea trawl fishery and the smaller inshore trawl fishery mainly targeting hake stocks (Merluccius paradoxus and *M. capensis*), contributing approximately 50% of the overall value of the fishery. There are also small fisheries for hake using demersal longlines and handlines (FAO 2011a). There is also a pelagic

purse seine fishery targeting sardine (*Sardinops ocellatus*), anchovy (*Engraulis capensis*) and round herring (*Etrumeus whiteheadi*); producing fishmeal, oil and canned fish, which contributes 25 % of the value of all fisheries (Hersoug and Holm 2000; FAO 2011a). A midwater trawl fishery is targeting horse mackerel (*Trachurus capensis*) on the Agulhas Bank.

There are two important rock lobster fisheries in South Africa. On the West Coast, an inshore fishery is targeting West Coast rock lobster (*Jasus lalandii*), and on the South Coast, a deep-water fishery is targeting *Palinurus gilchristi*. Rock lobster contributes less than 1 % by mass to the total

³⁰ This introduction was provided by Dr. S. Baust (Oxford University).

fishery, but the contribution by value is approximately 9-10 %. There is a very valuable, but politically highly disputed, abalone fishery (*Haliotis midae*). 'Poaching' (a politically fraught term) and resulting overexploitation led to the temporal closure of the industry in the late 2000s (Hauck and Sweijd 1999; Raemaekers and Britz 2009).

Other smaller fishing sectors include trawl fleets targeting shrimp off the coast of Kwa-Zulu Natal; a pelagic longline fishery targeting various tuna species, sharks and billfishes; and a tuna bait and pole fishery. Additionally, there is a small squid jig fishery (targeting chokka squid *Loligo vulgaris reynaudi*) and a large linefish sector in terms of area fished and people employed, targeting a great diversity of fish species (FAO 2012).

In general, catch data for the South African industrial fisheries appear to be well documented and catch statistics are readily available. However, there are no official catch statistics for the marginalized subsistence sector, as well as no comprehensive estimates for the recreational sector.

Catch-MSY method for South African stocks

For South Africa, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 21 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 19 % when considering all 48 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 37).

Table 37. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the South African catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Cape anchovy	215,899	405,043	0.53
South American pilchard	277,728	230,123	1.21
Whiteheads round herring	43,224	51,996	0.83
Cape horse mackerel	19,334	23,174	0.83
Chub mackerel	4,335	20,536	0.21
Snoek	11,126	12,350	0.90
Cape rock lobster	3,855	9,928	0.39
Kingklip	4,272	3,327	1.28
Cape monk	7,554	5,900	1.28
Cape Hope squid	7,893	6,536	1.21
Silver scabbardfish	6,502	6,698	0.97
Panga seabream	1,255	2,083	0.60
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.85 (0.79)
Average of 48 taxa (weighted)			0.59 (0.81)

Model results for South African ecosystems

We used the Southern Benguela upwelling model (Shannon *et al.* 2004; Shannon *et al.* 2008) as a representation of South African marine ecosystems (Figure 34). The model covers the Southern Benguela upwelling current, encompassing the shallow Agulhas Bank in the south in addition to the upwelling area off the West Coast, and it is located between 29° to 36° S and 14° to 27° E. The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1978 to 2003.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations (Table 38, Figure 35a). The average fishing mortality from 1950 to 2007 is lower under the historical exploitation in comparison with the one from the *allFmsy* simulation and similar to the *optimization* simulation (Figure 35b).

	Catch (t⋅km ⁻² ⋅year ⁻¹)		Catch:M	SY	
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Anchovy	0.2600	1.51	0.6000	0.2	0.4
Sardine	1.8100	4.90	4.1800	0.4	0.4
Redeye	0.2400	1.68	0.1300	0.1	1.8
Other small pelagics	0.0003	0.02	0.0003	0.02	0.9
Chub mackerel	0.0500	0.08	0.0200	0.6	2.1
Horse mackerel	0.1200	0.66	0.1000	0.2	1.2
Snoek	0.0600	0.09	0.0800	0.7	0.8
Other large pelagics	0.1300	0.29	0.1000	0.4	1.2
Large Merlucius capensis	0.0600	0.14	0.1300	0.4	0.4
Large Merlucius paradoxus	0.2700	0.22	0.1600	1.2	1.7
Benthic demersals	0.0900	0.77	0.2600	0.1	0.3
Total catch (sp table)	3.0900	10.34	5.7800	0.30	0.54
Total catch*	3.3100	12.25	5.9700	0.27	0.55

Table 38. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the South
African ecosystem and the two simulations (2: allFmsy and 3: optimization). Ratios of catch to MSY
represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 20



Figure 35. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the South African ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 21-73 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass, the catch could only be increased by 45 %.

South Korea³¹

The Republic of Korea is located between 33°-38° N and 125°-131° E on the southern portion of the Korean Peninsula, and is generally known as South Korea. Its mainland and 3,400 islands have a land area of over 100,000 km², with an EEZ of over 475,000 km² (Figure 36). Neighboring countries are the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (North Korea), China and Japan.



Figure 36. Map of South Korea showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and disputed regions. The South Korean EEZ is part of the Yellow Sea LME and the Sea of Japan/East Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Inch'on-gwangyoksi, Gyeonggi-do, Chungcheongnam-do, Jeollabuk-do, Gwangju, Gyeongsangnam-do, Ulsan, Daegu, and Gangwon-do, 1-9 respectively.

While fishing contributes less than 1 % to the overall economy of South Korea. this figure is not representative of the importance of fishing and seafood to the South Koreans (Bowden and Prosser 2006). In 2005, Korea ranked as the world's 15th largest marine fishing country. Over 200,000 people are employed in the fisheries sector (Bowden and Prosser 2006). Since the early 1980s, the government has been trying to improve the sustainability of fisheries, introducing catch limits and attempting to curtail effort, a reflection of the importance of this important source of food and income to the country.

During the first half of the 20th century, Japan occupied South Korea, and the fisheries were extremely limited and smallscale. After South Korea's founding in 1948, there was still little industrial infrastructure, and much of the fishing fleet was destroyed during WWII and the Korean War (1950-1953). Typhoon Sarah in 1959 following the Korean War caused a further decline in the number of fishing boats from 49,000 vessels in

1946 to 29,000 in 1959. These events are reflected in the low South Korean reported fisheries landings from the 1940s to the 1960s (Jeong 1991). The South Korean government revised its fishery policy 13 times between 1953 and 1990 in order to develop appropriate policies for managing a growing fishing industry (Ryu 1991).

Despite these revisions, the 1990s witnessed an increase in fishing effort. The number of fishing boats increased to 75,000 in 1996 and 81,000 in 1997, with nearly 70 % operating within the Korean EEZ (Park 1999). The excess effort resulted in the overfishing of many commercially important species, especially coastal resources, and a reduction in the reported landings since 1986 (Kang 2011; Korea Fisheries Association 2011). In response, in 1994, the government

³¹ This introduction was provided by Ms. S. Shon (Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia), the lead for the South Korean catch reconstruction currently being completed.

initiated a boat reduction project to allow exhausted fishery resources to recover, and by 2008, successfully decommissioned 16,800 boats, of which 10,400 were coastal boats(Kang 2011).

In the 1950s, the commercial fishing industry operated solely within EEZ-equivalent waters. Reported landings from these waters were 216,000 t, or approximately 98 % of the overall South Korean fisheries catches at that time. As the distant-water fisheries and aquaculture production increased, the domestic fishery (within EEZ equivalent waters) saw its catches decline to only 36 % in 2010 (Korea Fisheries Association 2011).

The major targeted species have progressively changed over time. In the 1950s and 1960s, the most frequently caught species were largehead hairtail (*Trichiurus lepturus*) and squid (Jang and Lee 2002). This was replaced by large catches of chub mackerel (*Scomber japonicus*) and thread-sail filefish (*Stephanolepis cirrhifer*) catches in the 1970s, and thread-sail filefish and Pacific sardine (*Sardinops sagax*) in the 1980s. In the 1990s, Japanese anchovy (*Engraulis japonicus*) was the most frequently caught species. Overall, the trophic level of major targeted species has decreased from 3.45 in the 1950s to 3.17 by 2000 (Jang and Lee 2002).

The switch from domestic to distant water fisheries really began in 1962 with the establishment of the first five-year Economic Development Plan, which was focused on fisheries development, especially distant-water fisheries³². Although the distant-water fishery began with the tuna longline test fishery in the Indian Ocean in 1957, the government officially added the distant-water fishery as a distinct sector in 1963 (Ryu 1991). The distant-water fishery expanded to all oceans of the world in a relatively short period of time³³. However, catches were not substantial until the broad utilization of flash-freezers in 1968. Thereafter, the increase of distant-water catches contributed to the large increase of the reported marine landings seen from the late 1950s onward (Korea Fisheries Association 2010). The distant-water fisheries reported 656 t in 1962 and increased their reported landings to 1 million t by 1992. The establishment of 200 nm EEZs by coastal nations starting from the late 1970s, and the establishment of Regional Fisheries Management Organizations (RFMOs) reducing uncontrolled access to fishing grounds may have contributed to the decline in reported landings beginning in the 1990s.

Catch-MSY method for South Korean stocks

For South Korea, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 57 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 45 % when considering all 90 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 39). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

³²www.doopedia.co.kr/doopedia/master/master.do?_method=view&MAS_IDX=101013000848587#MGR OUP_101015000148852 [Accessed: March 17, 2010]

³³ www.kosfa.org/english/e_fish/e_fish1.asp [Accessed: January 17 2011]

averages for an or the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.					
Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY		
Pacific sardine	7,291	129,028	0.06		
Chub mackerel	50,429	73,078	0.69		
Japanese anchovy	87,889	108,473	0.81		
Largehead hairtail	31,462	69,627	0.45		
Alaska Pollack	17,200	36,305	0.47		
Japanese flying squid	54,217	57,258	0.95		
Japanese carpet shell	17,257	21,132	0.82		
Japanese jack mackerel	18,957	19,880	0.95		
Yellow croaker	11,787	18,265	0.65		
Okhostk atka mackerel	26,793	29,180	0.92		
Akiami paste shrimp	4,748	8,684	0.55		
Chum salmon	6,674	9,998	0.67		
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.66 (0.43)		
Average of 90 taxa (weighted)			0.52 (0.55)		

Table 39. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the South Korean catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Spain³⁴

Spain is located on the southern part of the European continent, between 44^o and 36^o N and 9^o W and 3^o E, with a land area of around 506,000 km² and an EEZ of 552,000 km² (Figure 37). Adjacent to Spain are France to the north, the Mediterranean Sea to the east, Portugal to the west and the Strait of Gibraltar and Morocco to the south. The shelf area is narrow with 68,000 km² and the bulk of the EEZ consists of deep waters. Spain hosts more than 40 million people and is one of the primary tourist destinations in the world.



Figure 37. Map of Spain showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The Spanish EEZ is part of the Iberian Coastal LME and the Mediterranean Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: País Vasco, Cantabria, Principado de Asturias, Galicia, Andalucía, Región de Murcia, Comunidad Valenciana, Cataluña, and Islas Baleares, 1-8 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red.

Part of the Spanish EEZ covers the Mediterranean Sea, and the other part covers the Atlantic Ocean. Given the generally high human population along its shores, the long history and diversity of human impacts, the Spanish EEZ has been altered extensively throughout history. At present, fishing impacts, as well as habitat loss and degradation, pollution, eutrophication, and the introduction of alien species are the most important threats to diversity (Costello *et al.* 2010).

The continental shelf in Spain is generally narrow and 50 m depth is usually found approximately 3 nm from shore. Fishing activities are mainly coastal or littoral, although Spain has an important distant water fleet fishing overseas (such as in Morocco and Mauritania). The main fishing fleets operating in the area are bottom and

mid-water trawlers, purse seine, bottom and surface long lines, and a diverse artisanal fleet. Spain contains many fishing harbours, first-source fishing markets (or 'Lonjas', where catches that are unloaded in the harbour are commercialized), and fishers labour organizations ('Cofradias de pescadores').

Spanish official landings steadily increased from the 1950s to the 1960s, and have since decreased. Major species in the reported data include European sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*), European anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus*), and other small and medium-sized pelagic fish such as round sardinelle (*Sardinella aurita*), horse mackerel (*Trachurus* spp.) and mackerel (*Scomber* spp.), and demersal species, such as common hake (*Merluccius merluccius*), red mullets (*Mullus* spp.), anglerfish (*Lophius* spp.) and blue whiting (*Micromesistius poutassou*). Invertebrate catches are also economically important, such as those of red shrimp (*Aristeus antennatus*), European spiny lobster (*Palinurus elephas*), rose shrimp (*Parapenaeus longirostris*), Norway lobster (*Nephrops norvegicus*) and cephalopod and bivalve species. Spain also lands important catches of tunas and associated species, especially of Atlantic Bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*).

Scientific and management advice is implemented by national, regional and international entities such as the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES) and the General Fisheries Commission for the Mediterranean (GFCM) in cooperation with the Fisheries Department of the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO), and the European Community (EC), the International Commission for the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (ICCAT) and the United Nations Environmental Program (UNEP). Moreover, the Scientific, Technical and Economic

³⁴ This introduction was provided by Dr. M. Coll (Institut de Ciencies del Mar, Barcelona), the lead for the catch reconstruction for southern and Mediterranean Spain.

Committee for Fisheries (STECF) of the EU provide scientific recommendations about fisheries of EU Member states.

Despite many stockholders being involved in fisheries monitoring and management, considerable evidence of substantial unreported landings and failures of the control system exists for many European countries, including Spain. Unreported landings in Spain, and the ecological and socioeconomic problems associated with this, have made the news on several occasions. In 2007, a special report by the European Court of Auditors highlighted many deficiencies and failures of control, inspection and sanction systems of 6 European countries, including Spain (Court of Auditors 2007). The Court stated that overfishing generated by over-capacity and the considerable weaknesses of the European fisheries control system are threatening European fish stocks. The Court concluded that (i) fishing data collected in Member States of the European Union are unreliable and incomplete, and are inadequate as a basis for setting Total Allowable Catches (TACs) and quotas; (ii) national inspection procedures to detect and prevent infringements are ineffective; and (iii) the penalties imposed by national authorities when infringements are detected are not sufficiently onerous to act as a deterrent. Spain was singled out in several occasions as a frequent offender due to, for example, extensive underreporting of catch of large pelagic fish.

Under-reporting is an important proportion of the catch (Coll *et al.* 2013); thus under-reporting it can reach more than 40 % of official catch, and may be increasing due to the recent economic crisis. At present, several marine resources of Spain are fully exploited or overexploited and several fish species are listed as species at risk by the IUCN, e.g., common hake and Atlantic bluefin tuna (Abdul Malak *et al.* 2011).

Catch-MSY method for Spanish (Atlantic) stocks

For the Spanish Atlantic, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 99 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 98 % when considering all 60 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 40). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 40. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Spanish Atlantic catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Blue mussel	534	32,293	0.02
Common edible cockle	2,532	5,392	0.47
Striped venus	2,140	5,279	0.41
Common shrimp	177	3,438	0.05
Ling	165	1,435	0.11
Grooved carpet shell	301	1,239	0.24
Garpike	151	2,030	0.07
Pullet carpet shell	667	1,191	0.56
European flying squid	189	1,312	0.14
Atlantic cod	64	1,646	0.04
Piked dogfish	37	557	0.07
Northern shortfin squid	481	1,130	0.43
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.22 (0.01)
Average of 60 taxa (weighted)			0.45 (0.02)

Catch-MSY method for Spanish (Mediterranean) stocks

For the Spanish Mediterranean, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 44 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 38 % when considering all 68 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 41).

Table 41. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Spanish Mediterranean catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
European pilchard	26,085	42,667	0.61
European anchovy	11,997	21,880	0.55
Blue whiting	3,657	6,323	0.58
European hake	4,791	4,704	1.02
Atlantic mackerel	6,140	5,411	1.13
Bogue	1,483	4,344	0.34
Deepwater rose shrimp	979	1,645	0.60
Northern bluefin tuna	3,209	2,626	1.22
Swordfish	1,990	1,978	1.01
Angler	1,447	1,130	1.28
Norway lobster	639	708	0.90
Striped venus	765	944	0.81
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.84 (0.56)
Average of 68 taxa (weighted)			0.81 (0.62)

Model results for Spanish (Mediterranean) ecosystems

We used the Southern Catalan Sea model (Coll *et al.* 2008b; Coll *et al.* in press) to represent the Spanish Mediterranean Sea ecosystem. The original model covers 4,500 km² of the Spanish EEZ including depths of 30 to 400 m between 41° and 39° N and 0° E and 2° E (Figure 24). The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1978 to 2010.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, both in terms of most targeted species and in terms of all catch (Table 42, Figure 38a). The average fishing mortality from 1978 to 2010 is lower in both the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations than in the historical exploitation regime (Figure 38b).

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch:M	ISY
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
European pilchard	0.5300	1.80	1.9900	0.3	0.3
European anchovy	1.0000	0.55	0.6900	1.8	1.5
Blue whiting	0.0900	1.42E-20	0.0500	>100	1.7
European hake	0.1900	0.10	0.0800	1.8	2.3
Atlantic mackerel	0.0030	0.21	0.0030	0.0	1.1
Other small pelagic fish	0.0004	5.78E-07	0.0400	>100	0.0
Shrimps	0.0100	0.02	0.0010	0.4	5.2
Large pelagic fish	0.0200	3.39E-03	0.0004	4.6	36.6
Angler fish	0.0100	0.01	0.0200	0.8	0.3
Norway lobster	0.0100	0.03	0.0100	0.2	1.0
Total catch (sp table)	1.8400	2.72	2.8800	0.68	0.64
Total catch*	2.2700	4.18	3.3200	0.54	0.68

Table 42. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1; <i>baseline</i>) from the Spanish
Mediterranean ecosystem and the two simulations (2: <i>allFmsy</i> and 3: <i>optimization</i>). Ratios of catch to
MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 26



Figure 38. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Spanish Mediterranean ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 38-46 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass, the catch could only be increased by 32 %.

Turkey³⁵

Turkey's shoreline touches three major seas: the Black Sea, the Aegean Sea and the Levant Sea in the eastern Mediterranean Sea, and one territorial sea, the Sea of Marmara (Figure 39). The significance of Turkish fisheries grew immensely during the 20th century due to a rapid growth in catch capacity from industrial fishing, coupled with state investment in the industry. For example, in the 1930s, total reported catches were between 25,000 and 30,000 t (Üstündağ 2010), and by 2010, Turkey reported over 445,000 t of marine catches (TÜİK 2010).



Figure 39. Map of Turkey showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime state. The Turkish EEZ is part of the Black Sea LME and the Mediterranean LME. Numbers correspond to maritime regions: Marmara, Aegean, Black Sea, Mediterranean, and Southeastern Anatolia, 1-5 respectively.

The majority of catches from the Turkish Black Sea have been historically dominated by anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolus), while more recently, sprat (Sprattus cockle sprattus), (Chamelea gallina) and sea snail (Rapana venosa) catches have gained importance (TÜİK 1967-2009). Dolphin (Delphinus *delphis*) hunts were intensive in the Black Sea from the 1870s for a century, which removed some of the largest predators from this ecosystem (Zengin 2011). Industrial operations dominate the commercial fisheries of this sea, estimated to account for over 93% of commercial landings (Ulman et al., unpubl. data).

Black Sea fishing is mainly conducted by purse seiners and pelagic trawlers. Purse seining began in the Turkish Black Sea in the 1930s and has dominated these fisheries since the 1960s (Gücü 2001). The late 1980s saw a collapse of stocks in the Black Sea, resulting in a 'national fisheries crisis', stemming from overfishing, pollution and an alien jellyfish invasion. Industrial operations shifted from small pelagics to demersal fish post-crisis (Knudsen 1997). Bottom trawlers switched their target fisheries to small pelagics such as sprat after a resulting decline in demersal fish catches in the 1990s. Turkey, by far, dominates total fishery catches in the Black Sea.Although the destructive fishing technique of bottom trawling is technically banned in both the eastern Black Sea and Sea of Marmara, the practice openly continues and the number of bottom trawlers and their catches in these waters are reported to the government.

Industrial fishing operations in the Sea of Marmara contribute about 70 % of total commercial catches, the remainder being caught by the artisanal sector (Ulman *et al.*, unpubl. data). The major taxa commercially landed during the 1950-2010 period were bluefish (*Pomatomus saltatrix*), Mediterranean horse mackerel (*Trachurus mediterraneus*) and bonito (*Sarda sarda*). The corridor extending from the Dardanelles, extending through the Sea of Marmara to the Bosphorus Strait in Istanbul hosts a massive recreational fishery which surpasses catches of some commercially-targeted species (Ünal *et al.* 2010; Zengin 2011).

The commercial fisheries of the Aegean Sea are dominated by the inshore artisanal sector, while the commercial fisheries of the Levant Sea are dominated by the industrial sector. Both areas landed mostly sardine and mullet for the 1950-2010 period (Ulman *et al.*, unpubl. data). Artisanal and recreational catches in these two seas are much lower than the Black Sea and Marmara Sea due to lower ecosystem productivity.

³⁵ This introduction was provided by Ms. A. Ulman (Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia), the lead of the Turkish catch reconstruction.

The taxonomic composition of catches has considerably shifted in the last 50 years. In the 1950s and 1960s, larger valuable species such as Atlantic mackerel (*Scomber scombrus*), bonito and bluefish, mullets and turbot contributed about 65 % of catches (Hinrichson 1998), while small pelagics contributed the remaining 35 %. By 2010, small pelagic such as anchovy, sprat and sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*) accounted for 78 % of reported catches in Turkey (TÜİK 2010).

Catch-MSY method for Turkish (Black Sea) stocks

For the Turkish Black Sea, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 47 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 45 % when considering all 47 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 43). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 43. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Turkish Black Sea catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
European anchovy	110,093	221,371	0.50
Mediterranean horse mackerel	8,132	41,795	0.19
European sprat	22,021	16,370	1.35
Atlantic bonito	10,787	8,490	1.27
Whiting	7,378	13,755	0.54
Atlantic horse mackerel	4,338	6,803	0.64
Bluefish	10,771	7,347	1.47
Atlantic bluefin tuna	4,195.	3,051	1.38
Black Sea sprat	1,523	10,751	0.14
Striped venus	15,928	12,557	1.27
Chub mackerel	267	4,382	0.06
European pilchard	2,228	3,680	0.61
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.78 (0.53)
Average of 47 taxa (weighted)			0.91 (0.55)

Catch-MSY method for Turkish (Mediterranean) stocks

For the Turkish Mediterranean, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 23 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 10 % when considering all 67 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 44). However, the absence of an ecosystem model precludes evaluation of the ecosystem effect, such as trophic interactions, on this evaluation.

Table 44. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Turkish Mediterranean catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
European anchovy	62,294	60,971	1.02
Atlantic bonito	13,444	10,611	1.27
European pilchard	13,837	17,542	0.79
Chub mackerel	1,939	8,801	0.22
Atlantic horse mackerel	6,494	5,380	1.21
Blue whiting	3,230	9,668	0.33
Mediterranean horse mackerel	6,510	7,583	0.86
Bluefish	8,090	4,646	1.74
Atlantic mackerel	571	6,573	0.09
Bogue	2,868	3,280	0.87
Striped venus	5,446	7,147	0.76
Mediterranean mussel	3,843	2,129	1.81
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.91 (0.77)
Average of 67 taxa (weighted)			0.99 (0.90)

United Kingdom³⁶

The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland consists of a group of islands located to the north-west of the European continent between 50° and 60° N and 1° and 6° W, with a land area of around 243,600 km² and an EEZ of 774,000 km² (Figure 40). Northern Ireland shares a land border with Ireland, and the U.K. sahres EEZ boundaries with Ireland in the Irish and Celtic Seas, The Faroe Islands, Iceland and Norway in the North Atlantic and Norwegian Sea, Norway, Denmark, Germany, The Netherlands, Belgium, and France in the North Sea, and France in the English Channel. To the northwest and southwest, the U.K.'s EEZ extends a full 200 nm into the North Atlantic, with the northwest much extended by the uninhabited westerly isles of St. Kilda and Rockall. The U.K. has an extensive continental shelf area that is home to rich fishery resources. The U.K. has a population of over 62 million people.



Figure 40. Map of the U.K. showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The U.K. EEZ is part of the North Sea LME and the Celtic-Biscay Shelf LME. Numbers correspond to maritime regions: Scotland, Northern Ireland, Northeast, Northwest, Yorkshire and Humberside, Wales, West Midlands, East Midlands, Southwest, Southeast, and Eastern, 1-11 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red.

The seas around the U.K. are host to some of the most productive fisheries in the world (Fishery Agencies 2005). Over 330 species of fish have been recorded in the shallow waters of the U.K. coastal shelf, with more in the deep-water habitats to the northwest of Scotland and Northern Ireland. There is some geographical distinction in fish populations in U.K. waters north and between south. Species diversity is greater in west and southwest U.K. waters, with the least diversity found in the central and south North Sea (Fishery Agencies 2005). The majority of U.K. fishers operate in a diversely mixed fishery, which can lead to high levels of discarding.

As of 2011, there were 6,444 fishing vessels operating in the

U.K., 5,056 of which are under ten metres long (MMO 2012). The U.K. has the second largest fishing fleet by capacity in the E.U., at around half the size of the Spanish fleet (MMO 2012). Both the number of vessels and the overall capacity of the U.K. fleet have fallen drastically in recent years, with about a quarter of the vessels and the fishing capacity in the U.K. leaving the fleet since 1996. The main fishing methods are bottom trawling for demersal species, midwater trawling for pelagics and pots for shellfish, with diverse gears used across the small-scale fleet. Much management of the large-scale fleet is devolved to regional producer organisations, which take on a variety of responsibilities from quota management to processing/marketing (Hatcher and Cunningham 1994)

In 2011, U.K. vessels landed 600,000 t of fish (including shellfish) into the U.K. and abroad. This figure covers fish caught both in and out of the U.K. EEZ. The vast majority of U.K. catches are made in the northern North Sea and west of Scotland. These landings have decreased dramatically since the 1960s and 1970s, with official landings figures for U.K. boats landing into the U.K. at around 990,000 t in 1950, 975,000 t in 1970 and 759,000 t in 1980. A large proportion of this decline was in landings of demersal species, landings of which almost halved

³⁶ This introduction was provided by Ms. E. Cardwell (Oxford University Centre for the Environment, Oxford), the lead for the U.K. catch reconstruction currently being completed.

between 1970 and 1980 as the U.K. distant water fishery was curtailed by the introduction of territorial waters, particularly in Iceland and Norway.

The U.K. is part of the E.U. Common Fisheries Policy, so the EEZ boundaries do not apply to management regimes or fishing fleets, as all European fishers have access to a 'common pool' of the waters of E.U. member states. U.K. government laboratories that research the status of marine fisheries are CEFAS (in England and Wales), the Scottish Fisheries Research Services Marine Laboratory, and the Department for Agriculture and Rural Development for Northern Ireland. All these are involved in the wider European stock assessments undertaken by the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea. These are then used to inform the total allowable catches for given species in certain areas that are set by the European Commission. The U.K. manages its total allowable catch by allocating fixed quota allocations to fishing vessels over ten metres long. These are managed by producer organisations as that organisation sees fit: either as a pool that is fished against by its members, individual quotas or a mixture of both (Hatcher et al. 2002). The fleet quota for vessels <10 m is managed separately by the government. Shellfish (except for nephrops) are not managed by a quota system, instead coming under the jurisdiction of regional Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authorities. Certain species (such as cod) are also subject to days at sea limitations. U.K. fisheries also have a range of rules on gear, closed areas and seasons (including marine conservation zones) and minimum landing sizes.

Unreported landings were considered to be widespread in the U.K. until 2005, when the government introduced the registration of fish at first sale in the U.K., making the sale of illegal fish difficult. Prior to this, fishers generally agree that unreported landings were significant. In early 2012 a high profile court case found seventeen pelagic vessel skippers guilty of landing over £62 million pounds worth of illegal over-quota fish between 2002 and 2005. Skippers in the northeast of Scotland reported that the high level of illegal landings in both the pelagic and demersal sectors depressed the price to such a degree that it was difficult to be economically successful if fishing legally. During the period between the introduction of E.U. quotas and the 2005 registration of buyers and seller's legislation, small scale fishing vessels were largely unregulated by the U.K. government. Government statistics included a nominal estimation of catches by the small-scale fleet, which the data availability afforded by the 2005 regulation proved to be a significant underestimation (Cardwell 2012). As such, official data on U.K. landings before 2005 are underestimations of actual catches.

Catch-MSY method for U.K. stocks

For the U.K., the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 55 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 44% when considering all 106 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 45).

Table 45. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the U.K. catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Atlantic herring	298,722	930,176	0.32
Atlantic mackerel	279,673	296,089	0.94
Norway pout	43,561	173,032	0.25
Atlantic cod	59,014	122,137	0.48
Blue whiting	349,805	307,654	1.14
Haddock	52,920	112,637	0.47
Saithe	65,643	88,,828	0.74
Whiting	38,271	73,480	0.52
Atlantic horse mackerel	71,243	108,825	0.65
European plaice	22,699	36,020	0.63
European sprat	30,846	60,714	0.51
Blue mussel	10,853	26,629	0.41
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.59 (0.45)
Average of 106 taxa (weighted)			0.88 (0.56)

Model results for U.K. ecosystems

We used the North Sea ecosystem model (Mackinson and Daskalov 2007) to represent the U.K. marine ecosystems. The North Sea covers 570,000 km² and has an average depth of 90 m. It is located between 62° and 50° N and 4° and 8° E (Figure 40) and bounded by the coasts of Norway, Denmark, Germany, the Netherlands, Belgium, France and Great Britain, and it is recognized as a Large Marine Ecosystem. The model had been fitted from 1991 to 2007.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, both in terms of most targeted species and in terms of all catch (Table 46., Figure 41a). The average fishing mortality for the historical period is similar in both the historical exploitation region and *optimization* simulations with respect to the *allFmsy* simulation (Figure 41b).

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch:MS	SY
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Cod (adult)	0.260	0.20	0.13	1.3	2.0
Whiting (adult)	0.050	0.08	0.27	0.6	0.2
Haddock (adult)	0.080	0.15	0.03	0.5	2.3
Saithe (adult)	0.130	0.06	0.08	2.1	1.7
Hake	0.004	0.01	0.01	0.4	0.5
Blue whiting	0.010	0.06	0.09	0.2	0.2
Norway pout	0.710	1.60	0.38	0.4	1.9
Herring (adult)	0.610	0.02	1.19	38.2	0.5
Sprat	0.080	0.28	0.26	0.3	0.3
Mackerel	0.210	0.50	0.66	0.4	0.3
Horse mackerel	0.110	0.30	0.20	0.4	0.6
Plaice	0.550	2.32E-20	0.52	>100	1.1
Total catch (sp table)	2.140	2.95	3.09	0.73	0.69
Total catch*	4.580	9.72	7.07	0.47	0.65

Table 46. Catch rate (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the U.K. ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 49



Figure 41. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the U.K. ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 44-53 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass, the catch could only be increased by 35 %.

United States37

The EEZ of the U.S. is the largest in the world, encompassing over 12 million km², covers at least one million km² of continental shelf and includes a variety of physical features and habitats that have resulted in highly productive fisheries.



Figure 42. Map of the U.S. East Coast and Gulf of Mexico showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The U.S. East Coast is part of the Northeast U.S. Continental Shelf LME and the Southeast U.S. Continental Shelf LME. The U.S. Gulf of Mexico falls within the Gulf of Mexico LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Texas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, Florida, Georgia, South Carolina, North Carolina, Virginia, Maryland, Delaware, New Jersey, New York, Connecticut, Rhode Island, Massachusetts. New Hampshire, and Maine. 1-18 respectively. The area covered by the ecological model is highlighted in red.

Atmospheric Association (NOAA), which would oversee the new federal agency, the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). The Fisheries Conservation and Management Act (FCMA) was passed in 1976, establishing a Fishery Conservation Zone (later proclaimed an Exclusive Economic Zone in 1983), which extended U.S. authority over its fisheries resources from 12 to 200 nm. It also legislated the creation of eight regional fishery management councils (New England, Mid-Atlantic, South Atlantic, Gulf of Mexico, Western Pacific, Pacific, and North Pacific, which includes Alaska), charged with coordinating state, regional, tribal and federal interests and developing fishery management plans. It was not until 1989, following decades of expansion and intense fishing pressure which culminated in declining yields from many important stocks, that NMFS acknowledged the need for overfishing definitions to be included in the fishery management plan for each stock. Since 1996, conservation-oriented amendments to the FCMA, renamed the Magnuson-Stevens Fisheries Conservation and Management Act, have resulted in efforts to protect essential fish habitat, rebuild overfished fisheries, reduce bycatch, and assess and minimize impacts on coastal communities (Hanna *et al.* 2000).

authorities were responsible for the management of domestic marine fisheries within the 3 nm-wide territorial sea, while extensive foreign fishing outside of this zone was federally regulated according to international fishing agreements. As foreign catch began to exceed domestic catch during the 1950s and 1960s, the primary focus of the U.S. was to remain competitive via the modernization and expansion of its commercial fishing fleet as well as the extension of domestic fishing rights farther offshore (Hanna et al. 2000). In 1966, U.S. jurisdiction over its coastal waters increased to 12 nm from the coastline with the establishment of a fisheries zone contiguous to the territorial sea. During the 1970s, efforts to 'Americanize' fisheries, i.e., foreign remove competing fishing vessels, and develop a 'new frontier' of resources further from shore were evident (Hanna et al. 2000). In 1970. President Nixon created the National Oceanic and

Prior to the mid-1970s, state

³⁷ This introduction was provided by Dr. A. McCrea Strub (Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia), the lead for the U.S. catch reconstruction presently being completed.

East Coast and Gulf of Mexico

The portions of the U.S. EEZ located in the Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico collectively account for approximately 13 % of the total area of the U.S. EEZ (Figure 42). Fishing grounds off the East Coast, extending from the coral reefs of the Florida Keys to Georges Bank and the Gulf of Maine, are influenced by the warm, northward flowing Gulf Stream Current, and the cold, southward flowing Slope Current, as well as outflow from numerous rivers. U.S. waters in the Gulf of Mexico are dominated by freshwater input from the Mississippi River, as well as periodic upwelling along the edge of the Loop Current (Sherman and Hempel 2008). Both regions are characterized by an extensive continental shelf.

Important commercial fisheries along the East Coast include the Atlantic menhaden (*Brevoortia tyrannus*) purse seining fleet; trawlers targeting Northeast groundfish, including Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) and silver hake (*Merluccius bilinearis*); and numerous shellfish fisheries, including the American cupped oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*), Altlantic surf clam (*Spisula*)



Figure 43. Map of the U.S. West Coast, Alaska and Hawaii, showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland and all maritime states. The U.S. West Coast falls within the California Current LME. Alaska is part of four LMEs: the East Bering Sea LME, the Chukchi Sea LME, the Beaufort Sea LME, and the Gulf of Alaska LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states (or geographic entities for Hawaii): Alaska, Washington, Oregon, California, Hawaii Main Islands, and Hawaii Northwest Islands, 1-6 respectively. The area covered by ecological models is highlighted in red.

West Coast

Pacific waters off of California, Oregon, and Washington comprise approximately 7 % of the U.S. EEZ (Figure 43). This region is dominated by seasonal upwelling of cold, nutrient-rich water along the southward-flowing California Current. While the continental shelf is rather narrow along this coastline, there are numerous bays and estuaries, notably Puget Sound, San Francisco Bay and the Columbia River estuary. Commercial fisheries along the West Coast have primarily targeted groundfish, including Pacific hake (*Merluccius productus*), Pacific cod (*Gadus macrocephalus*), Alaska pollock (*Theragra chalcogramma*), sablefish (*Anoplopoma fimbria*) and Pacific ocean perch (*Sebastes alutus*), salmon, primarily pink (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*), transboundary pelagic species, including the anchovy (*Engraulis mordax*), Pacific sardine (*Sardinops sagax*), and Pacific jack mackerel (*Trachurus symmetricus*), dungeness crab (*Metacarcinus magister*), and California market squid (*Loligo opalescens*).

solidissima), American sea scallop (Placopecten *magellanicus*), ocean quahog (Arctica islandica) and northern quahog (Mercenaria mercenaria). Large quantities of blue crab (Callinectes sapidus), Atlantic herring (Clupea harengus) and Atlantic mackerel (Scomber scombrus) are also landed on the East Coast. Commercial fisheries in the Gulf of Mexico have been dominated the Gulf menhaden bv (Brevoortia *patronus*) and invertebrate fisheries targeting including shrimp, Northern brown (Farfantepenaeus aztecus). white (Litopenaeus setiferus), and pink shrimps (Farfantepenaeus duorarum) and shellfish. including American cupped oyster (Crassostrea virginicus) and Calico scallop (Argopecten gibbus) and blue crab (Callinectes sapidus).

Alaska

The largest proportion of the U.S. EEZ surrounds the state of Alaska, accounting for approximately 30 % by area (Figure 43). This includes the portions of the Arctic Ocean and the Bering Sea, the waters surrounding the Aleutian Islands, and the Gulf of Alaska. Several groundfish species, including Alaska pollock (*Theragra chalcogramma*), Pacific cod (*Gadus macrocephalus*), Pacific ocean perch (*Sebastes alutus*), yellowfin sole (*Limanda aspera*) and other flatfishes account for the majority of commercial catches. Also important are several species of salmon, including pink, sockeye (*Oncorhynchus nerka*), and chum (*Oncorhynchus keta*), Pacific herring (*Clupea pallasii pallasii*), Pacific saury (*Cololabis saira*) and snow crab (*Chionoecetes opilio*).

Hawaii

Approximately 7 % of the U.S. EEZ encompasses the Hawaiian Islands (Figure 43). The coral reefs and warm pelagic waters surrounding this tropical, volcanic island chain are influenced by equatorial currents and northeasterly trade winds. Commercial fisheries have primarily targeted pelagic species, including yellowfin tuna (*Thunnus albacares*), skipjack tuna (*Katsuwonus pelamis*), bigeye tuna (*Thunnus obesus*), albacore (*Thunnus alalunga*) and chub mackerel (*Scomber japonicus*). Important non-pelagic species are also fished, including shrimps, sea urchins, and a variety of deep-water 'bottomfish' (Zeller *et al.* 2008).

Catch-MSY method for U.S. (Alaskan) stocks

For Alaska, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 6 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 2 % when considering all 52 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 47).

Table 47. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the Argentine catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Alaska pollock	1,461,116	1,278,885	1.14
Pacific cod	207,664	165,117	1.26
Pink salmon	133,619	113,528	1.18
Sockeye salmon	95,650	112,958	0.85
Pacific herring	54,316	83,887	0.65
Chum salmon	51,938	59,273	0.88
Pacific ocean perch	11,642	24,928	0.47
Pacific saury	10,613	85,425	0.12
Yellowfin sole	65,780	54,794	1.20
Atka mackerel	48,788	52,712	0.93
Coho salmon	15,125	20,659	0.73
Pacific halibut	33,749	27,235	1.24
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.89 (0.94)
Average of 52 taxa (weighted)			0.85 (0.98)

Model results for U.S. (Alaskan) ecosystems

We used the South East Alaska model (Guénette *et al.* 2006) to represent the Alaska marine ecosystems. The South East Alaska model covers the continental shelf to 1,000 m depth and extends from $140^{\circ}-137^{\circ}$ W and the southern limit is the border between British Columbia and Alaska (Figure 43). The model had been fitted from 1963 to 2002.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, both in terms of most targeted species and in terms of all catch (Table 48., Figure 44a). The average fishing mortality from 1963 to 2002 is similar in both the *baseline* and *optimization* simulations, and it is larger under the *allFmsy* simulation (Figure 44b).

Table 48. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·	year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period	(1: <i>baseline</i>) from the U.S.
Alaskan ecosystem and the tw	o simulations (2: allFmsy and 3: optimization	on). Ratios of catch to MSY
represent the comparison of the	e historical period to the two simulations.	

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch:MSY	
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Salmon	0.3400	0.610	0.5200	0.60	0.7
Herring	0.1100	0.320	0.3600	0.40	0.3
Pollock adult	0.0003	0.010	0.0002	0.05	1.3
Rockfish slope	0.0001	0.002	0.0001	0.05	1.2
Rockfish shelf	0.0015	0.020	0.0010	0.10	1.4
Sablefish	0.0400	0.060	0.0100	0.60	4.2
Pacific cod	0.0003	0.003	0.0001	0.10	2.6
Halibut	0.0900	0.090	0.0800	0.90	1.1
Arrowtooth	0.0010	0.010	0.0003	0.10	2.6
Flatfish	0.0004	0.010	0.0003	0.05	1.3
Total catch (sp table)	0.5800	1.120	0.9700	0.52	0.6
otal catch*	0.6300	1.950	1.0000	0.32	0.6

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 21



Figure 44. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the U.S. Alaskan, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

-
Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 2-68 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass, the catch could only be increased by 37 %.

Catch-MSY method for U.S. (East Coast) stocks

For the U.S. East Coast, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 50 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 41 % when considering all 106 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 49).

Table 49. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the U.S. East Coast catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Atlantic menhaden	244,556	341,825	0.72
American cupped oyster	59,126	148,764	0.40
Atlantic surf clam	131,845	149,251	0.88
American sea scallop	176,284	137,623	1.28
Atlantic herring	37,997	125,850	0.30
Ocean quahog	90,534	96,100	0.94
Atlantic mackerel	36,229	238,118	0.15
Blue crab	41,469	49,533	0.84
Silver hake	22,856	165,904	0.14
Atlantic cod	3,506	32,275	0.11
Northern quahog	27,007	38,625	0.70
Alewife	739	46,699	0.02
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.54 (0.50)
Average of 106 taxa (weighted)			0.56 (0.59)

Model results for U.S. (East Coast) ecosystems

We used the Chesapeake model (Christensen *et al.* 2009a) to represent the U.S. East Coast marine ecosystems. The Chesapeake Bay, Maryland, is the largest estuary in the continental U.S., located midway along the Atlantic coast. The surface area of the tidal portion of the Chesapeake Bay system is approximately 10,000 km², while the area including tributaries is estimated to be 18,580 km². The model covers 37 °-39° N and 77°-75° W (Figure 42), and it had been fitted from 1950 to 2002.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, both in terms of most targeted species and in terms of all catch (Table 50, Figure 45a). The average fishing mortality from 1950 to 2002 is lower in the historical exploitation than under the other two simulations (Figure 45b).

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch:M	SY
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Striped bass resident	0.13	0.22	0.38	0.6	0.3
Striped bass migratory	0.11	0.09	0.26	1.1	0.4
Bluefish adult	0.20	0.20	0.14	1.0	1.5
Weakfish Adult	0.20	0.30	0.26	0.7	0.7
Atlantic croaker	0.68	0.92	0.60	0.7	1.1
Menhaden 0-1	1.79	1.17	0.40	1.5	4.5
Menhaden adult	10.06	23.20	21.61	0.4	0.5
Alewife and herring	2.08	2.71	1.77	0.8	1.2
Blue crab adult	6.21	6.42	5.26	1.0	1.2
Oyster 1+	2.28	3.58	3.56	0.6	0.6
Soft clam	0.09	0.48	0.86	0.2	0.1
Hard clam	0.10	0.51	0.97	0.2	0.1
Total catch (sp table)	23.92	39.80	36.06	0.6	0.7
Total catch*	25.00	41.63	37.40	0.6	0.7

Table 50. Catch rate (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the U.S. East Coast ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 20



Figure 45. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the U.S. East coast, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 40-41 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass, the catch could only be increased by 33 %.

Catch-MSY method for U.S. (Gulf of Mexico) stocks

For the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 50 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 49 % when considering all 54 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 51).

Table 51. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the U.S. Gulf of Mexico catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Gulf menhaden	388,838	981,678	0.40
Northern brown shrimp	42,704	46,357	0.92
American cupped oyster	59,536	45,124	1.32
Northern white shrimp	39,824	35,653	1.12
Atlantic menhaden	10,964	27,676	0.40
Blue crab	25,761	29,368	0.88
Calico scallop	28,167	40,067	0.70
Northern pink shrimp	4,977	8,754	0.57
Spanish mackerel	928	2,359	0.39
Atlantic croaker	491	6,266	0.08
Spot croaker	318	2,684	0.12
Spotted weakfish	557	1,963	0.28
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.60 (0.50)
Average of 54 taxa (weighted)			0.58 (0.51)

Model results for U.S. (Gulf of Mexico) ecosystems

We used the Northern Gulf of Mexico model (Walters *et al.* 2010) to represent the U.S. Gulf of Mexico marine ecosystems. The model in located in the northern part of the Gulf of Mexico Large Marine Ecosystem, from 31°-24° N and 98°-81° W (Figure 42). The model had been fitted from 1951 to 2004.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, both in terms of most targeted species and in terms of all catch (Table 52, Figure 46a). The average fishing mortality from 1951 to 204 is also smaller under the historical exploitation reconstruction (Figure 46b).

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch:MS	SY
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
18+ Mullet	0.42	1.75E-20	1.04	>100	0.4
Mackerel 3+	0.07	0.030	0.06	2.9	1.3
Grouper 3+	0.08	0.040	0.06	2.2	1.4
Jacks	0.02	0.002	0.01	10.0	2.0
Bay anchovy	0.06	0.100	0.04	0.6	1.5
Silver perch	1.48	1.72E-20	1.32	>100	1.1
Scaled sardine	1.51	13.880	6.60	0.1	0.2
Menhaden	3.10	2.680	2.16	1.2	1.4
Shrimp	1.32	1.300	1.66	1.0	0.8
Red snapper 6-24	0.06	0.010	0.03	8.6	2.0
Red snapper older	0.06	0.010	0.01	4.7	8.3
Atlantic croaker	0.29	0.350	0.29	0.8	1.0
Total catch (sp table)	8.48	18.390	13.28	0.5	0.6
Total catch*	10.26	25.070	16.34	0.4	0.6

Table 52. Catch rate (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the U.S. Gulf of Mexico ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 28



Figure 46. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the U.S. Gulf of Mexico coastal ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 49-59 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass, the catch could only be increased by 37 %.

Catch-MSY method for U.S. (Hawaiian) stocks

For Hawaii, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 88 % when considering the top 12 landed species or when considering all 20 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 53).

Table 53. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the U.S.
Hawaiian catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with
averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally,
averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
Yellowfin tuna	450.9	9,585	0.05
Skipjack tuna	938.1	7,425	0.13
Chub mackerel	579.0	2,731	0.21
Bigeye tuna	194.2	2,298	0.08
Albacore	200.6	2,539	0.08
Pacific cupped oyster	177.5	241	0.74
Pacific bluefin tuna	53.5	229	0.23
Pacific sierra	2.8	449	0.01
Striped marlin	16.9	274	0.06
Swordfish	66.2	101	0.66
Indo-Pacific blue marlin	15.6	162	0.10
Indo-Pacific sailfish	16.8	155	0.11
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.20 (0.12)
Average of 20 taxa (weighted)			0.25 (0.12)

Model results for U.S. (Hawaiian) ecosystems

We used the Central North Pacific ecosystem and Hawaii-based pelagic longline fishery model (Howell *et al.* in press) to represent the U.S. Hawaiian pelagic marine ecosystems. The model is located in the Central North Pacific Subtropical Gyre and Transition Zone, from 170° E to 150° W and 10°-40° N (Figure 43), and covers a surface area of 13,275,700 km² encompassing the region where more than 95 % of Hawaii longline sets occur. The model had been fitted from 1991 to 2010.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, both in terms of most targeted species and in terms of all catch (Table 54, Figure 47a). The average fishing mortality from 1991 to 2010 is similar in the three simulations (Figure 47b).

	Ca	atch (t·km ⁻² ·	Catch	:MSY	
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Swordfish	4.8E-05	4.8E-09	1.7E-04	>100	0.3
Blue marlin	4.9E-05	7.9E-05	2.4E-05	0.60	2.0
Other billfish	4.0E-05	5.6E-05	1.3E-05	0.70	3.0
Yellowfin	5.5E-05	0.003	2.7E-04	0.02	0.2
Juv. yellowfin	7.4E-06	3.2E-04	3.8E-05	0.02	0.2
Albacore	0.002	0.009	0.012	0.20	0.2
Bigeye	2.3E-04	2.8E-04	1.5E-04	0.90	1.6
Juv bigeye	3.4E-04	2.7E-04	7.4E-04	1.20	0.5
Skipjack	0.005	0.002	0.005	2.40	1.1
Mahi mahi	5.6E-05	3.7E-04	2.4E-05	0.20	2.3
Total catch (sp table)	0.008	0.015	0.018	0.54	0.5
Total catch*	0.012	0.018	0.021	0.67	0.6

Table 54. Catch rate (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: <i>baseline</i>) from the U.S.
Hawaiian ecosystem and the two simulations (2: allFmsy and 3: optimization). Ratios of catch to MSY
represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 17

a.



Figure 47. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the U.S. Hawaiian ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 33-88 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass, the catch could only be increased by 48 %.

b.

Catch-MSY method for U.S. (West Coast) stocks

For the U.S. West Coast, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 21 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 16 % when considering all 55 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 55).

Table 55. Catch and MSY (in tonnes) for the 12 taxa that contribute most to the U.S. west coast catch. Catch:MSY ratios are presented for each of these species, along with averages, straight and weighted by catch contribution in parentheses. Additionally, averages for all of the taxa, e.g., those meeting the specified criteria are presented.

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
North Pacific hake	199,789	164,236	1.22
Alaska pollock	73,729	66,226	1.11
Californian anchovy	7,622	121,132	0.06
Pacific sardine	57,907	110,369	0.52
Pacific cod	34,093	27,774	1.23
Dungeness crab	23,830	18,387	1.30
Sablefish	10,781	10,296	1.05
Pacific herring	4,116	7,277	0.57
Pacific jack mackerel	2,195	9,008	0.24
Pacific ocean perch	2,902	7,351	0.39
Pink salmon	12,586	10,044	1.25
Arrowtooth flounder	2,111	3,713	0.57
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.79 (0.79)
Average of 55 taxa (weighted)			0.55 (0.84)

Model results for U.S. (West Coast) ecosystems

We used the Central California coast model (Walters *et al.* 2010) to represent the U.S. West Coast marine ecosystem. The model is located in the central part of California, from $39^{\circ}-37^{\circ}$ N and $122^{\circ}-123^{\circ}$ W (Figure 43). The model had been fitted from 1960 to 2005.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, both in terms of most targeted species and in terms of all catch (Table 56, Figure 48a). The average fishing mortality from 1960 to 2005 is also smaller under the historical exploitation reconstruction (Figure 48b).

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch	:MSY
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3
Lingcod adult	0.02	0.04	0.040	0.6	0.5
Cabezon adult	0.04	0.02	0.004	1.8	8.3
Shortbelly rockfish adult	0.02	0.02	0.030	0.9	0.8
Nearshore rockfish adult	0.11	0.14	0.120	0.8	0.9
Widow rockfish adult	0.23	0.27	0.270	0.8	0.8
Flatfish	0.77	1.13	0.980	0.7	0.8
Hake	2.56	3.12	2.800	0.8	0.9
Salmon	0.21	0.22	0.220	0.9	0.9
Cephalopods	0.20	0.71	0.330	0.3	0.6
Crabs	0.56	0.58	0.200	1.0	2.8
Shrimps	1.94	2.85	4.380	0.7	0.4
Abalone adult	0.06	0.10	0.070	0.6	1.0
Total catch (sp table)	6.71	9.21	9.440	0.7	0.7
Total catch*	6.71	9.21	9.440	0.7	0.7

Table 56. Catch rate (t-km⁻²-year⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the U.S. West coast ecosystem and the two simulations (2: allFmsy and 3: optimization). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 12



b.

Figure 48. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the U.S. West coast ecosystem, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and optimization simulations, respectively.

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 16-27 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, catches could be increased by 29 % when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass.

Vietnam³⁸

The Socialist Republic of Vietnam is located on the eastern coast of the Indochina peninsula and is bordered in the north by China and in the west by Laos and Cambodia (Figure 49). Fishing in Vietnam occurs in four main areas: the Gulf of Tonkin, shared with China, in the north, the South China Sea in the center and the southeast, and the Gulf of Thailand in the southwest. The total EEZ area of Vietnam is 1,396,000 km² and extends to 200 nautical miles off the coast.



Figure 49. Map of Vietnam showing the 200 nm EEZ adjacent to the mainland, all maritime states, and disputed regions (cross-hatch). The Vietnamese EEZ is part of the South China Sea LME. Numbers correspond to maritime states: Quang Ninh, Thái Bìhn, Nam Dinh, Ninh Bình, Thanh Hóa, Nghe An, Ha Tinh, Quang Binh, Quang Tri, Thua Thien-Hue, à Nang City, Dà Nang, Quang Ngãi, Bình Dihn, Phú Yên, Khánh Hòa, Ninh Thuan, Bình Thuan, Bà Ria, Ho Chí Minh City, Ben Tre, Trà Vinh, Sóc Trang, Bac Liêu, Cà Mau, Kiên Giang, 1-26 respectively. The area covered by the ecological model is highlighted in red.

The majority of marine fishing in Vietnam is small-scale and occurs in shallow near-shore areas, which comprise roughly 11 % of the EEZ (Han 2007). Inshore fishing, which comprises 84 % of the fishing fleet is mandated by the government to be of vessels of less than 90 hp. In 2006, the fishery sector contributed 6 % of the GDP (Nguyen and Tran 2007). According to a recent report by the World Bank, at least 20 million people depend on inshore fisheries for a portion if not all of their subsistence and income (MOFI 2005).

Women have a relatively small role in marine fisheries, with reports of only 1.4 % of fish workers being women (MOFI 2005). However, due to fewer cultural constraints, women have a larger role in aquaculture. Efforts by the Ministry of Fisheries are currently underway to strengthen the role of women in fisheries (Lem *et al.* 2004); however, at the moment, women's roles are largely relegated to processing in the fisheries market chain (MOFI 2005).

There is a lack of systematic information on Vietnamese fisheries (Pitcher *et al.* 2006; Long *et al.* 2008) and this is impeding assessments of fisheries status. Under-reporting of catch has been identified as an issue in several reports (Pomeroy *et al.* 2009), but there has not been an estimate of

the likely true level of catches, which would provide a baseline for management and informed decisions about overcapacity and overexploitation (van Zwieten *et al.* 2002).

Trawls, along with gill nets, purse seine, long lines, lift nets and gill nets are the major gear types used in Vietnamese marine fisheries. There is very little information on gear use in Vietnam, however. the major trawl types are known to be either single or pair trawls (Luong 2001; MOFI

³⁸ This introduction was provided by Dr. D. Pauly (Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia).

2005). There is an ongoing problem of larger trawlers of greater than 45 HP illegally fishing in coastal waters due to poor enforcement (Boonstra and Dang 2010). This issue of encroachment of offshore vessels into inshore waters is widespread throughout South East Asia, and contributes to the overfishing of coastal resources and habitat destruction.

Information regarding discards in Vietnam is not readily available. It is suspected that Vietnam has few discards and recent internal estimates of the marine catch were substantially higher than that reported by the FAO (Kelleher 2005). The lack of data on discards may also be due to the high demand for fish of low economic value due for Vietnam's fishmeal and fish sauce industries. There have been estimates that 40-50 % of trawl catch may be comprised of low value, so-called 'trash' fish that supplies the fish sauce industry, which produced 160 million liters of fish sauce in 1998. However, some reports also suggest that trawlers that go on longer fishing trips of up to 20 days, typically discard a large portion of the catch (Edwards *et al.* 2004). This is supported by the fact that a large portion of the Vietnamese fleet has neither adequate capacity nor the technology (i.e., freezer capacity) to maintain substantial by-catch on long fishing trips (Son *et al.* 2005). Furthermore, the vessels that have been documented by Kelleher (2005) may possibly be small-scale inshore vessels, which would not have the capacity to go on long trips.

Catch-MSY method for Vietnamese stocks

For Vietnam, the single-species analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 84 % when considering the top 12 landed species, or 72 % when considering all 52 taxa, given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 57).

Ct 1		<i>a</i> .	1	1.00		1 1 10011
the taxa, e.g., those	se meeting the specif	fied criteria ar	e presente	ed.		
straight and weig	hted by catch contril	bution in pare	ntheses. A	dditional	ly, averages	s for all of
catch. Catch:MS	7 ratios are presen	ted for each	of these s	species, a	long with	averages,
Table 57. Catch	and MSY (in tonnes	s) for the 12 ta	axa that c	ontribute	most to Vi	etnamese

Stock	Catch	MSY	Catch:MSY
North Pacific hake	0	164,236	1.22
Alaska pollock	73,729	66,226	1.11
Californian anchovy	7,622	121,132	0.06
Pacific sardine	57,907	110,369	0.52
Pacific cod	34,093	27,774	1.23
Dungeness crab	23,830	18,387	1.30
Sablefish	10,781	10,296	1.05
Pacific herring	4,116	7,277	0.57
Pacific jack mackerel	2,195	9,008	0.24
Pacific ocean perch	2,902	7,351	0.39
Pink salmon	12,586	10,044	1.25
Arrowtooth flounder	2,110	3,713	0.57
Average of top 12 (weighted)			0.34 (0.16)
Average of 52 taxa (weighted)			0.54 (0.28)

Model results for Vietnamese ecosystems

We used the Gulf of Thailand model (Vibunpant *et al.* 2003) as a proxy representation of Vietnamese marine ecosystems (Figure 49). The study area is located between 6°-13° N and 99°-104° E with an area of 304,000 km². The Gulf of Thailand is relatively shallow with a mean depth of about 58 m. The model had been fitted to historic time series of data from 1973 to 1993.

The *baseline* simulation results show lower catch in the area under the historical exploitation regime than under the *allFmsy* and optimization simulations when the main target species are taken into account (Table 58., Figure 50a). Total catch is also higher under the *allFmsy* simulation and slightly lower under the *optimization* simulation. The average fishing mortality from 1973 to 1993 is similar in the historical exploitation regime and *optimization* simulation and higher in the *allFmsy* results (Figure 50b).

	Catch (t·km ⁻² ·year ⁻¹)			Catch:MSY		
Exploited species / groups	1. Baseline	2. AllFmsy	3. Optimization	1/2	1/3	
Rastrelliger spp.	0.220	0.230	0.110	0.9	1.9	
Scomberomorus	0.003	3.96E-10	3.57E-11	>100	>100	
Carangidae	0.040	0.030	0.020	1.6	2.9	
Pomfret	0.010	3.98E-04	1.53E-05	13.0	>100	
Small pelagic	0.200	0.380	0.120	0.5	1.6	
False trevally	0.003	0.001	3.38E-04	4.7	9.3	
Large piscivores	8.61E-07	0.010	0.020	0.0	0.0	
Sciaenidae	0.003	0.050	0.040	0.1	0.1	
<i>Saurida</i> spp.	0.040	0.030	0.030	1.1	1,1	
Lutjanidae	4.55E-07	0.010	0.010	0.0	0.0	
Plectorhynchidae	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.4	0.5	
Priacanthus spp.	0.030	0.050	0.030	0.6	1.0	
Shrimps	0.310	0.250	0.230	1.3	1.4	
Crab, lobsters	0.190	0.490	0.150	0.4	1.3	
Demersal piscivores	0.050	0.030	0.030	2.0	2.0	
Shellfish	0.110	0.5100	0.500	0.2	0.2	
Coastal tuna	0.010	0.010	0.005	1.4	2.0	
Sergestid shrimp	0.080	0.130	0.050	0.6	1.6	
Total catch (sp table)	1.280	2.210	1.320	0.6	1.0	
Total catch*	2.840	4.010	2.570	0.7	1.1	

Table 58. Catch rate (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹) from the historical exploitation period (1: *baseline*) from the Vietnamese ecosystem and the two simulations (2: *allFmsy* and 3: *optimization*). Ratios of catch to MSY represent the comparison of the historical period to the two simulations.

* Number of commercial taxa/groups in the model = 31



Figure 50. a) Predicted total catches (t·km⁻²·year⁻¹), and b) Average relative fishing mortality (sum of catch / sum of biomass of exploited species for the historical period years from the Vietnamese, relative to the historical period value), under the *baseline*, the *allFmsy* and *optimization* simulations, respectively.

Both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that the overall catch could be increased by 29-72 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} . However, the catch could not be increased when we account for optimal management, including fishing at F_{MSY} , and including biodiversity and criteria for rebuilding biomass. Part of the reason for the divergence between the catch-based and ecosystem-based models could be the fact that the ecosystem model was fitted to an earlier time period, as well as the limited spatial representation of the model for Vietnamese waters.

Comparison of catch-based and ecosystem model results

For all the countries examined here, both the single-species and the ecosystem-based analyses suggest that overall catches could be increased by approximately 35 % given fishing at single species F_{MSY} (Table 59). However, if one considers biodiversity or rebuilding criteria for exploited species, the approximate increase in catch would be lower. Therefore, as expected, the *optimization* simulation produces a more conservative estimate of the catch potential than does the *allFmsy* simulation, which is based on fishing at F_{MSY} .

If we consider all 38 regions, i.e., including those that do not have *EwE* models available, the average catch:MSY ratio is 0.72 and 0.65, based on the straight and weighted average ratios, respectively. This translates to a potential catch increase of 28 % and 35 %, respectively.

Table 59. Comparative results of catch:MSY ratios from the catch-based models, and ecosystem models illustrating the overall averages for the total number of taxa available for each countries. Weighted averages from the catch-based models are presented in parentheses. The overall average is only calculated from the regions where both methods could be applied (bold).

	Catch-based models		Ecosystem-based models			
Countries	# total taxa	Average ratio	AllFmsy	Optimization		
Argentina	44	0.63 (0.94)				
Belize	40	1.07 (1.01)				
Brazil	41	0.80 (0.51)				
Canada (Arctic)	10	0.54 (0.46)				
Canada (Atlantic)	70	0.81 (0.49)	0.59	0.97		
Canada (Pacific)	33	0.53 (0.44)	0.51	0.89		
Chile	48	0.71 (0.70)				
China	91	0.57 (0.83)	1.38	2.83		
Denmark	65	0.75 (0.62)	0.49	0.78		
Iceland	44	0.71 (0.74)				
India	40	1.00 (0.84)				
Indonesia (East)	46	1.01 (0.92)	0.64	0.81		
Indonesia (West)	45	1.00 (0.87)				
Japan	80	0.62 (0.44)				
Malaysia (East)	34	0.92 (0.89)	0.71	1.10		
Malaysia (West)	40	0.86 (0.91)				
Mexico (Gulf of Mexico)	31	0.65 (0.36)				
Mexico (Pacific)	20	0.64 (0.88)	0.80	0.52		
Morocco	67	0.59 (1.08)	0.76	0.66		
Norway	74	0.71 (0.74)	0.70	1.02		
Peru	21	0.66 (0.73)	0.58	0.51		
Philippines	39	0.84 (0.79)				
Russia (Barents Sea)	29	0.57 (0.27)	0.70	1.02		
Russia (Black Sea)	25	0.74 (0.23)				
Russia (Pacific)	55	0.76 (0.63)				
South Africa	48	0.59 (0.81)	0.27	0.55		
South Korea	90	0.52(0.55)				
Spain (Atlantic)	60	0.45(0.02)				
Spain (Mediterranean)	68	0.81 (0.62)	0.54	0.68		
Turkey (Black Sea)	47	0.91 (0.55)				
Turkey (Mediterranean)	67	0.99 (0.90)				
United Kingdom	106	0.88 (0.56)	0.47	0.65		
U.S. (Alaska)	52	0.85 (0.98)	0.32	0.63		
U.S. (East Coast)	106	0.56 (0.59)	0.60	0.67		
U.S. (Gulf of Mexico)	54	0.58 (0.51)	0.41	0.63		
U.S. (Hawaii)	20	0.25 (0.12)	0.67	0.58		
U.S. (West Coast)	55	0.55 (0.84)	0.73	0.71		
Vietnam	52	0.54 (0.28)	0.71	1.10		
Average (of bold values)		0.67 (0.66)	0.63	0.87		

Sea Around Us Project

Marine protection features by country

Overall, the MPAs designated in the 25 countries covered here vary widely in every aspect, including size, location (distance from coastline), protection level (multiple-use to no-take), management and effectiveness. Each of the countries assessed has its own legislation – applicable at different scales (national, state, municipal, etc.) – for establishing MPAs. For example, the U.K. government's plan for an MPA network includes designations under national, European and international legislation³⁹. In contrast, the EEZs of the Philippines and Japan are dominated by numerous small, community-based MPAs instituted and managed at the local level (Weeks *et al.* 2010; Yagi *et al.* 2010).

The MPAs established by each country vary widely in their purpose and level of protection. Some MPAs protect only a limited number of marine species or prevent only certain activities. For example, the main objective of *La Rinconada* Marine Reserve in northern Chile is to protect the last population of an exploited scallop species (Rovira *et al.* 2008). Others cover large areas and do not allow any extractive activities, such as the 253 km² no-take De Hoop MPA in South Africa (Tunley 2009). This variation is most dramatic in the case of U.S. MPAs. For example, in the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary, the only prohibited activities are oil and gas extraction and scientific research (without a permit; Dayton *et al.* 2000), whereas the De Soto MPA off the west coast of Florida prohibits fisheries using certain gear types. Conversely, the large Papahanaumokuakea Marine National Monument covering about 360,000 km² in Hawaii is entirely no-take.

Variability is also manifested simply by the differences in location. The MPAs analyzed here range from 100 % marine to predominately terrestrial with just a small portion of intertidal habitat. As an example, Brazil considers terrestrial protected areas located within the Marine and Coastal Zone (Ministry of the Environment 2010; Szlafsztein 2012) as MPAs. Country-specific delineations such as this can make it difficult to determine accurately the number of 'true' MPAs as well as the areal coverage of marine protection. Over-lapping designations can also complicate the calculation of coverage. For example, Special Areas of Conservation in the U.K. can coincide partially or fully with Special Protection Areas⁴⁰.

While it is useful to know the number of MPAs established by each country, it is equally important to have data regarding MPA size. For example, one country may protect only a tiny fraction of its EEZ within numerous small MPAs, while another country efficiently protects the majority of its EEZ within a few large MPAs. Equally important when comparing the number and coverage of MPAs among countries is the size of each country's EEZ. The EEZs considered here range in size from nearly 36,000 km² (Belize) to over 12 million km² (the U.S.; Table 60).

Of the countries included in this report, the U.S., Japan and the Philippines have established the largest number of MPAs (Table 60). With 1,563 MPAs in total, the U.S. lies at the top of this list. However, there is a great degree of overlap among MPAs in the U.S.. The number of MPAs in the Japanese EEZ (1,161; Yagi *et al.* 2010) exceeds the number of MPAs in the Philippines (750) by about 50 %. Some researchers, however, estimate the number of MPAs in the Philippines to be higher (e.g., 1,100; Lowry *et al.* 2009), and thus this figure could be an underestimate. Canada does not lag far behind the Philippines with 609 MPAs. The remaining countries included in this report have relatively few (<200) MPAs. Also notable is the complete absence of Russian MPAs in the Pacific and Turkish MPAs in the Black Sea. Russia and Turkey have 18 and 12 MPAs, respectively. Most of Russia's MPAs lie in the Barents Sea; all of Turkey's MPAs are in the Mediterranean Sea.

³⁹ <u>http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-4549</u>

⁴⁰ <u>http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-1521</u>

The U.S. claims to have 41 % of its EEZ within some form of MPA due to the relative abundance of medium and large-sized MPAs (Figure 51), which encompass over 7.3 million km² of marine area. However, when large 'fishery MPAs' characterized only by gear restrictions are excluded, approximately 8 % of the US EEZ is protected within MPAs, which are focused on conserving natural and cultural resources⁴¹.

Indonesia, Russia and Brazil follow the U.S. in terms of marine area contained within MPAs, (with 138,900 km², 131,800 km² and 90,100 km², respectively). However, unlike the U.S., a high ranking in terms of the total area of protected waters in these countries does not translate into a high proportion of EEZ protected due to the relatively large size of their EEZs. Approximately 2.3 % of the Indonesian EEZ, 1.7 % of the Russian EEZ and 2.8 % of the Brazilian EEZ is protected.

Russia is ranked as one of the top countries for protected area coverage despite the fact that it has relatively few MPAs in total (18, as mentioned earlier). MPAs in Russia are generally large (Figure 51), meaning this country is efficiently covering a large area with relatively few protected sites. In fact, more than 48 % of Russian waters in the Black Sea are protected within just 4 MPAs, and 8 % of the Russian portion of the Barents Sea is protected within 14 MPAs. In contrast, there are no known MPAs in Pacific sector of the Russian EEZ.



Figure 51. Size distribution of marine protected areas in the U.S., the Philippines and Russia. For each country, MPAs were grouped into size classes according to the total area (*area*) of each MPA, including both terrestrial and marine components. The size classes were defined using a logistic scale due to the predominance of small MPAs, (i.e., Size Class A: *area* \leq 0.1 km²; B: 0.1 < *area* \leq 1 km²; C: 1 < *area* \leq 10 km²; D: 10 < *area* \leq 100 km²; E: 100 < *area* \leq 1,000 km²; F: 1,000 < *area* \leq 10,000 km²; G: 10,000 < *area* \leq 100,000 km²; H: *area* > 100,000 km²). Histograms represent the proportion of the total number of MPAs in each size class.

Morocco and Norway have protected the least marine area (i.e., less than 1,000 km²; Table 60), followed by Peru, Turkey and Belize with 2,000 to 3,000 km² of protected marine area. With the exception of Belize, MPAs cover less than 1 % of the EEZ of each of these countries. In the case of Belize, the relatively small area of protected waters equates to a high percentage of the EEZ (7 %) due to its small size (35,811 km²). Although information on the marine proportion of MPAs in Vietnam is lacking and could not be calculated, it would likely fall among these lower-ranking countries in terms of protected marine area based on the country's total (terrestrial and marine) coverage (2,304 km²).

⁴¹ <u>http://www.mpa.gov/pdf/helpful-resources/mpa_analysis_2012_0320.pdf</u>

Denmark follows Belize with the third-largest proportion of its EEZ protected (4 %). Thereafter, the U.K. and Brazil have each protected approximately 3 % of their EEZ.

Although the Philippines has a large number of MPAs (which are mostly entirely marine), the area that they cover is not very large (16,388 km²; less than 1 % of the Philippine EEZ). The reason for this is evident in the size-frequency distribution of Philippine MPAs (Figure 51), which reveals that most (about 90 %) are $\leq 1 \text{ km}^2$ in size. This scenario may be compared to that of Mexico, where most of the 41 MPAs are >100 km² and cover a combined area of 61,506 km² (nearly 2 % of the EEZ).

The results for Iceland show that 0.5 % of the EEZ is within MPAs. However, this calculation does not take into account Iceland's area closures for which detailed information was not readily available. Situated mainly off the northwest, north and east of the island, these areas are managed for fishery benefits (to increase long-term yield; Jaworski *et al.* 2010), but have the potential to also deliver biodiversity conservation benefits. They include temporary and permanent closures, which can apply to only certain gear types⁴². The number and size of these closed areas is unclear. However, Schopka *et al.* (2010) report that in 1993, there were six such areas permanently closed to longline gear and otter trawls, covering approximately 8,000 km² in cod nursery grounds to the north and east of Iceland. Protected areas of this size could make a large positive contribution to the country's efforts to conserve biological diversity.

It should be noted that for a number of countries, information on no-take areas was not readily available, and gaps in results for no-take area and the percentage of EEZ that is no-take (Table 60) do not necessarily mean that no-take zones are lacking in that particular region – although that is a possibility. Rankings of no-take coverage should be interpreted cautiously.

According to data from Qiu *et al.* (2009), most of China's MPAs are no-take (92 %). Compared to other countries presented here, China's no-take areas and percentage of EEZ protected as no-take areas among the highest. Overall, China has designated 35,600 km² or 1.6 % of its EEZ as no-take (Qiu *et al.* 2009). However, these designated no-take areas are in practice implemented mostly as multiple-use areas due to a lack of enforcement. The U.S. and Belize follow China with the largest proportion of EEZ contained in no-take areas (1.1 % and 0.7 %, respectively).

Of the countries for which information on no-take areas was available, Chile and the U.K. have the smallest areas protected from all extractive activities, both in terms of area (4 km² and 7 km², respectively) and percentage of EEZs (both <0.01 %). The UK has three small areas where fishing is prohibited for nature conservation reasons, although there are other *de facto* no-take areas not considered here, such as military exclusion zones (JNCC 2011).

Overall, the portion of the EEZ that is protected is quite low for most countries covered in this report, much lower in fact than the goal defined by the CBD to protect at least 10 % of the world's marine coastal and ecological regions by 2012 (CBD 2006). In 2010, due to lack of progress, the deadline for this target was extended to 2020 (CBD 2010). The U.S. has already achieved this goal, while Belize is also close to reaching 10 % protection.

While this report focuses on only the mainland EEZs of these 25 countries, some have established MPAs beyond the boundaries of their mainland waters. One of the most conspicuous examples being the recent designation of the 150,000-km² *Sala y Gomez* Marine Park within the Easter Island EEZ, which represented a two-fold expansion of the country's MPA coverage (Anon. 2010b). The designation of such large sites, away from high-density human population centers, allows countries to meet their protected area targets while minimizing potential for conflict with local users. However, this MPA is thousands of kilometers from the mainland EEZ, from which it vastly differs in terms of the biodiversity that it protects. Indeed, the mainland Chilean EEZ remains largely unprotected from extractive activities, although it is exposed to numerous anthropogenic threats (Miethke et al. 2007).

⁴² <u>www.fisheries.is/management/fisheries-management/area-closures/</u>

In addition to the MPAs discussed above, countries may employ tools termed 'ancillary' marine conservation measures by the Convention on Biological Diversity (Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity 2004). In Chile, management and exploitation areas for benthic resources (MEABRS) – which explicitly restrict the extraction of benthic resources, and thus, by association, offer some level of protection to other species groups – vastly outnumber other legal instruments for marine conservation in the country. There are hundreds of MEABRS in Chile, covering an area of more than 1,000 km² (SERNAPESCA 2005). Yagi *et al.* (2010) argue that large areas of the Japanese EEZ could be considered MPAs, as they are tenure zones managed based on territorial use-rights with limited commercial access.

The vast range of types of MPAs employed by the countries assessed here provides an indication of the variability of the quality of protection. An assessment of coverage alone cannot provide a complete picture of protection, however; one needs to also consider effectiveness (Spalding et al. 2008). As an example, Qui et al. (2009) explain that while the majority of MPA coverage in China comprises no-take areas - on paper - they are effectively multiple-use areas in practice, as enforcement is lacking. And a 2003 assessment of MPA management in the Philippines found that 68 % of the 156 MPAs surveyed had yet to reach 'enforced' status, with regulations and management activities implemented for at least two years (White et al. 2006). This discordance between designation and management is not particular to developing countries, however, as Robb et al. (2011) demonstrated for MPAs in the Canadian province of British Columbia. The authors found that although the majority of the 161 MPAs surveyed were assigned to three of the strictest IUCN protected area management categories, which should be free from exploitation, commercial harvesting was permitted in all but one of them. Research like this helps to elucidate the true effectiveness of MPAs and where there is room for improvement. Often, however, MPA effectiveness goes un-assessed, presenting a clear gap in our understanding of the national and global conservation benefits of MPAs.

¥	•			~	MPA (km ²)		Percentag	ge of EEZ
	EEZ area (km²)	# MPAs	% incl. no-take	Total	Marine	No-take	Total	No-take
Argentina	1,081,568	23	0.04	19,168	10,939	1,800	1.01	0.17
Belize	35,811	19	0.84	2,554	2,524	262	7.05	0.73
Brazil	3,192,376	104	0.01	91,731	90,088	363	2.82	0.01
Canada	5,651,926	609	<0.01	302,836	44,954	475	0.80	0.01
Chile	2,006,482	29	0.07	52,222	32,216	4	1.61	<0.01
China	2,282,088	158	0.92		37,700	35,589	1.65	1.6
Denmark	100,215	62		4,568	4,176		4.17	
Iceland	750,461	34		4,293	3,899		0.52	
India	1,629,182	21		21,683	10,218		0.63	
Indonesia	6,081,032	107	0.01	1,834,732	138,918	439	2.28	0.01
Japan (Main Islands)	1,837,616	1,161						
Malaysia (East)	132,395	34		2,048	1,990		1.50	
Malaysia (West)	68,506	16		428	416		0.61	
Malaysia (total)	200,901	50		2,476	2,405		1.20	
Mexico	3,272,632	41	0.10	102,077	61,506	1080	1.88	0.03
Morocco	270,771	6	0.17	959	387	94	0.14	0.03
Norway	1,347,734	18		1,296	814		0.06	
Peru	908,019	2		3,380	2,018		0.22	
Phillippines	2,267,479	750	0.41	18,315	16,388	3247	0.72	0.14
Russia	7,819,417	18		319,038	131,768		1.69	
Russia (Barents Sea)	1,246,761	14		267,422	99,825		8.00	
Russia (Black Sea)	66,063	4		51,616	31,943		48.35	
Russia (Pacific)	3,358,479							
South Africa	1,088,412	22	0.64	4,636	4,346	1842	0.40	0.17
South Korea	473,348	7		3,389	2,713		0.57	
Spain	548,384	44	0.16	3,902	3,095	26	0.56	0.01
Turkey	251,699	12		5,212	2,239		0.89	
Turkey (Black Sea)	169,321							
Turkey (Med Sea)	82,378	12		5,212	2,239		2.72	
United Kingdom	751,220	148	0.02	39,344	22,028	7	2.93	<0.01
USA	12,157,635	1,438	0.12	7,659,808	7,358,152	133314	60.52	1.10
Vietnam	1,397,169	15		2,302				

Table 60. Summary statistics for marine protected area (MPA) numbers and coverage.

¹(Qiu *et al.* 2009), as of August 2008 ² (Yagi *et al.* 2010)

Discussion

There is general agreement between the two types of analyses performed here, in that both suggest that overall catch could be increased, sometime substantially, by managing the major species in the catch for sustainability. The result differ by country, obviously, given existing management regimes and data quality, but the result are clear regarding the possibility of catch increases.

In the majority of countries, the single species analyses could be validated using elaborate ecosystem models. These models, given their sophistication, provided other relevant information, notably on the biodiversity losses that increased catches would incur. Obviously, such trade-off analyses are tentative, and would have to be refined, were they to provide the basis for policy elaboration in a given country.

Unfortunately, ecosystem models of the required type (fitted to historical time series of data and well documented) were not available for 10 countries. For these, only the single-species analyses were available. However, there is no reason to assume that these countries differ systematically from the 15 countries with models, and thus it can be assumed that our overall findings would apply to them as well.

The catch-based method, calculated for all taxa occurring in the catch at the species-genus level with at least 20 years of data, illustrates that, in general, for most countries, the overall catches could be increased. Notable exceptions include Belize, Morocco, India and Indonesia (both East and West), which have weighted catch:MSY ratios that are very close to one, indicating that catches could not be increased much beyond the present capacity. A caveat to this approach is that the method only relies on catch data, which is subject to issues such as under- or overreporting, mis-reporting, and missing catches (i.e, IUU). Having the most accurate tally of the catches by species is crucial for determining MSY, as is a knowledge of the fished areas, given that expansion into new fishing grounds renders analyses such as presented here invalid. The catch reconstructions currently undertaken by the *Sea Around Us* Project are addressing these issues.

Our ecosystem modeling approach was applied to 15 countries using 18 well-documented and previously calibrated models. Of those 15 countries, 14 showed an increase of the total catch when fishing all exploited groups at their F_{MSY} . Ecosystem models illustrated that there are mainly two ways of increasing catches. The first implies a rebuilding of the biomass by decreasing the overall fishing mortality, which will produce higher catches when species are rebuilt. The second implies a redistribution of fishing effort to optimize for F_{MSY} , thus avoiding having commercial stocks that are under-fished.

However, when fishing at F_{MSY} , there is no guarantee that some species in the ecosystem will not be strongly depleted, especially non-commercial species that directly depend on species fished at F_{MSY} . The negative consequences of depletion of species when fishing at F_{MSY} were taken into account in our study under the *optimization* simulations. Our ecosystem model results showed that 10 out of 15 countries assessed could experience an increase in catches when maximizing yield while including criteria to maintain biodiversity and prevent depletion of marine species. Fishing mortality under the *optimization* simulations was frequently lower than under the *allFmsy* simulation. In general, our results illustrate that a more sustainable way of exploiting marine resources could yield higher catches while considering biodiversity and conservation issues in exploited ecosystems. However, these may imply fishing at lower levels of fishing mortality than fishing at F_{MSY} .

China was the only country analyzed using ecosystem models whose catch could not be increased under alternative exploitation regimes in comparison with the historical exploitation pattern. These results are likely due to the fact that China has been substantially over-reporting its catches (Watson and Pauly 2001), and that the model that was available covered a different time period than the catch-based model analysis (Cheung 2007b). Future work should re-assess these results using an up to date ecological model for the Chinese EEZ. In fact, future work should include the use of standardized EEZ models to account for the subjectivity in the fitting period analyzed and fitting procedure and any potential impact of differences in modeling structure. Standardized models have been developed in the past for Large Marine Ecosystems (Christensen *et al.* 2009b), thus a similar approach could be used to model marine EEZs.

We would like to note that results of our ecological modeling exercise are not necessarily representative for the current situation in each country, since available models represent the specific period for which the model was fitted to time series data. This is an important point to bear in mind when interpreting results from the ecological modeling simulations. In addition, it is important to note that the optimization simulation was parameterized to maximize the amount of catch, but not the market value of target species. Future analyses should account for this. Ecological modeling results could also incorporate the analysis of additional ecological indicators to assess the specific ecological implications of fishing at F_{MSY} or fishing at more precautionary levels.

The analyses of MPA coverage reveals very slow progress in terms of the protection of marine biodiversity and fisheries resources within the EEZs of the countries considered in this report. All but three countries have set aside less than 3 % of their EEZ waters within the boundaries of MPAs; in fact, most have protected less than 1 % of their EEZ waters. The exceptions to this trend are the U.S., Belize and Denmark, where MPAs collectively encompass over 60 %, 7 % and 4 % of EEZs, respectively. However, these coverage statistics must be viewed with caution. MPAs vary widely in the degree of protection that they provide to associated habitats and species. When considering the protection of fisheries resources, the proportion of EEZ in which fishing is prohibited (i.e., no-take areas) is less than 0.2 % for each country, with the exception of China (1.6 %), the U.S. (1.1 %) and Belize (0.7 %). Additionally, enforcement of MPA objectives is often absent or inadequate, resulting in the global problem of ineffective 'paper parks.'

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank those colleagues who contributed text toward each country's introduction, i.e., Dyhia Belhabib, Emma Cardwell, Andres Cisneros-Montemayor, Kjell Nedreaas, Lyne Morisette, Debbie Shon, Wilf Swartz, Aylin Ulman, Liesbeth van der Meer, and Sebastian Villasante. We also acknowledge all members of the *Sea Around Us* Project for their contributions to this project.

References

- Abdul Majid SFFRS, pp. 215-470. FAO, Rome. (1985) Controlling fishing effort: Malaysia's experience and problems. Papers presented at the Expert Consultation on the Regulation of Fishing Effort (fishing mortality) Rome, 17-26 Jan 1983. A preparatory meeting for the FAO World Conference on fisheries management and development. FAO Fisheries Report 298(Suppl. 3): 215-470.
- Abdul Malak D, Livingstone SR, Pollard D, Polidoro BA, Cuttelod A, Bariche M, Bilecenoglu M, Carpenter KE, Collette BB, Francour P, Goren M, Kara MH, Massutí E, Papaconstantinou C and Tunesi L (2011) Overview of the Conservation Status of the Marine Fishes of the Mediterranean Sea. IUCN. vii + 61pp., Gland, Switzerland and Malaga, Spain.
- Abu Talib A, Salim K, Chee P, Isa M and Lim C (2003a) An overview of the socioeconomic status of fisheries in Malaysia. pp. 517-542 *In* Silvestre G, Garces L, Stobutzki I, Ahmed M, Valmonte-Santos R, Luna C, Lachica-Alino L, Munro P, Christensen V and Pauly D (eds.), Assessment, management and future directions for coastal fisheries in Asian countries. WorldFish Center Conference Proceedings 67. WorldFish Center, Penang.
- Abu Talib A, Tan GH and Abd. Hamid Y (2003b) Overview of the national fisheries situations with emphasis on the demersal fisheries off the west coast of peninsular Malaysia pp. 833-884 *In* Silvestre G, Garces L, Stobutzki I, Ahmed M, Valmonte-Santos R, Luna C, Lachica-Alino L, Munro P, Christensen V and Pauly D (eds.), Assessment, management and future directions for coastal fisheries in Asian countries. WorldFish Center Conference Proceedings 67. WorldFish Center, Penang.
- ADB (1993) Fisheries sector profile of the Philippines. Asian Development Bank, Manila, Philippines. 85 p.
- Agnew DJ, Pearce J, Ganapathiraju P, Peatman T, Watson R, Beddington JR and Pitcher TJ (2009) Estimating the worldwide extent of illegal fishing. Plos One 4(2).
- Ainley DG and Blight LK (2008) Ecological repercussions of historical fish extraction from the Southern Ocean. Fish and Fisheries 10(1): 25.
- Ainsworth CH, Varkey DA and Pitcher TJ (2008) Ecosystem simulations supporting ecosystembased fisheries management in the Coral Triangle, Indonesia. Ecological Modelling 214(361-374).
- Alcala AC, Bucol AA and Nillos-Kleiven P (2008) Directory of marine reserves in the Visayas, Philippines. Foundation for the Philippine Environment and Silliman University-Angelo King Center for Research and Environmental Management (SUAKCREM), Dumaguete City, Philippines. 178 p.
- Alix JC (1976) Survey of fish catch landed and unloaded at the Navotas fish landing and market authority in Navotas, Metro Manila. Fisheries Research Journal of the Philippines 1(2): 50-61.
- Anon. (2005a) Contrat cadre pour la réalisation d'évaluations, d'études d'impact et de suivi concernant les accords de partenariat dans le domaine de la pêche conclus entre la Communauté européenne et les pays tiers : Analyse coût-bénéfice d'un éventuel accord de pêche entre la Communauté européenne et le Royaume du Maroc, et analyse de l'impact de cet accord en terme de durabilité.Final report, Oceanic Development, Poseidon

Aquatic Resource Management Ltd, MegaPesca Lda, Concarneau. 128 p. Available at: <u>http://transparentsea.files.wordpress.com/2011/07/12-morocco.pdf</u> [Accessed:

- Anon. (2005b) Review of impacts of illegal, unreported and unregulated fishing on developing countries. Marine Resources Assessment Group Ltd, London. 170 p.
- Anon. (2007a) Fiskeristatistisk Årbog 2006 [Yearbook of Fishery Statistics 2006]. Fiskeridirektoratet [Directorate of Fisheries]. 250 p.
- Anon. (2007b) A report on IUU fishing of Baltic Sea cod. ORCA-EU, Svartviksslingan 28 167 39 Bromma, Sweden. 67 p.
- Anon. (2008) Belize fisheries sector: summary of research. Environmental Defence Fund. 8 p.
- Anon. (2010a) Belize Tourism Board: Tourism Statistics (Hotel Statistics 1998-2008). Available at: <u>http://www.belizetourism.org/</u> [Accessed July 2010].
- Anon. (2010b) Large new MPAs designated in North Atlantic, South America, Western Australia. MPA News, edition of November/December.
- Anticamara JA, Watson R, Gelchu A and Pauly D (2011) Global fishing effort (1950-2010): Trends, gaps, and implications. Fisheries Research 107(1-3): 131-136.
- Arce M, Clemetson A, deLeon ME, Gonzalez Cano J, Marshalleck S, O'Brian S, Puga R, Restrepo VR, Richards G, Rios Lara V, Sosa Cordero E and Zetina C (1997) Report to the FAO/DANIDA/CFRAMP/WECAFC regional workshops on the assessment of the caribbean spiny lobster (*Panulirus argus*). Region 2: Belize, Southwest Cuba and Mexico. FAO Fisheries Report no. 619.Belize City. 381 p.
- Ariz J (1985) Descripción de la actividad de la flota española que explota la pesquería de Cefalódos de África NO. p. 5 *In* Bas C, Margalef R and Rubies P (eds.), Simposio internacional sobre las areas de afloramiento mas importantes del Oeste Africano (Cabo Blanco y Benguela). Instituto de Inv. Pesqueras, Barcelona.
- Arora R and Grover V (1996) Land and the People. pp. 1-8 *In* Arora R and Grover V (eds.), Land and people, governments, constitution and central acts. Deep & Deep, New Delhi.
- ArtFiMed (2009) Diagnostique du site de pêche artisanale de Dikky. FAO-ArtFiMed Développement durable de la pêche artisanale méditerranéenne au Maroc et en Tunisie.7, FAO - CopeMed II, Malaga. 81 p. Available at: <u>http://www.faocopemed.org/pdf/publications/CopeMedII_ArtFiMed_TDo7.pdf</u> [Accessed:
- Baddyr M and Guénette S (2001) The fisheries off the Atlantic coast of Morocco 1950-1997. pp. 191-205 *In* Zeller D, Watson R and Pauly D (eds.), Fisheries Impacts on North Atlantic Ecosystems: Catch, Effort and National/Regional Data Sets. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 9(3), Vancouver.
- Bager M, Søndergaard M and MacKenzie BR (2007) The development of fisheries at Bornholm, Denmark (Baltic Sea) during 1880s-1914. Fisheries Research 87: 146-154.
- Bailey M and Pitcher TJ (2008) Ecological and Economic Analyses of Marine Ecosystems in the Bird's Head Seascape, Papua, Indonesia: II. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 16(1). 192 p.

- Bale S, Rossing P, Booth S and Zeller D (2010) Denmark's marine fisheries catches in the Baltic Sea (1950-2007). pp. 36-62 *In* Rossing P, Booth S and Zeller D (eds.), Total marine fisheries extractions by country in the Baltic Sea: 1950-present. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 18 (1), Vancouver.
- Balguerías E, Quintero ME and Hernández-González CL (2000) The origin of the Saharan Bank cephalopod fishery. ICES Journal of Marine Science 57(1): 8.
- Banse K (1959) On upwelling and bottom-trawling off the southwest coast of India. Journal of the Marine Biology Association of India 1(1): 33-49.
- Bautista LB (2008) The historical context and legal basis of the Philippine treaty limits. Asian-Pacific Law and Policy Journal 10(1): 1-31.
- Beuret M, Michel S and Woods P (2008) La Chinafrique: Pékin à la conquête du continent noir. Ed. Grasset, Paris. 352 p.
- Bezzi S, Akselman R and Boschi E (2000) Síntesis del estado de las pesquerías marítimas argentinas y de la Cuenca del Plata. 1999. INIDEP No. 1129. Mar del Plata, Argentina.
- Bhathal B (2005) Historical reconstruction of Indian marine fisheries catches, 1950-2000, as a basis for testing the "Marine Trophic Index". Fisheries Centre Research Reports 13(5), Vancouver, Canada. 122 p.
- Bhathal B and Pauly D (2008) 'Fishing down marine food webs' and spatial expansion of coastal fisheries in India, 1950-2000. Fisheries Research 91(1): 26-34.
- Bisbal GA (1995) The Southeast South American shelf large marine ecosystem. Marine Policy 19(1): 21-38.
- Blecher M, editor (2000) The Dengist Period: the triumphs and crises of structural reform, 1979 to the present. Chapter 2. The China Handbook. AMACOM, New York. 334 p.
- Boonstra WJ and Dang NB (2010) A history of breaking laws-- Social dynamics of noncompliance in Vietnamese marine fisheries. Marine Policy (34): 1261-1267.
- Booth S and Watts P (2007) Canada's arctic marine fish catches. pp. 3-15 *In* Zeller D and Pauly D (eds.), Reconstruction of marine fisheries catches for key countries and regions (1950-2005). Fisheries Centre Research Reports 15(2), Vancouver.
- Bowden R and Prosser R (2006) Countries of the World: South Korea. Evans Brothers Limited, London.
- Branch TA, Jensen OP, Ricard D, Yimin Y and Hilborn R (2011) Contrasting global trends in marine fishery status obtained from catches and from stock assessments. Conservation Biology 25(4): 777-786.
- Bray K (2000) A global review of Illegal, Unreported, and Unregulated (IUU) fishing. AUS:IUU/2000/6, Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO).Rome. 53 p.
- Buchary EA (1999) Evaluating the effects of the 1980 trawl ban in the Java Sea, Indonesia: an ecosystem-based approach. M.S. thesis, University of University of British Columbia, Faculty of Graduate Studies, Vancouver.
- Butchart SHM, Walpole M, Collen B, van Strien A, Scharlemann JPW, Almond REA, Baillie JEM, Bomhard B, Brown C, Bruno J, Carpenter KE, Carr GM, Chanson J, Chenery AM, Csirke

J, Davidson NC, Dentener F, Foster M, Galli A, Galloway JN, Genovesi P, Gregory RD, Hockings M, Kapos V, Lamarque J-F, Leverington F, Loh J, McGeoch MA, McRae L, Minasyan A, Hernandez Morcillo M, Oldfield TEE, Pauly D, Quader S, Revenga C, Sauer JR, Skolnik B, Spear D, Stanwell-Smith D, Stuart SN, Symes A, Tierney M, Tyrell TD, Vie J-C and Watson R (2010) Global biodiversity: indicators of recent declines. Science 328(5982): 1164-1168.

- Butcher JG (2004) Closing the frontier: a history of the marine fisheries of Southeast Asia c. 1850-2000. Institute of Southeast Asian Studies, Singapore. 442 p.
- Cardwell E (2012) Invisible Fishermen: The Rise and Fall of the UK Small Boat Fleet. *In* T. H and K. S (eds.), European fisheries at a tipping-point/ La pesca Europea ante un cambio irreversible. Editum, Murcia.
- Carpenter KE, Barber PH, Cradall ED, Ablan-Lagman MCA, Ambarivanto, Mahardika GN, Manjaji-Matsumoto BM, Juinio-Meñez MA, Santos MD, Starger CJ and Toha AHA (2011) Comparative phylogeography of the Coral Triangle and implications for marine management. Journal of Marine Biology: 1-14.
- Carpenter KE and Springer VG (2005) The center of the center of marine shore fish biodiversity: the Philippine Islands. Environmental Biology of Fishes 72(4): 467-480.
- Carr M-E and Kearns EJ (2003) Production regimes in four Eastern Boundary Current systems. Deep-Sea Research Part II 50: 3199-3221.
- Castillo S and Mendo J (1987) Estimation of unregistered Peruvian anchoveta (Engraulis ringens) in official catch statistics, 1951 to 1982. pp. 109-116 *In* Pauly D and Tsukayama I (eds.), The Peruvian anchoveta and its upwelling ecosystem: three decades of change. ICLARM Studies and Reviews 15.
- CBD (2006) Decisions adopted by the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity at its eighth meeting (Decision VIII/15, Annex IV). Convention on Biological Diversity, Curitiba.
- CBD (2010) Decision X/2: the strategic plan for biodiversity 2011–2020 and the Aichi biodiversity targets. Convention on Biological Diversity, Nagoya.
- CENDEC (2010) Situacion del fomento productivo en la pesca artesanal en Chile. Centro para el Desarrollo de Capital Humano, Santiago.
- Cergole MC, Saccardo SA and Rossi-Wongtschowski CLDB (2002) Fluctuations in the spawning stock biomass and recruitment of the Brazilian sardine (*Sardinella brasiliensis*) 1977-1997. Brazilian Journal of Oceanography 50: 13-26.
- Chaikina N (2004) A trophic mass-balance model of the Sea of Okhotsk for the 1980s period. BSc thesis, University of University of British Columbia, Faculty of Science. 49 p.
- Chakraborty D (1976) Fisheries statistics in the Philippines. A plan for a new and expanded data collection programme. SCS/76/WP/44. South China Sea Fisheries Development and Coordinating Programmes.Manila, Philippines.
- Chakraborty D and Wheeland H (1976) Report of the training workshop for field enumerators of the Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources. SCS/76/GEN/4. South China Sea Fisheries Development and Coordinating Programmes.Manila, Philippines.

- Cheung W (2007a) Vulnerability of marine fishes to fishing: from global overview to the northern South China sea, Resource Management and Environmental Studies - University of British Columbia. 369 p.
- Cheung WL (2007b) Vulnerability of marine fishes to fishing: from global overview to the northern south China Sea. PhD thesis, University of University of British Columbia, Resource Mangement and Environmental Studies, Vancouver, BC. 354 p.
- Christensen V, Beattie A, Buchanan C, Ma H, Martell SJD, Latour RJ, Preikshot D, Sigrist MB, Uphoff JH, Walters CJ, Wood RJ and Townsend H (2009a) Fisheries Ecosystem Model of the Chesapeake Bay: Methodology, Parameterization, and Model Explanation. U.S. Dep. Commerce, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-F/SPO-106: 146.
- Christensen V and Pauly D (1992) Ecopath II a software for balancing steady-state ecosystem models and calculating network characteristics. Ecological Modelling 61: 169-185.
- Christensen V and Pauly D, editors (1993) Trophic models of aquatic ecosystems. ICLARM Conference Proceedings 26, Manila, Philippines. 390 p.
- Christensen V and Walters C (2004) Trade-offs in ecosystem-scale optimization of fisheries management policies. Bulletin of Marine Science 74(3): 549-562.
- Christensen V, Walters CJ, Ahrens R, Alder J, Buszowski J, Christensen LB, Cheung WWL, Dunne J, Froese R, Karpouzi V, Kaschner K, Kearney K, Lai S, Lam V, Palomares MLD, Peters-Mason A, Piroddi C, Sarmiento JL, Steenbeek J, Sumaila R, Watson R, Zeller D and Pauly D (2009b) Database-driven models of the world's Large Marine Ecosystems. Ecological Modelling 220(17): 1984-1996.
- Christensen V, Walters CJ and Pauly D (2005) Ecopath with Ecosim: A user's guide. Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, B.C. (Canada). 154 p.
- Christian R and Luczkovich J (1999) Organizing and understanding a winter's seagrass foodweb network through effective trophic levels. Ecological Modelling 117(99-124).
- Cisneros-Mata MA (2012) Magnitud e impacto de la pesca irregular en México. Contribución a un análisis sistémico. Parte I. Reporte presentado al Instituto Mexicano para la Competitividad, A.C por Comunidad y Biodiversidad, A.C. Guaymas, Sonora. 75 p.
- Cisneros-Montemayor A (2007) The Economic Benefit of Ecosystem-Based Marine Recreation: Implications for Management and Policy. MSc thesis thesis, University of British Columbia, Resource Management and Environmental Studies.
- Cochrane KL, Augustyn CJ, Fairweather T, Japp D, Kilongo K, Iitembu J, Moroff N, Roux JP, Shannon L, Zyl Bv and Velho Fv (2009) Benguela Current Large Marine Ecosystem-Governance and Management for an Ecosystem Approach to Fisheries in the Region. Coastal Management 37: 235-254.
- Coll M, Carreras M, Cornax MJ, Massutí E, Morote E, Pastor X, Quetglas T, Silva L, Sobrino I, Torres M, Tudela S, Harper S, Zeller D and Pauly D (2013) Estimates of total fisheries removals from the Spanish Mediterranean Sea and Gulf of Cadiz (1950-2008). Fisheries Centre Research Reports (in press).
- Coll M, Libralato S, Tudela S, Palomera I and Pranovi F (2008a) Ecosystem overfishing in the ocean. Plos One 3(12): e3881.

- Coll M, Navarro J and Palomera I (in press) Ecological role of the endemic Starry ray *Raja asterias* in the NW Mediterranean Sea and management options for its conservation. Biological Conservation 10.1016/j.biocon.2012.06.029.
- Coll M, Palomera I, Tudela S and Dowd M (2008b) Food-web dynamics in the South Catalan Sea ecosystem (NW Mediterranean) for 1978-2003. Ecological Modelling 217(1-2): 95-116.
- Costello C, Ovando D, Hilborn R, Gaines SD, Deschenes O and Lester SE (2012) Status and solutions for the world's unassessed fisheries. Science 338(6106): 517-520.
- Costello MJ, Coll M, Danovaro R, Halpin P, Ojaveer H and Miloslavich P (2010) A census of marine biodiversity knowledge, resources and future challenges Plos One 5(8): e12110.
- Court of Auditors (2007) SPECIAL REPORT No 7/2007 on the control, inspection and sanction systems relating to the rules on conservation of Community fisheries resources together with the Commission's replies (pursuant to Article 248(4) second paragraph, EC) (2007/C 317/01).
- Craig AK (1966) Geography of fishing in British Honduras and adjacent coastal waters. Louisiana State University Press, Baton Rouge. 112 p.
- Cruz-Trinidad A (1997) Philippine Fisheries Code of 1998: Something old ... something new ... something better? . Tambuli: a Publication for Coastal Management Practitioners 1-2: 17-24.
- Cruzado A (1979) Coastal upwelling off Western Sahara. Investigacion Pesquera 43(1): 149-160.
- Cullis-Suzuki S and Pauly D (2008) Preliminary estimates of national and global costs of marine protected areas. pp. 85-90 *In* Alder J and Pauly D (eds.), A comparative assessment of biodiversity, fisheries and aquaculture in 53 countries' exclusive economic zones. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 6(7), Vancouver, Canada.
- Cullis-Suzuki S and Pauly D (2010) Marine Protected Area Costs as "Beneficial" Fisheries Subsidies: A Global Evaluation. Coastal Management 38(2): 113-121.
- Cury PM, Shin YJ, Planque B, Durant JM, Fromentin JM, Kramer-Schadt S, Stenseth NC, Travers M and Grimm V (2008) Ecosystem oceanography for global change in fisheries. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 23(6): 338-346.
- Daan N, Gislason H, Pope JG and Rice JC (2011) Apocalypse in world fisheries? The reports of their death are greatly exaggerated. ICES Journal of Marine Science 68(7): 1375-1378.
- Dalzell P, Corpuz P, Ganaden R and Pauly D (1987) Estimation of maximum sustainable yield and maximum economic rent from the Philippine small pelagic fisheries. Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources Tech. Pap. Ser. X(3): 23p.
- Dalzell P and Pauly D (1989) Assessment of the fish resources of Southeast Asia, with emphasis on the Banda and Arafura Seas. Progress in Oceanography 79: 326-335.
- Dato C, Bambill G, Cañete G, Villarino ML and Aubone A (2006) Estimación cuantitativa del descarte en la pesquería de merluza realizado por la flota comercial argentina. INIDEP Documento Científico No 6: 31-38 Mar del Plata.
- Davies RWD, Cripps SJ, Nickson A and Porter G (2009) Defining and estimating global marine fisheries bycatch. Marine Policy 33: 661-672.

- Dayton PK, Sala E, Tegner MJ and Thrush S (2000) Marine reserves: parks, baselines, and fishery enhancement. Bulletin of Marine Science 66(3): 617-634.
- Devaraj M (1996) Deep sea fishing in Indian waters. Proceedings of the seminar on fisheries-A multibillion dollar industry, Central Marine Fisheries Research Institute, Madras. 35-41 p.
- Dineshbabu AP, Thomas S and Radhakrishnan EV (2010) Bycatch from trawlers with special reference to its impact on commercial fishery, off Mangalore. pp. 327-334 *In* Meenakumari B, Boopendranath MR, Edwin L, Sankar TV, Gopal N and Ninan G (eds.), Coastal fishery resources of India- conservation and sustainable utilisation. Society of Fisheries Technologists.
- Dommasnes A, Christensen V, Ellertsen B, Kvamme C, Melle W, Nøttestad L, Pedersen T, Tjelmeland S and Zeller D (2001) An Ecopath model for the Norwegian Sea and Barents Sea. pp. 213–239 *In* Guénette S, Christensen V and Pauly D (eds.), Fisheries impacts on North Atlantic ecosystems: models and analyses. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 9(4), Vancouver.
- Dronova N and Spiridonov V (2009) Illegal, unreported, and unregulated Pacific salmon fishing in Kamchatka. TRAFFIC Europe-Russia, Moscow.
- Edwards P, Tuan LA and Allan GL (2004) A survey of marine trash fish and fish meal as aquaculture feed ingredients in Vietnam. ACLAR Working Paper No. 57, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research. 53 p.
- Espinosa-Romero MJ, López-Manriquez M and Torre-Cosío J (2012) Programa de talleres sobre marco regulatorio para el manejo sustentable de pesquerías ribereñas en el Noroeste y Sureste de México. Informe Final a la Dirección General de Ordenamiento Pesquero y Acuícola, CONAPESCA. 16 p.
- Espinoza-Tenorio A, Espejel I, Wolff M and Zepeda-Domínguez JA (2011) Contextual factors influencing sustainable fisheries in Mexico. Marine Policy 35: 343-350.
- EUROFISH (2005) Survey of the fish industry in Russia. International Finance Corporation (IFC), Ministry for Foreign Affairs & Ministry of Fisheries, Iceland. 252 p. Available at: <u>http://www.utanrikisraduneyti.is/media/vidskiptathjonustan/Skyrsla_FISH_INDUSTR</u> <u>Y IN RUSSIA I Eurofish.pdf</u> [Accessed: October 5, 2012].
- Fabinyi M and Dalabajan D (2011) Policy and practice in live reef fish for food trade: a case study from Palawan, Philippines. Marine Policy 35: 371-378.
- FAO (2004) India. Fishery and aquaculture country profile, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome. Available at: <u>http://www.fao.org/fishery/countrysector/FI-CP_IN/en</u> [Accessed: August 24, 2012].
- FAO (2011a) FishStat J Universal software for fishery statistical time series., United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), Rome.
- FAO (2011b) Profil des pêches et aquaculture par pays Maroc. FAO, Rome. Available at: <u>http://www.fao.org/fishery/countrysector/FI-CP_MA/fr</u> [Accessed: August 2012].
- FAO (2012) The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome. 197 p.

- Ferchen M (2012) China's Latin American Interest. Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. (http://carnegieendowment.org/2012/04/06/china-s-latin-american-interests/a7av)
- FIDC (1979) Philippine fisheries: major developments in the 1970s and directions for the 1980s. Fishery Industry Development Council, Department of Natural Resources, Republic of the Philippines.
- Firth R (1966) Malay Fishermen: Their Peasant Economy. Archon Books, The Shoestring Press, Connecticut. 398 p.
- Fishery Agencies (2005) Marine Fish and Fisheries: The Fishery Agencies Contribution to Charting Progress – An Integrated Assessment of the State of UK Seas. DEFRA, London.
- Franquesa R, Idrissi M and Alarcón J (2001) Feasibility assessment for a database on socioeconomic indicators for Mediterranean fisheries. Studies and Reviews 71. General Fisheries Council for the Mediterranean. FAO, Rome. 55 p.
- Freire KMF (2003) A database of landing data on Brazilian marine fisheries. pp. 181-189 *In* Zeller D, Booth S, Mohammed E and Pauly D (eds.), From Mexico to Brazil: Central Atlantic fisheries catch trends and ecosystem models. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 11(6).
- Freire KMF, Christensen V and Pauly D (2007) Assessing fishing policies for northeastern Brazil. Pan-American Journal of Aquatic Sciences 2(2): 113-130.
- Freire KMF, Christensen V and Pauly D (2008) Description of the East Brazil Large Marine Ecosystem using a trophic model. Scientia Marina 72(2): 477-491.
- Freire KMF and Pauly D (2003) What's in there: common names of Brazilian marine fishes. pp. 439-444 *In* Haggan N, Brignall C and Wood LJ (eds.), Putting Fishers' Knowledge to Work. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 11(1), Vancouver, BC.
- Freire KMF and Pauly D (2005) Richness of common names of Brazilian marine fishes and its effect on catch statistics. Journal of Ethnobiology 25(2): 279-296.
- Freire KMF and Pauly D (2010) Fishing down Brazilian marine food webs, with emphasis on the east Brazil large marine ecosystem. Fisheries Research 105(1): 57-62.
- Froese R, Zeller D, Kleisner K and Pauly D (2012) What catch data can tell us about the status of global fisheries. Marine Biology 159(6): 1283-1292.
- Fulton EA (2010) Approaches to end-to-end ecosystem models. Journal of Marine Systems 81: 171-183.
- Fundación Vida Silvestre (2008) Crisis de la pesca de Merluza. Estado de situación, implicancias y propuestas. Documento de Posición. 7 p. Available at: <u>http://assets.wwfar.panda.org/downloads/crisis de la pesca de merluza 2008.pdf</u> [Accessed: October 21st, 2010].
- Funge-Smith S, Lindebo E and Staples D (2005) Asian fisheries today: the production and use of low value/trash fish from marine fisheries in the Asia-Pacific region. FAO, Bangkok. 47 p.
- Gambang A, Rajali H and Awang D (2003) Overview of biology and exploitation of the small pelagic fish resources of the EEZ of Sarawak, Malaysia. Malaysia Fisheries Institute, Kuching. 18 p.

- Ganapathiraju P (2012) Illegal and unreported fishing: global analysis of incentives and a case study estimating illegal and unreported catches from India. PhD thesis, University of British Columbia, Recource Management and Environmental Studies, Vancouver. 343 p.
- Garces L, Alias M, Abu Talib A, Mohamad-Norizam M and Silvestre G (2003) A trophic model of coastal fisheries ecosystem off the west coast of Sabah and Sarawak, Malaysia. pp. 333-352 *In* Silvestre G, Stobutzki I, Ahmed M, Valmonte-Santos R, Luna C, Lachica-Aliño L, Munro P, Christensen V and Pauly D (eds.), Assessment, Management and Future Directions for Coastal Fisheries in Asian Countries, WorldFish Center Conference Proceedings 67. Worldfish Center, Penang.
- Garcia SM and Rosenberg AA (2010) Food security and marine capture fisheries: characteristics, trends, drivers and future perspectives. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 365: 2869-2880.
- Gaulier G, Lemoine F and Ünal-Kesenci D (2007) China's emergence and the reorganization of trade flows in Asia. China Economic Review 18: 209-243.
- Gelcich S, Edwards-Jones G and Kaiser MJ (2005) Importance of additudinal differences among artisanal fishers toward co-management and conservation of marine resources. Conservation Biology 19(3): 865-875.
- Gerber LR, Morissette L, Kaschner K and Pauly D (2009) ECOLOGY Should Whales Be Culled to Increase Fishery Yield? Science 323(5916): 880-881.
- Gillett V (2003) The fisheries of Belize. pp. 141-147 *In* Zeller D, Booth S, Mohammed E and Pauly D (eds.), From Mexico to Brazil: Central Atlantic fisheries catch trends and ecosystem models. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 11(6).
- Gordon A (1991) Bycatch from Indian trawlers in Bay of Bengal. Bay of Bengal program BOBP/WP/68, Bay of Bengal program BOBP/WP/68. 29 p.
- Graham R (2007) Vulnerability assessment of sharks and rays. Additional material to the final report to the Belize Fisheries Department (BFD). Wildlife Conservation Society.
- Grekov AA and Pavlenko AA (2011) A comparison of longline and trawl fishing practices and suggestions for encouraging the sustainable management of fisheries in the Barents Sea. World Wide Fund For Nature (WWF), Moscow, Murmansk. 50 p.
- Gücü AC (2001) Development of northeastern Mediterranean fishing fleet: Impacts on/of ecosystem changes. Technological developments in Fisheries: Abstracts. Workshop 19-21 June 2001, Balikcilikta teknolojik gelismeler, Izmir, Turkey. 20-22 p.
- Guénette S, Christensen V and Pauly V (2008) Trophic modelling of the Peruvian upwelling ecosystem: Towards reconciliation of multiple datasets. Progress in Oceanography 79: 326–335.
- Guénette S, Heymans SJJ, Christensen V and Trites AW (2006) Ecosystem models show combined effects of fishing, predation, competition, and ocean productivity on Steller sea lions (*Eumetopias jubatus*) in Alaska. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63(11): 2495-2517.
- Gullestad P, Aglen A, Bjordal Å, Blom G, Johansen S, Krog J, Misund OA and Røttingen I (2012) Changing attitudes 1970 – 2012. Evolution of the Norwegian management framework to prevent overfishing and to secure long-term sustainability. ICES ASC 2012/L:05.

- Halpern BS, Longo C, Hardy D, McLeod KL, Samhouri JF, Katona SK, Kleisner K, Lester SE, O'Leary J, Ranelletti M, Rosenberg AA, Scarborough C, Selig ER, Best BD, Brumbaugh DR, Chapin FS, Crowder LB, Daly KL, Doney SC, Elfes C, Fogarty MJ, Gaines SD, Jacobsen K, Bunce-Karrer L, Leslie HM, Neeley E, Pauly D, Polasky S, Ris B, St. Martin K, Stone GS, Sumaila UR and Zeller D (2012) An Ocean Health Index: quantifying and mapping the health of global marine ecosystems. Nature 488: 615–620.
- Han MMMPH (2007) Fisheries development in Vietnam: a case study in the exclusive economic zone. Ocean & Coastal Management 50: 669-712.
- Hanna S, Blough H, Allen R, Iudicello S, Matlock G and McCay B (2000) Fishing Grounds: Defining a New Era for American Fisheries Management. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- Harborne AR, McField MD and Delaney EK (2000) Volume I, Regional Chapter: Europe, The Americas and West Africa. *In* Sheppard CRC (ed.) Seas at the Millennium: an Environmental Evaluation. Pergamon, Coventry, U.K.
- Harvey CJ, Cox SP, Essington TE, Hansson S and Kitchell JF (2003) An ecosystem model of food web and fisheries interactions in the Baltic Sea. ICES Journal of Marine Science 60: 939-950.
- Hatcher A and Cunningham S (1994) The development of fishing rights in UK fisheries policy. CEMAR research paper number 69, Centre for the Economics and Management of Aquatic Resources, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth.
- Hatcher A, Pascoe S, Banks R, Macfadyen G and Arnason R (2002) Future options for UK fish quota management. CEMAR report number 58 to the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, Centre for the Economics and Management of Aquatic Resources, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth.
- Hauck M and Sweijd NA (1999) A case study of abalone poaching in South Africa and its impact on fisheries management. ICES Journal of Marine Science (56): 1024-1032.
- Helin RA (1964) Soviet Fishing in the Barents Sea and the North Atlantic. Geographical Review 54(3): 386-408.
- Hempel G, Lochte K and Gennady M (2012) Berichte zur Polar-und Meeresforschung. A workshop celebrating two decades of cooperation between the Alfred-Wegener-Institute für Polar- und Meeresforschung in der Helmholtz-Gemeinschaft, Bundesrepublik, Germany. Arctic Marine Biology 640: 192.
- Hernández A and Kempton W (2003) Changes in fisheries management in Mexico: Effects of increasing scientific input and public participation. Ocean and Coastal Management 46: 507-526.
- Hersoug B and Holm P (2000) Change without redistribution: an institutional perspective on South Africa's new fisheries policy. Marine Policy 24: 221-231.
- Heyman WD (1996) Integrated coastal zone management and sustainable development for tropical estuarine ecosystems: a case study of Port Honduras, Belize. PhD thesis, University of University of South Carolina, Marine Science Program. 289 p.
- Heyman WD and Kjerfve B (2001) The Gulf of Honduras. pp. 17-32 *In* Seeliger U and Kjerfve B (eds.), Coastal Marine Ecosystems of Latin America. Springer-Verlag Berlin, Heidelberg, New York.

- Hilborn R and Walters C (1992) Quantitative Fisheries Stock Assessment: Choice, Dynamics and Uncertainty. Chapman and Hall, New York. 570 p.
- Hinrichson D, editor (1998) Coastal waters of the world: Trends, threats, and strategies. Island press, Washington, D.C. 276 p.
- Hoeksema BW (2007) Delineation of the Indo-Malayan centre of maximum marine biodiversity: the coral triangle. pp. 117-178 *In* Renema W (ed.) Biogeography, Time and Place: Distributions, Barriers and Islands. Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Howell EA, Wabnitz CCC, Dunne JP and Polovina JJ (in press) Climate-induced primary productivity change and fishing impacts on the Central North Pacific ecosystem and Hawaii-based pelagic longline fishery. Climatic Change DOI 10.1007/s10584-012-0597-z.
- Hunter A and Sexton J (1999) Contemporary China. St. Martin Press, New York.
- ICES (1986) Report of the Working Group on Assessment of Demersal Stocks in the Baltic. 14-23 April 1986. C.M.1986/Assess:21.Copenhagen. 68 p.
- ICES (1992) Report of the Working Group on the Assessment of Demersal Stocks in the Baltic. 21-29 April 1992. C.M.1992/Assess:12.Copenhagen.
- Irusta G, Veis S, Simonazzi M and Castrucci R (2001) Los desembarques argentinos de merluza (Merluccius hubbis) entre 1987-1997. INIDEP Informe Técnico 42 Mar del Plata, Argentina. 24 p.
- Itano DG and WIlliams PG (2009) Review of bigeye and yellowfin tuna catches landed in Palawan, Philippines. Western and Central Pacific Fisheries Commission. 51 p.
- Jackson BC, Kirby MX, Berger WH, Bjorndal KA, Botsford LW, Bourque BJ, Bradbury RH, Cooke R, Erlandson J, Estes JA, Hughes TP, Kidwell S, Lange CB, Lenihan HS, Pandolfi JM, Peterson CH, Steneck RS, Tegner MJ and Warner RR (2001) Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. Ecology 84: 162-173.
- Jameson SC, Tupper MH and Ridley JM (2002) The three screen doors: *can* marine "protected" areas be effective? Marine Pollution Bulletin 44: 1177-1183.
- Jang CI and Lee SG (2002) Quantitative and qualitative changes in Korean coastal and offshore fisheries production. The Korean Society of Fisheries Technology 38: 379-381.
- Jarre A, Muck P and Pauly D (1991) Two approaches for modelling fish stock interactions in the Peruvian upwelling ecosystem. ICES Marine Science Symposia 193: 171-184.
- Jaworski A, Solmundsson J and Ragnarsson SA (2010) Fish assemblages inside and outside marine protected areas off northern Iceland: protection effects or environmental confounds? Fisheries Research 102(1-2): 50-59.
- Jeong M (1991) A Study on the Development History of Fisheries Technology for the Past 100 Years in Korea. The Korean Federation of Science and Technology Socieities, Seoul.
- JFA (2008) Gyogyo Sensasu (2008 Fisheries Census). Japan Fisheries Agency, Tokyo. Available at: <u>http://www.maff.go.jp/j/tokei/census/fc/2008/index.html</u> [Accessed: October 10, 2012].

- JFA (2012) Heisei 23 Suisan Hakusho (2011 Fisheries Whitepaper). Japan Fisheries Agency, Tokyo. Available at: <u>http://www.jfa.maff.go.jp/j/kikaku/wpaper/</u> [Accessed: October 10, 2012].
- JNCC (2011) How many no take zones are either already operating or planned for UK waters.FOI/EIR 201104, Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC). Available at: jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/EIR_201104.pdf [Accessed: 17 October 2012].
- Johnson T (2004) Russian Far East Fisheries. Alaska Sea Grant College Program, University of Alaska, Fairbanks. 20 p.
- Kaczynski VM (1989) Foreign fishing fleets in the subSaharan West African EEZ. The coastal state perspective Marine Policy: 15.
- Kaczynski VM and Fluharty DL (2002) European policies in west Africa: who benefits from fisheries agreements? Marine Policy 26: 75-93.
- Kalaidjian W (2010) Fishing for solutions: The European Union's fisheries partnership agreements with West African coastal states and the call for effective regional oversight in an exploited ocean. Emory International Law Review 24: 390-431.
- Kålås JA, Viken Å, Henriksen S and Skjelseth S, editors (2010) The 2010 Norwegian Red List for Species. Norwegian Biodiversity Information Centre, Norway.
- Kang YS (2011) A study on the buyout status of coastal fishing boat and understanding of the owners. MSc thesis, University of Chonnam National University, Department of Fisheries Science, Kwangjoo. Available at: <u>http://www.riss.kr/search/detail/DetailView.do?p_mat_type=be54d9b8bc7cdb09&cont_rol_no=ef99de8691437334ffeobdc3ef48d419&naverYN=Y#redirect</u> [Accessed:
- Karamushko OV (2008) Species Composition and Structure of the Ichthyofauna of the Barents Sea. Journal of Ichthyology 48(4): 227-291.
- Kaschner K and Pauly D (2005) Competition between marine mammals and fisheries: food for thought. pp. 95-117 *In* Salem DJ and Rowan AN (eds.), The state of the animals III. Human Society of the United States Press, Gaithersburg, MD.
- Kelleher K (2005) Discards in the world's marine fisheries: an update. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper No. 470 FAO Fisheries Technical Paper No. 470.
- Kesteven G (1949) Malayan Fisheries. Malaya Publishing House, Singapore. 88 p.
- Kleisner K, Zeller D, Froese R and Pauly D (2012) Using global catch data for inferences on the world's marine fisheries. Fish and Fisheries 10.1111/j.1467-2979.2012.00469.x.
- Knudsen S (1997) A comparative study of fishing communities and public awareness in Turkey and Ukraine. Social Assessment Studies of the Human Communities Particularly Affected by the Degradation of the Black Sea Ecosystem, Black Sea Environmental Programme, Istanbul.
- Knudsen S and Toje H (2008) Post-Soviet transformations in Russian and Ukrainian Black Sea fisheries: socio-economic dynamics and property relations. Southeast European and Black Sea Studies 8(1): 17-32.
- Korea Fisheries Association (2010) Korean Fisheries Yearbook 2010. Korea Fisheries Association, Seoul. 602 p.

- Korea Fisheries Association (2011) Korean Fisheries Yearbook 2011. Korea Fisheries Association, Seoul. 589 p.
- Lem A, Tietze U, Ruckes E and Vanrooy Rv (2004) Fish marketing and credit in Viet Nam. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper 468, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome. 104 p.
- LeManach F, Gough C, Harris A, Humber F, Harper S and Zeller D (2012) Unreported fishing, hungry people and political turmoil: the recipe for a food security crisis in Madagascar? Marine Policy 36(1): 218-225.
- Link JS, Yemane D, Shannon LJ, Coll M, Shin YJ, Hill L, Borges MF, Bundy A and Aydin K (2010) Relating marine ecosystem indicators to fishing and environmental drivers: an elucidation of contrasting responses. ICES Journal of Marine Science 67: 787-795.
- Lippit CD (2000) The Maoist period, 1949-1978: mobilizational collectivism, primative accumulation, and industrialization. Chapter 1. pp. 3-17 *In* Hudson C (ed.) The China Handbook. AMACOM, New York.
- Lleonart J (2008) Review of the state of Mediterranean and Black Sea fishery resources. Options Mediterraneennes, Series B 62: 57-69.
- Long LK, Flaaten O and Anh NTK (2008) Economic performance of open-access offshore fisheries - the case of Vietnamese longliners in the South China Sea. Fisheries Research 93: 296-304.

Longhurst A (2006) The sustainability myth. Fisheries Research 81(2-3): 107-112.

Longhurst A and Pauly D (1987) Ecology of Tropical Oceans. Academic Press, San Diego.

- Lotze HK, Lenihan HS, Bourque BJ, Bradbury RH, Cooke RG, Kay MC, Kidwell SM, Kirby MX, Peterson CH and Jackson JBC (2006) Depletion, degradation, and recovery potential of estuaries and coastal seas. Science 312(5781): 1806-1809.
- Lowry GK, White AT and Christie P (2009) Scaling up to networks of marine protected areas in the Philippines: biophysical, legal, institutional, and social considerations. Coastal Management 37(3-4): 274-290.
- Luong TD (2001) An alternative design of trawls for offshore fishing in Vietnam. The United Nations University Fisheries Training Programme. 37 p.
- Mackinson S and Daskalov G (2007) An ecosystem model of the North Sea to support and ecosystem approach to fisheries management: description and parameterisation. Cefas Science Series Technical Report 142(195).
- Malouli Idrissi M, Zahri Y, Houssa R, Abdelaoui B and El Ouamari N (2001) La pêche artisanale dans la lagune de Ndor, Maroc : exploitation et aspects socio-économiques. Institut National de Recherche Halieutique, Nador. 43 p. Available at: <u>ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/006/ad486b/AD486B02.pdf</u> [Accessed:
- Mann KH and Lazier JRN (1991) Dynamics of Marine Ecosystems. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford. 563 p.
- Martell SJ and Froese R (2012) A simple method for estimating MSY from catch and resilience. Fish and Fisheries 10.1111/j.1467-2979.2012.00485.x.

- Mathew S (1999) Samudra-International collective in support of fish workers. December (24): 45-49.
- Matishov G, Golubeva N, Titova G, Sydnes A and Voegele B (2011) Barents Sea. GIWA regional assessment 11, Global International Water Assessment (GIWA), University of Kalmar, Sweden. 118 p. Available at: <u>http://www.unep.org/dewa/giwa/areas/reports/r11/giwa_regional_assessment_11.pdf</u> [Accessed: October 5, 2012].
- Matishov GG, Denisov VV, Dzheyuk SL, Karamushko OV and Daler D (2004) The impact of fisheries on the dynamics of commercial fish species in Barents Sea and the Sea of Azov, Russia: a historical perspective. Ambio 33(1-2): 63-67.
- Miethke S, Reichle S, Armijo E, Ferdaña Z, Sotomayor L, Chatwin A, Ramirez B and de Andrade R (2007) Coastal and marine conservation priorities in Chile. Priorities for coastal and marine conservation in South America: 25-29.
- Ministry of the Environment (2010) Panorama da Conservação dos Ecossistemas Costeiros e Marinhos no Brasil. 148.
- Miranovsky A (2012) Kamchatsky crab will go sideways for Japan. Pravda.ru. http://www.pravda.ru/economics/agriculture/fishery/19-10-2012/1131794-japan-0/.
- MMO (2012) UK Sea Fisheries Statistics 2011. Statistics Office of the Marine Management Organisation, London.
- MOFI (2005) Vietnam fisheries and aquaculture sector study final report. Vietnam's Ministry of Fisheries and the World Bank, Vietnam. 141 p.
- Mohd Taupek M (2003) Monitoring, measurement and assessment of fishing capacity the Malaysian experience. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper 445.
- Moksness E, Gjøsæter J, Lagaillarde G, Mikkelsen E, Olsen EM, Sandersen HT and Vølstad JH (2011) Effects of Fishing Tourism in a Coastal Municipality: a Case Study from Risør, Norway. Ecology and Society 16(3): 11.
- Mora C, Myers RA, Coll M, Libralato S, Pitcher TJ, Sumaila RU, Zeller D, Watson R, Gaston KJ and Worm B (2009) Management effectiveness of the world's marine fisheries. PLoS Biology 7(6): 1-11.
- Morissette L, Christensen V and Pauly D (2012) Marine mammal impacts in exploited ecosystems: would large scale culling benefit fisheries? Plos One 7(9): 1-18.
- Morissette L, Hammill MO and Savenkoff C (2006) The trophic role of marine mammals in the Northern Gulf of St. Lawrence. Marine Mammal Science 22(1): 74–103.
- Morissette L, Kaschner K and Gerber LR (2010) Ecosystem models clarify the trophic role of whales off Northwest Africa. Marine Ecology Progress Series 404: 289-302.
- Muñoz JC (1991) Manila Bay: status of its fisheries and management. Marine Pollution Bulletin 23: 311-314.
- Newell J (2004) The Russian Far East: a reference guide for conservation and development. Daniel & Daniel Publishers, McKinleyville, CA. 466 p.

- Nguyen TH and Tran QQ (2007) Vietnam fishery products annual report 2007. Global agriculture information network report, USDA Foreign Agriculture Service, Hanoi.
- Nicol S, Bowie A, Jarman S, Lannuzel D, Meiners KM and van der Merwe P (2010) Southern Ocean iron fertilization by baleen whales and Antarctic krill. Fish and Fisheries 11(2): 203-209.
- Nuruddin A and Urn C (1994) Biosocioeconomics of fishing for shrimp in Kuala Sepetang, Malaysia. Bay of Bengal Programme BOBP/WP/98, Bay of Bengal Programme, Madras.
- Odum EP and Barrett GW (2005) Fundamentals of ecology, 5th edition. Thomson Brooks/Cole, Belmont, CA.
- OECD (2006) Agricultural and fisheries policies in Mexico recent achievements, continuing the reform agenda. OECD Publishing. 332 p.
- OEDC (2009) An appraisal of the Chilean fisheries sector. OEDC Publishing.
- OEDC (2012) Chile. pp. 143-161 *In* OECD Review of Fisheries 2011: Policies and Summary Statistics. OEDC Publishing.
- Omar I, Mohd Noh K, Raja Abdullah N and Kuperan K (1992) Malaysian fisheries policy Search for new grounds. Marine Policy 16: 438-450.
- Österblom H and Villasante S (in press) The role of cooperation in successful transformations of marine social-ecological systems in Latin America. Ecology and Society.
- Ozsoy E and Unluata U (1997) Oceanography of the Black Sea: a review of some recent results. Earth Science Reviews 42: 231-272.
- Palomares MLD, Morissette L, Cisneros-Montemayor A, Varkey S, Coll. M and Piroddi C (2009) Ecopath 25 years conference: extended abstracts. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 17(3), Vancouver. 171 p.
- Pandolfi JM, Bradbury RH, Sala E, Hughes TP, Bjorndal KA, Cooke RG, McArdle D, McClenachan L, Newman MJH and Paredes G (2003) Global trajectories of the long-term decline of coral reef ecosystems. Science 301(5635): 955.
- Pang L and Pauly D (2001) Part 1 Chinese marine capture fisheries from 1950 to the late 1990s: the hopes, the plans and the data. pp. 1-27 *In* Watson R, L. P and Pauly D (eds.), The marine fisheries of China: development and reported catches. Fisheries Centre Research Report 9(2).
- Park MS (1999) A study on the new development direction for fisheries policy in Korea. International journal of maritime information and communication sciences 3(4): 695-704.
- Parrish RA, Bakun A, Husby DM and Nelson CS (1983) Comparative climatology of selected environmental processes in realion to eastern boundary current fish reproduction. Proceedings of the expert consultation to examine changes in abundance and species composition of neritic fish resources, San José, Costa Rica, 18-29 April 1983. 731-777 p.
- Pathansali D (1961) A preliminary report on the Rastrelliger fishery in Malaya. Proceedings of the 9th Indo-Pacific Fisheries Council 2: 37-45.

- Pauly D (1982) History and present status of the fisheries. pp. 95-124 *In* Pauly D and Mines AN (eds.), Small-scale fisheries of San Miguel Bay Philippines: biology and stock assessment. ICLARM Technical Report (7), Manila, Philippines.
- Pauly D (1989) Fisheries resources management in Southeast Asia: why bother? pp. 1-9 In Chua TE and Pauly D (eds.), Proceedings of the ASEAN/US Policy Workshop on Coastal Area Management, 25-27 October19. ICLARM Conference Proceedings, Johor Bahru, Malaysia.
- Pauly D (1998) Rationale for reconstructing catch time series. EC Fisheries Cooperation Bulletin 11(2): 4-10.
- Pauly D (2006) Major trends in small-scale marine fisheries, with emphasis on developing countries, and some implications for the social sciences. Maritime Studies (MAST) 4(2): 7-22.
- Pauly D (2008) Reconciling Fisheries with Conservation: The Challenge of Managing Ecosystem -Conference Grand Keynote. pp. 1-4 *In* Nielsen JL, Dodson JJ, Friedland K, Hamon TR, Musick J and Vespoor E (eds.), Reconciling Fisheries with Conservation: Proceedings of the Fourth World Fisheries Congress. Symposium 49. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Pauly D, Alder J, Booth S, Cheung WWL, Close C, Sumaila R, Swartz W, Tavakolie A, Watson R, Wood LJ and Zeller D (2008) Fisheries in Large Marine Ecosystems: Descriptions and Diagnoses. pp. 23-40 *In* Sherman K and Hempel G (eds.), The UNEP Large Marine Ecosystem Report: a Perspective on Changing Conditions in LMEs of the World's Regional Seas. UNEP Regional Seas Reports and Studies.182. UNEP, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Pauly D, Belhabib D, Cheung W, Cisneros-Montemayor A, Harper S, Lam V, Mai YY, Le Manach F, Mok KM, van der Meer L, Shon S, Swartz W, Sumaila UR, Watson R, Zhai Y and Zeller D (2012a) Catches [of the Chinese distant-water fleet] pp. 21-29 & 81-85 *In* Blomeyer R, Goulding I, Pauly D, Sanz A and K. S (eds.), The role of China in World Fisheries. European Parliament, Directorate General for Internal Policies, Policy Department B: Structural and Cohesion Policies Fisheries, Brussels.
- Pauly D, Christensen V and Walters C (2000) Ecopath, Ecosim and Ecospace as tools for evaluating ecosystem impacts of fisheries. ICES Journal of Marine Science 57: 697-709.
- Pauly D, De Vildoso A, Mejia J and Samamé M (1987) Population dynamics and estimated anchoveta consumption of bonito (*Sarda chiliensis*) off Peru, 1953 to 1982. pp. 248-267 *In* Pauly D and Tsukayama I (eds.), The Peruvian anchoveta and its upwelling ecosystem: three decades of change, ICLARM Studies and Reviews 15. International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management (ICLARM), Manila, Philippines.
- Pauly D, Kleisner K, Bhathal B, Boonzaier L, Freire KMF, Hornby C, Lam V, Palomares ML, McCrea Strub A, van der Meer L and Zeller D (2012b) Towards increasing fisheries' contribution to food security. Part I: The potentials of Brazil, Chile, India and the Philippines. A report of the *Sea Around Us* Project submitted to Oceana and the Bloomberg and Rockefeller Foundations. 114 p.
- Pauly D and Martosubroto P, editors (1996) Baseline studies of biodiversity: the fish resources of western Indonesia. ICLARM Stud. Rev. 23. 312 p.
- Pauly D and Smith IR (1983) Resolving multigear competition in nearshore fisheries. ICLARM Newsletter 6(4): 11-18.
- Pauly D and Swartz W (2007) Marine fish catches in North Siberia (Russia, FAO Area 18). pp. 17-In Zeller D and Pauly D (eds.), Reconstructions of marine fisheries catches for key countries and regions (1950-2005). Fisheries Centre Research Reports 15(2). University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC.
- Pauly D and Zeller D (2003) The global fisheries crisis as a rationale for improving the FAO's database of fisheries statistics. *In* Zeller D, Booth S, Mohammed E and Pauly D (eds.), From Mexico to Brazil: Central Atlantic fisheries catch trends and ecosystem models. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 16(7). University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada.
- PDNR (1976) Inventory of natural resources. Fisheries and aquatic resources. Philippine Department of Natural Resources Technical Report IV Manila, Philippines.
- Peña-Torres J (1997) The political economy of fishing regulation: the case of Chile. Marine Resource Economics 12: 253-280.
- Perez A (2009) Fisheries management at the tri-national border between Belize, Guatemala and Honduras. Marine Policy 33: 195-200.
- Pershing AJ, Christensen LB, Record NR, Sherwood GD and Stetson PB (2010) The Impact of Whaling on the Ocean Carbon Cycle: Why Bigger Was Better. Plos One 5(8).
- Pikitch E, Boersma PD, Boyd IL, Conover DO, Cury P, Essington T, Heppell SS, Houde ED, Mangel M, Pauly D, Plagányi É, Sainsbury K and Steneck RS (2012) Little fish, big impact. Managing a crucial link in ocean food webs. Lenfest Ocean Program, Washington, D.C. 108 p.
- Pitcher T, Kalikoski D and Ganapathiraju P, editors (2006) Evaluations of compliance with the UN Code of Conduct for Responsible Fisheries. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 14. University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada. 1192 p.
- Pitcher TJ, Watson R, Forrest R, Valtýsson H and Guenette S (2002) Estimating Illegal and Unreported Catches From Marine Ecosystems: A Basis For Change. Fish and Fisheries 3: 22.
- Plagányi É (2007) Models for an Ecosystem Approach to Fisheries. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper 477. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome (Italy). 109 p.
- Polovina JJ (1984) Model of a coral reef ecosystem: the ECOPATH model and its application to French Frigate Shoals. Coral Reefs 3(1): 1-11.
- Pomeroy R, Nguyen KAT and Thong HX (2009) Small-scale marine fisheries policy in Vietnam. Marine Policy 33(2): 419-428.
- Pong L (1992) Multispecies fish resources and multispecies fisheries in the coastal waters of Peninsular Malaysia, with special reference to the west coast. pp. 184-209 *In* Papers presented at the sixth session of the Standing Committee on Resources Research and Development. Colombo, Sri Lanka, 18-21 May 1990. FAO Fisheries Report No. 463 Supplement. FAO, Rome.
- Porter G (1997) The Euro-African fishing aggreements: Subsidizing overfishing in African waters. The role of trade policies in the fishing sector: 29.

- Preikshot DB (2007) The Influence of Geographic Scale, Climate and Trophic Dynamics Upon North Pacific Oceanic Ecosystem Models. PhD thesis, University of University of British Columbia, Resource Management and Environmental Studies.
- Price MD (1987) Cooperatives and development: the lobster fisherman of Belize. Department of Geography, Syracuse University. Available at: sites.maxwell.syr.edu/CLAG/Yearbook1987/price.pdf [accessed July 2010]. 6 p.
- Qiu W, Wang B, Jones PJS and Axmacher JC (2009) Challenges in developing China's marine protected area system. Marine Policy 33(4): 599-605.
- Raduan M, Sharir M and Aziz Z (2007) Masalah Nelayan Tradisional di Semenanjung Malaysia: Penyelesaian Tanpa Kesudahan. Jurnal Jabatan Pengajian Asia Tenggara 12: 247-258.
- Raemaekers SJ-PN and Britz PJ (2009) Profile of the illegal abalone fishery (Haliotis midae) in the Eastern Cape Province, South Africa: Organised pillage and management failure. Fisheries Research 97: 183-195.
- Rajagopalan R (2011) India. pp. 33-49 *In* Sanders JS, Gréboval D and Hjort A (eds.), Marine protected areas: country case studies on policy, governance and institutional issues. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper (556/1), Rome.
- Randall JE (1998) Zoogeography of shore fishes of the Indo-Pacific region. Zoological Studies 37(4): 227-268.
- Rao PV and Murty VS (1993) Complexitites of management of inshore fishery resources of India. Fishing Chimes 13(8): 5-8.
- Robb CK, Bodtker KM, Wright K and Lash J (2011) Commercial fisheries closures in marine protected areas on Canada's Pacific coast: the exception, not the rule. Marine Policy 35(3): 309-316.
- Rodríguez-Valencia JA and Cisneros-Mata MA (2006) Captura incidental de las flotas pesqueras ribereñas del Pacífico Mexicano. Reporte técnico del Programa Golfo de California de WWF-México a la Comisión de Cooperación ambiental de América del Norte. Available at: <u>http://www.wwf.org.mx/wwfmex/publicaciones.php?tipo=reps</u>. 127 p.
- Rojo-Diaz P and Pitcher TJ (2005) An estimation of compliance of the fisheries of Morocco with article 7 (Fisheries Management) of the UN Code of Conduct for Responsible Fishing. 23 p.
- Ronquillo IA (1975) A review of the roundscad fishery in the Philippines. Philippine Journal of Fisheries 2(1&2): 86-126.
- Rovira J, Ortega D, Alvarez A and Molt K (2008) Áreas protegidas en Chile. Biodiversidad de Chile: patrimonio y desafíos: 506-561.
- Ryu JG (1991) A Study on the Evolution of the Holding and Utilizing System of Fisheries Resources in Korea. Marine Management Essay Collection 22(1): 1-52.
- Saharuddin A (1995) Development and management of Malaysian marine fisheries. Marine Policy 19: 115-126.
- Sarhage D and Lundbeck J (1992) A history of fishing. Springer Verlag, Berlin. 348 p.

- Schaefer M (1954) Some aspects of the dynamics of populations important to the managemetn of commercial marine fisheries. Bulletin of the International Americal Tropical Tuna Commission 1(2): 26-56.
- Schopka SA, Solmundsson J, Ragnarsson SA and Thorsteinsson V (2010) Using tagging experiments to evaluate the potential of closed areas in protecting migratory Atlanitc cod. ICES Journal of Marine Science 67(5): 1024-1035.
- Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2004) Technical advice on the establishment and management of a national system of marine and coastal protected areas. CBD Technical Series no. 13: 41.
- SERNAPESCA (2005) Informe sectorial pesquero artesanal. Servicio Nacional de Pesca, Departamento de Pesca Artesanal, Valparaiso, Chile. 14 p.
- Shannon D (2002) The future of municipal fisheries in the Philippines: does the Philippine Fisheries Code do enough? . Pacific Rim Law and Policy Journal 11(3): 717-743.
- Shannon LJ, Christensen V and Walters C (2004) Modelling stock dynamics in the Southern Benguella ecosystem for the period 1978-2002. African Journal of Marine Science 26: 179-196.
- Shannon LJ, Neira S and Taylor M (2008) Comparing internal and external drivers in the southern Benguela and the southern and northern Humboldt upwelling ecosystems. African Journal of Marine Science 30(1): 63-84.
- Sherman K and Hempel G, editors (2008) The UNEP Large Marine Ecosystem Report: A perspective on changing conditions in LMEs of the world's Regional Seas. UNEP Regional Seas Report and Studies 182. UNEP, Nairobi, Kenya. 872 p.
- Shiganova TA (1998) Invasion of the Black Sea by the ctenophore *Mnemiopsis leidyi* and recent changes in pelagic community structure. Fisheries Oceanography 7(3-4): 305-310.
- Shiganova TA and Bulgakova YV (2000) Effects of gelatinous plankton on Black Sea and Sea of Azov fish and their food resources. ICES Journal of Marine Science 57: 641-648.
- Shusterich KM (1984) Marine resource development in Belize. Marine Policy 8(4): 369-372.
- Sibert J, Hampton J, Kleiber P and Maunder M (2006) Biomass, size, and trophic status of top predators in the Pacific Ocean. Science 314: 1773-1776.
- Sifry ML (2011) WikiLeaks and the Age of Transparency. BookMobile, USA.
- Son DM, Thi DV and Bao HND (2005) Some information on low value and trash fish in Vietnam. *In* Collected papers of the APFIC regional workshop "low value and trash fish in the Asia-Pacific region". Asia Pacific Fishery Commission, Hanoi, Vietnam.
- SONAPESCA (2008) Annual Report 2007. SONAPESCA, Santiago, Chile. 122 p.
- Spalding MD, Fish L and Wood LJ (2008) Toward representative protection of the world's coasts and oceans progress, gaps, and opportunities. Conservation Letters 1(5): 217-226.
- Spiridonov VA and Nikolaeva NG (2005) Fisheries in the Russian Barents Sea and the White Sea: Ecological challenges. WWF Barents Sea Ecoregion Programme, Oslo, Norway. 56 p.

- Srinivasan UT, Cheung W, Watson R and Sumaila UR (2010) Food security implications of global marine catch losses due to overfishing. Journal of Bioeconomics 12: 183-200.
- Stobutzki IC, Silvestre GT, Abu Talib A, Krongprom A, Supongpan M, Khemakorn P, Armada N and Garces LR (2006) Decline of demersal coastal fisheries resources in three developing Asian countries. Fisheries Research 78: 130-142.
- Storer JA (1967) Aspects of fisheries in the developing Philippines economy. Studies in Tropical Oceanography 5: 363-374.
- Sukhdev PC (2008) The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity. An interim report. Convention on Biological Diversity, Cambridge, UK.
- Sumaila R, Khan A and Dyck AJ (2010a) A bottom-up re-estimation of global fisheries subsidies. Journal of Bioeconomics 12(3): 201-225.
- Sumaila U, Cheung W, Dyck A, Gueye K, Huang L, Lam V, Pauly D, Srinivasan T, Swartz W, Watson R and Zeller D (2012) Benefits of rebuilding global marine fisheries outweigh costs. Plos One 7(7): 1-12.
- Sumaila UR, Khan A, Teh L, Watson R, Tyedmers P and Pauly D (2010b) Subsidies to high seas bottom trawl fleets and the sustainability of deep-sea demersal fish stocks. Marine Policy 34(3): 495-497.
- Sunderlin WD (1994) Resource decline and adaptation through time: fishers in San Miguel Bay, Philippines, 1980-1993. Ocean and Coastal Management 25: 217-232.
- Szlafsztein CF (2012) The Brazilian Amazon coastal zone management: implementation and development obstacles. Journal of Coastal Conservation 16(3): 335-343.
- Tamura T and Ohsumi S (1999) Estimation of total food consumption by cetaceans in the world's oceans., Institute of Cetacean Research, Tokyo. 16 p.
- Tamura T and Ohsumi S (2000) Regional assessments of prey consumption by marine cetaceans in the world. Paper SC/52/E6 presented to IWC Scientific Committee. 45 p.
- Tapiador DD (1978) Fisheries extension and technology generation and transfer in some Asian countries. Food and Fertilizer Technology Center Extension Bulletin 113: 10p.
- Teh L and Sumaila R (2013) Contribution of marine fisheries to worldwide employment. Fish and Fisheries 14(1): 77-88.
- Teh L, Teh L, Zeller D and Cabanban A (2009) Historical perspective of Sabah's marine fisheries. pp. 77-98 *In* Zeller D and Harper S (eds.), Fisheries catch reconstructions: Islands, Part 1. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 17(5), Vancouver.

Thompson EF (1944) The fisheries of British Honduras. Advocate Co. Printers, Bridgetown. 32 p.

- Tietze U, Haughton M and Siar SV (2006) Socio-economic indicators in integrated coastal zone and community-based fisheries management: case studies from the Caribbean. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper 491. FAO, Rome. 208 p.
- Tremblay-Boyer L, Gascuel D, Watson R, Christensen V and Pauly D (2011) Modelling the effects of fishing on the biomass of the world's oceans from 1950 to 2006. Marine Ecology-Progress Series 442: 169-U188.

- Tudela S (2000) Ecosystem effects of fishing in the Mediterranean: An analysis of the major threats of fishing gear and practices to biodiversity and marine habitats. FAO Fisheries Department, Rome. 49 p.
- TÜİK (1967-2009) Su Urunleri Anket Sonuclari- Fishery Statistics Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu, Ankara, Turkey.
- TÜİK (2010) Su Urunleri Anket Sonuclari- Fishery Statistics 2010. Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu, Ankara, Turkey.
- Tunley K (2009) State of management of South Africa's marine protected areas. WWF South Africa Report Series.2009/Marine/001.
- Ünal V, Acarli D and Gordoa A (2010) Characteristics of marine recreational fishing in the Çannakale strait (Turkey). Mediterranean Marine Science 11(2): 315-330.
- Üstündağ E (2010) Geçmişten günümüze balikçilik uygulamalari ve hamsi avciliğina etkileri. Su Ürünleri Merkez Arastirma Enstitüsü, Trabzon, Turkey. 9 p.
- Valtýsson HP (1998) Case study: Iceland and DWFs. Fisheries Centre Research Report 6(3): 47-65.
- Valtýsson HP (2001) The sea around Icelanders: Catch history and discards in Icelandic waters. pp. 52-87 *In* Zeller D, Watson R and Pauly D (eds.), Fisheries Impacts on North Atlantic Ecosystems: Catch, Effort and National/Regional Data Sets. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 9(3), Vancouver.
- Van der Elst RP, Everett B, Jiddawi N, Mwatha G, Afonso PS and Boulle D (2005) Fish, fishers and fisheries of the Western Indian Ocean: their diversity and status. A preliminary assessment. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A 363: 263-284.
- van Zwieten PAM, van Densen WLT and Thi DV (2002) Improving the usage of fisheries statistics in Vietnam for production planning, fisheries management and nature conservation. Marine Policy 23: 13-24.
- Vázquez SH, Martínez JL and Martínez MN (2004) Shrimp trawling fisheries in the Gulf of California: is the by-catch : shrimp match relationship a good indicator in the changes and impact in the ecosystem? 4th World Fisheries Congress. Available at: <u>http://www.wwf.org.mx/wwfmex/publicaciones.php?tipo=reps</u>. Captura incidental de las flotas pesqueras ribereñas del Pacífico Mexicano. Reporte técnico del Programa Golfo de California de WWF-México a la Comisión de Cooperación ambiental de América del Norte. Vancouver, Canada. 127 p.
- Veitch L, Dulvy NK, Koldewey H, Lieberman S, Pauly D, Roberts CM, Rogers AD and Baillie JEM (2012) Avoiding Empty Ocean Commitments at Rio+20. Science 336(6087): 1383-1385.
- Vibunpant S, Khongchai N, Sengeid J, Eiamsaard M and Supongpan M (2003) Model of the Coastal Fisheries Ecosystem in the Gulf of Thailand. WorldFish Centre Report.
- Villasante S (2012) Better fishery management could significantly increase economic returns, Argentina. The Beijer International Institute of Ecological Economics, Beijer Discussion Papers N^o 331, The Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences, Sweden.
- Villasante S, Cañete G, Harper S, Pauly D and Zeller D (in prep) Estimates of total fisheries removals by the Argentinean fisheries (1950-2010). Fisheries Centre Research Reports, University of British Columbia, Vancouver (Canada).

- Walters C, Christensen V and Pauly D (1997) Structuring dynamic models of exploited ecosystems from trophic mass-balance assessments. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 7: 139-172.
- Walters C, Christensen V, Walters W and Rose K (2010) Representation of multistanza life histories in Ecospace models for spatial organization of ecosystem trophic interaction patterns. Bulletin of Marine Science 86(2): 439-459.
- Walters C, Pauly D, Christensen V and Kitchell JF (2000) Representing density dependent consequences of life history strategies in aquatic ecosystems: EcoSim II. Ecosytems 3: 70-83.
- Walters CJ, Christensen V, Martell SJ and Kitchell JF (2005) Possible ecosystem impacts of applying MSY policies from single-species assessment. ICES Journal of Marine Science 62: 558-568.
- Watson R, Cheung WWL, Anticamara JA, Sumaila R, Zeller D and Pauly D (2012) Global marine yield halved as fishing intensity redoubles. Fish and Fisheries 10.1111/j.1467-2979.2012.00483.x.
- Watson R, Kitchingman A, Gelchu A and Pauly D (2004) Mapping global fisheries: sharpening our focus. Fish and Fisheries 5: 168-177.
- Watson R and Pauly D (2001) Systematic distortions in world fisheries catch trends. Nature 414(6863): 534-536.
- Weeks R, Russ GR, Alcala AC and White AT (2010) Effectiveness of marine protected areas in the Philippines for biodiversity conservation. Conservation Biology 24(2): 531-540.
- Werner F, Lough RG, Bertrand A, Guevara Carrasco R, Sole P, Csirke J and Chavez FP (2008) The northern Humboldt current system : ocean dynamics, ecosystem processes and fisheries. Progress in Oceanography 79(2-4): 95-412.

Wesley-Smith T (2007) China in Oceania : new forces in Pacific politics. Pacific Islands Policy (2).

- White AT, Aliño PM and Meneses ABT (2006) Creating and managing marine protected areas in the Philippines. 83.
- Wood LJ, Fish L, Laughren J and Pauly D (2008) Assessing progress towards global marine protection targets: shortfalls in information and action. Oryx 42(3): 340-351.
- Worm B and Myers RA (2003) Rapid worldwide depletion of predatory fish communities. Nature 423: 280-283.
- Yagi N, Takagi AP, Takada Y and Kurokura H (2010) Marine protected areas in Japan: institutional background and management framework. Marine Policy 34(6): 1300-1306.
- Yahaya J (1988) Fishery management and regulation in Peninsular Malaysia: issues and constraints. Marine Resource Economics 5: 83-98.
- Zafar A (2007) The Growing Relationship between China and Sub-Saharan Africa: Macroeconomic, Trade, Investment, and Aid Links. World Bank Research Observer 22(1): 103-130.

- Zeller D, Booth S, Davis G and Pauly D (2007) Re-estimation of small-scale fishery catches for U.S. flag-associated island areas in the western Pacific: the last 50 years. Fisheries Bulletin 105: 266-277.
- Zeller D, Booth S, Pakhomov E, Swartz W and Pauly D (2011a) Arctic fisheries catches in Russia, USA and Canada: Baselines for neglected ecosystems. Polar Biology 34(7): 955-973.
- Zeller D, Darcy M, Booth S, Lowe MK and Martell SJ (2008) What about recreational catch? Potential impact on stock assessment for Hawaii's bottomfish fisheries. Fisheries Research 91: 88-97.
- Zeller D, Graham R and Harper S (2011b) Reconstruction of total marine fisheries catches for Belize, 1950-2008. pp. 142-151 *In* Palomares MLD and Pauly D (eds.), Too Precious to Drill: the Marine Biodiversity of Belize. Fisheries Centre Research Reports 19(6), Vancouver (Canada).
- Zeller D and Pauly D, editors (2007) Reconstruction of marine fisheries catches for key countries and regions (1950-2005). Fisheries Centre Research Reports 15(2). University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC. 163 p.
- Zeller D and Rizzo Y (2007) Country disaggregation of catches of the former Soviet Union (USSR). pp. 157-163 *In* Zeller D and Pauly D (eds.), Reconstruction of marine fisheries catches by countries and regions (1950-2005). Fisheries Centre Research Reports 15(2), Vancouver.
- Zeller D, Rossing P, Harper S, Persson L, Booth S and Pauly D (2011c) The Baltic Sea: estimates of total fisheries removals 1950-2007. Fisheries Research 108: 356-363.
- Zengin M (2011) An overview of the status of amateur fisheries in Turkey: Samples of Galata Bridge, the Dardanelles, and Lake Abant. Trabzon Central Fisheries Institute, Trabzon, Turkey. 14 p.

www.seaaroundus.org

1900

SEA AROUND US PROJECT Fisheries Centre The University of British Columbia 2202 Main Mall, 3rd Floor Vancouver, B.C. V6T 1Z4

 Phone
 1-604-822-2731

 Fax
 1-604-822-8934

 e-mail
 d.zeller@fisheries.ubc.ca